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Dear Shareholders:

Over the past year, the Group’s environmental protection business particularly
in food waste treatment has maintained steady development. While actively
expanding new projects, we have significantly reduced operating costs
through technological upgrades and enhanced management practices.
due to tightened fiscal conditions across various local
governments in Mainland China, the amount of outstanding government
payments has continued to increase, posing new challenges to the growth

However,

of our environmental segment. In response, the Group will seek to
transform its business model and advance technological innovation to
identify new revenue streams, reduce reliance on government payments,
and ensure the sustainable development of its projects.

The Group’s new energy anode materials business is operated through its
subsidiary, Shenzhen Huamingsheng. Due to market fluctuations and the
rising costs of production factors such as factory rent, labor, and electricity
in Shenzhen, and in light of a cooperation agreement reached between
Huamingsheng and the Deyang Economic and Technological Development
Zone in Sichuan Province, the Group decided in June 2024 to cease
operations at the Shenzhen facility and relocate to Deyang. By December
2024, the major equipment from the Shenzhen plant had been
successfully relocated, and a new project company was registered in
Deyang at the end of the same month. Equipment installation and
commissioning are expected to complete by the end of July 2025, with
production anticipated to commence in the fourth quarter of 2025.

EAIPE
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Huamingsheng also holds a 30% equity interest in Xi'an Hantang
Mingsheng, which in turn has a subsidiary in Alxa, Inner Mongolia. Due to
geographical factors, the delivery,
installation, and commissioning of equipment at this site have been
delayed compared to the original schedule. As at the date of this report,
commissioning of processes and product sample performance verification
for ten primary production lines remain incomplete. The facility is expected
to commence production its
investment partners are carefully evaluating the current market conditions
to finalize the production capacity deployment plan. Once operational,
Hantang Mingsheng is expected to further strengthen the Group’s position
in the anode materials industry and establish a stable supply of key raw
materials.

constraints and other external

in October 2025. Huamingsheng and

In addition, Huamingsheng holds a 30% stake in a joint venture in
Zaozhuang, Shandong Province. This project completed construction,
installation, and commissioning in March 2025 and officially commenced
production in April 2025. The Group believes that, despite the continuous
emergence of new entrants and potential declines in material costs, the
global demand for clean and energy-efficient technologies remains strong.
We remain confident in the long-term prospects of the anode materials
market.
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The Group’s foundation and construction business also maintained stable
development over the past year. However, due to the cyclical nature of the
construction industry in Hong Kong and rising costs of materials and
labor, profit growth has been limited.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to
all our employees for their dedication, hard work, and valuable
contributions. We also extend our heartfelt appreciation to our business
partners and shareholders for their continued support. The Group remains
confident and optimistic about its future prospects and is committed to
achieving significant milestones in the years ahead.

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of foundation works, civil
engineering contractual service and general building works in Hong Kong
(the “Construction Business”); and (ii) environmental protection projects
including harmless waste treatments covering construction and operation
of kitchen waste treatment, diseased livestock and poultry related
business, development and management of environmental protection
industrial park and new energy materials in Mainland China and Hong
Kong (the “Environmental Protection Business”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

| Construction Business
During the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year” or “FY2025"),
revenue generated from construction segment was approximately
HK$832.1 million, representing an increase of 62.7% from
approximately HK$511.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2024"). The increase was mainly attributable to the increase of
the number of sizable projects undertaken by the Group during the
Year.

The overall gross profit margin of the construction business is
around 4%, which is consistent with last year (FY2024: 4%).

Revenue from this segment is generated from both public and
private sector projects with approximately 88.9% of the segment
revenue contributed by the foundation projects in public sectors. Out
of the total segment revenue of HK$832.1 million, the key
contributors was foundation project in Mei Tung Estate contributing
approximately HK$325.2 million during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE wm koA

The Group has completed a total of 4 projects in FY2025 (FY2024:
7 projects) and secured 7 new projects (FY2024: 7 new projects)
during the Year with aggregated contract value of approximately
HK$1,411.6 million (FY2024: approximately HK$313.8 million). All
new projects secured during the Year had commenced construction.
As at 31 March 2025, 8 projects were in progress (FY2024: 5
projects in progress). Details of the completed projects and the
projects in progress are set out as follows:

Completed projects

20250 F B - AEE & KT K4 1E B
(2024 BUFE - 7B B) » TN AN F E H
18718 ¥ 18 B (20248f B & £ : 718 % &
B) & # # 5 4% 51,411,600,000% 7T
(202481 Bk F £ + #9313,800,0005% 7T) ° Ff
ERAFERSEHFERE 2B I - 7K2025
F3A31AB8EAEREIBE 2024 BEE
SEERER) EXNEEREEZEEN
HEHIMT

ZERIEH

Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
IEB & Hh Bh L] ITEEEHH
1 Mei Tung Estate Project Mei Tung Estate (Older Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, Site
Part),180 Tung Tau Formation, ELS and Pile Cap
Tsuen Road, Kowloon Works
City
EHRBIA A REVN R PR 381805k £ R 3 £ B MR E  BREEAEX
B(REE) HEARMEE TR T
2 Hospital Road Project 7 Hospital Road Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, Site
Formation and Pile Cap Works
BlxBEA BEbaE7wm I £ BB BT R KLEETIRE
i
3 Shek Li Street Project Shek Li Street Foundation Construction of ELS and Pile Cap
Works
ARIE A AR Hh ZTHRREEZERBIEIREEL
Kwun Tong Action Area Kwun Tong Foundation Construction of Mini-piles
Project
BiETERIE A B i & B e T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

G BESEY

Projects in Progress Z#ZIEH
Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
IEEHZM i B i IREEHEH
1 Ngau Tau Kok Project No.45-79 Ting Fu Street, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile,
Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon Excavation, Lateral Supports and
Pile Cap Works
4B MAIE A NBEF R A E & 545-79 Hh B G 290 QB EARIEE
i Tl T
*2 Wang Cheong Project Wang Cheong Factory Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, ELS
Estate, Cheung Sha and Pile Cap Works
Wan
ZEMER EVERETIRAE B HELE 21 R A R R
1§ LT
*3 Fanling North Project Fanling North Development Foundation Mini-Pile Works
Area, Phase 1
HeElbmIa g Mt RER—H b MAE IR
*4 Tung Chung Project Tung Chung Area 119, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, ELS
Islands District and Pile Cap Works
ROBIE A BEEERBEI9R Hh H BILE BREEAEEARE
1§ LT
*5 Package 7 Project Walkways located in Foundation Construction of Mini-piles
Central and Western
District, Kowloon City,
Kwai Tsing, Kwun Tong,
Wong Tai Sin, Sai Kung,
Southern District, and
Yau Tsim Mong
FtEEAE G PR - LB - % i E ME T
5 BE A&
B MR RERNTT
A&
*6 Wan Chai mini-pile Wan Chai Development Foundation Mini-Pile Works
Project Phase |l
A A B IE B B ERAEE B Hh B B ¥ LA
*7 Wan Chai sheet-pile Wan Chai Development Foundation Sheet Pile Works
Project Phase Il
EBiFREEER B EREE £ &2
*8 Sheung Shui Project Ching Hiu Road, Sheung Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, SHP,
Shui ELS and Pile Cap Works
EkIAER EXRIB B H LR - SHP - iZHE K 38 S E PA

*

Project newly secured by the Group during the Year.

KB Ti2 e T

SERAFEMBELNIAL -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE wm koA

Environmental Protection Business
The Environmental Protection Business involves:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

For the VYear,
Protection Business decreased by approximately
approximately HK$97.1

kitchen waste treatment related business including harmless
waste treatments covering construction and operation of
kitchen waste treatment, diseased livestock and poultry related
business;

development and management of environmental protection
industrial park; and

new energy materials.
revenue from the Environmental

17.0% to
million (FY2024: approximately HK$117.0

the Group's

million). Discussion and analysis on the business performances are

set out below.

Kitchen waste treatment related business

Revenue generated from kitchen waste treatment related
business comprises (i) construction revenue from Build-Operate-
Transfer (“BOT") projects under construction; (ii) income from
operating plants including government subsidy for kitchen
waste treatment and sale of by-products including used-cooking
oil produced during the process of kitchen waste treatment;
and (iii) provision of food waste collection service.

During the Year, revenue generated from kitchen waste
treatment amounted to approximately HK$94.0 million
(FY2024: approximately HK$74.3 million). This growth was
primarily driven by the launch of Hong Kong's food waste
collection business in April 2024.

RRER
BREBS R

0)

(ii)

(iii)

EENRREEAEEYL BEER
MESCEE(BEREERREEN
WIREIE  RRESHEBER)

MEREERRIEXE: &

#7 8RR -

RAFE AEERBRREBHRAR
1 #917.0% Z 4997,100,00058 7T (202484 X
& Z ¢ 49117,000,000% 7T) » E K IE W
kMR T e

EEW R
EEnRREREESEENRA
BENREEERE — &% — B
Z([BOTIEE MEEW A ()&
LEEBFBERNRA (BREEEER
W) BAT 78 B DA N B BT B R R 3 A
BhMELREREERERARN
SHEEER): IR & B hr R R BR
7‘}’% °

RAEE EFNREEELDHW
A B #794,000,0005% 7T (202484 B £
€ : #974,300,0007 7T) ° Z K& T
EXBHBN2024F 4 HE TR
W R pTieE) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Set out below are the developments of each of the kitchen

waste plants of the Group during the Year:

(1)

(1)

Hefei Plant

Hefei Feifan Bio Technology Co., Ltd.* (&REIEREWE
B & B A 7)) (“Hefei Plant”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. It is operated under the BOT
model with a planned capacity of 200 tons per day.

The capacity of Hefei Plant was around 200 tons per day
in March 2025.

For FY2025, the Group generated revenue from Hefei
Plant of approximately HK$40.9 million (FY2024:
HK$39.8 million).

Xuancheng Plant

Xuancheng Xichong Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* (E
W PR AR AR A R]) (“Xuancheng Plant”) is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The total
planned capacity of Xuancheng Plant is 300 tons per day
upon completion of its construction which will be
carried out in 2 phases. The service concession
agreement was entered with Xuancheng Urban
Management and Law Enforcement* (& 3 3 1 & 12
4R A #HA D) for a period of 30 years under BOT model
in August 2021.

Construction of Phase 1 of Xuancheng Plant was
principally completed and is in operation.

In 2023, Xuancheng Plant was granted for
commencement for trial commercial operation.

The treatment volume of Xuancheng Plant gradually
increased to 130 tons per day in FY2025.

For FY2025, the Group generated revenue from
Xuancheng Plant of approximately HK$27.6 million
(FY2024: HK$26.0 million).

ERENHRAN

TXHEIIAEEEEEFFABR
REFWER

(1)

(i)

A HEE F
AIEELEDRIE AR DA
([BEBEE]) BAEEZ2EN
BAF - HUABOTHE R KL -
FrEIEEE AT R200M -

M2025%3H AEBEENRE
HEH RTKR2000E o

R20250MEE - AEHE
FETE B E 4 U8 A #940,900,000
HEIL (202480 B F & ¢
39,800,000/ 7T ) °

EHIEE
ERTEAEMEEBERA
AEHIEE ] AREENSE
EMBAR - EMEIE 5
WIBEMBHEEREEATX
300ME - #52 BBFE © 702021
F8H  ABOTHERA EE M
MERREINERR LIFITL
LR - BEAI30EF -

SHER 1M TREAREMN
Wi B -

202346 SR IEE BERFA
AEEET

EWIEB WRIES 20258
FEZEH EAEERI130M
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE wm koA

(1if)

(iv)

(v)

Dunhua Plant

Jilin Yisheng Environmental Protection Technology Co.
Lid* (EME B BRREMBR A A (formerly known
as “Jilin Wanding Yisheng Environmental Protection
Technology Co., Ltid* (EMEERBEARREEERA
A)") (“Dunhua Plant”), is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.

In June 2022, Dunhua Plant was granted an exclusive
concession right (BOT model) by Dunhua Municipal People’s
Government to operate a kitchen waste plant with capacity
of 200 tons per day for a term of 30 years. Currently, the
Dunhua Plant remains suspended due to municipal
government’s incomplete land acquisition process and
therefore Dunhua Plant has not commenced any business or
construction as at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this report.

Guoyang Plant

Yisheng (Guoyang) Environmental Protection Technology
Co. Ltd* (EFACRB)RERMAR AR) (“"Guoyang
Plant”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The
planned capacity of Guoyang Plant is 126 tons per day,
and the relevant operation concession period of the
project is 25 years. The service concession agreement for
Guoyang Plant was entered in March 2022.

In 2023, Guoyang Plant entered into the agreement with
relevant Municipal Ministry of Natural Resources and
obtained the land use right for construction site. As at
31 March 2025, and up to the date of this report,
Guoyang Plant is currently in the construction phase but
has not commenced any business.

Hanzhong Plant

Hanzhong Yisheng Biological Technology Co. Ltd* (£
MESEWRIE AR AR ("Hanzhong Plant”) is an
80%-owned subsidiary of the Group and the other 20%
shareholder is Hanzhong Urban Construction Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* (ZEFR MMM ERIREREZE AR
A A]) ("Hanzhong USID”). Since the establishment of
Hanzhong Plant, the Group has been negotiating with the
municipal government of Hanzhong on service concession
arrangement and site selection.

(i)

(iv)

(v)

2ILE B

EMEEARRXMBRAA]
(FRRIEMEERENRR
MEERAADIHLIE
Bl RAKEZEWMBAR -

72022967 - L EB B
It ARBEE T RBRIFTE
(BOTHER) &K —EAREE
A & R2000E /9 & R 17 % 18
B BH30F - Bal AR ™
BT L U B8 38 S R SEAK - X
{LIBEIHEE - Bt - 72025
FIANBREEZEAHREH
H - ZLIB B MARFBREME

78 5 E 5
BEACABREREMAERA
A(ABEE ] AARSKEMNE
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(vi)

2025 FH AEKEEER)ERAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2023, it came to the attention of the Group that a
district level Urban Management and Law Enforcement
("UMALE") under the Hanzhong municipal government,
unilaterally signed the concession arrangement with
other enterprise for processing the kitchen waste for
that particular district.

As of the date of this announcement, no consensus has
been reached among the Hanzhong bureaus including
the city level National Development and Reform
Commission, Hanzhong USID, UMALE, etc. regarding the
above matter.

During the Year, Hanzhong Plant is currently in
communication and negotiation with Hanzhong USID
regarding the development of a new-model food waste
treatment projects.

As at 31 March 2025, and up to the date of this report,
Hanzhong Plant has yet to commence any business or
construction.

Hancheng Plant

Hancheng Plant Hancheng Jiemu Environmental
Technology Co. Ltd* (B ZMWRRBFLBREE L F)
(“Hancheng Plant”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, and was granted an exclusive concession right by
Hancheng Federation of Supply and Marketing
Cooperatives* (“Hancheng FSMC") (¥ ¥ 1 {f $5 & 1E B
& 11) in May 2018 for operating a kitchen waste plant
with capacity of 20,000 tons per annum for a term of
30 years.

(vi)

ERENHRAN

R2023F F AEBEREFRN
BB TEENRTERLZE
TERER(HRER]) EFE
B ERIFTEEER
BB ZENERNE -

BERRMAS ZPHER
R ERRERBERERE
BBPY i R Bt b st IR A — B
BR

FAR-EFHEBEBAERZES
YAt 3T B S R 3 B P OR B
FY 3 R SR M

H £2025F3A31E N EE AR
WEBH ZEPEERAAR
EREBHIER

ZHIE

BHRBRAMEBRELA
AI([8WIEE ) ATEENE
BB R A WHR20184F5A4
TR A ER A AL ([88
WARSEA ) R T B REFEE
EoRE—AREEATTF
20,000 M) & BRI IBE - A
HA30%F -

13



14 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE wm koA

As disclosed in the 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
annual reports, certain design deficiencies were found in
respect of the waste-water system of Hancheng Plant
which have not been clearly illustrated in the
environmental assessment report where such deficiencies
may result in the malfunction of Hancheng Plant's
operation as well as imposition of penalty for output of
polluted water. In 2020, the Group received several
reminders from Hancheng FSMC urging for resumption
of construction of Hancheng Plant; on the other hand,
the Hancheng Municipal Ministry of Natural Resources
also issued an administrative penalty notice alleging
Hancheng Plant for occupying certain collective land.
According to such notice, the ministry’s penalties
included: (i) returning such occupied collective land; (ii)
confiscate any building and facilities on such occupied
collective land; and (iii) payment of penalty of
approximately RMB260,000. As such, the entire
construction of Hancheng Plant has been pending since
FY2020 until the above matters are resolved. The Group
has put forward to Hancheng FSMC for the
modification of the Hancheng Plant design and possible
solutions to the above-mentioned land issue but no
agreement was reached and therefore the construction
of Hancheng Plant was pending.

Subsequently, the Group and Hancheng FSMC reached an
understanding and proposed, among others, to terminate
the development of Hancheng Plant. In 2022, Hancheng
FSMC submitted the relevant documentations of
Hancheng Plant to the Audit Bureau, and the Group and
Hancheng FSMC shall negotiate and reach a clearance
arrangement once such audit is completed. As at 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this report, such audit
is yet to be completed.

On top of attempting to negotiate with Hancheng FSMC
and Hancheng Municipal Government, in 2024, the
Group also put forward such matter to The Standing
Committee of the Shaanxi Provincial People’s Congress
and Shaanxi Provincial People’s Government with an aim
to resolving the matter the soonest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, impairment loss
of approximately HK$1,952,000 and HK$1,946,000,
respective, (approximately RMB1,797,000 and
RMB1,797,000, respectively) was recognised in relation to
the prepayment of Hancheng Plant project costs having
considered the long-negotiation processing time with
Hancheng authorities.

In around May and June 2024, it came to the attention
to the Group that Hancheng Urban Construction
Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (883 ™ o B % & 3%
EBRMABMRAE]) was awarded a service concession
arrangement in relation to domestic waste incineration
and power generation in an industrial park zone to
another enterprise, pursuant to which certain kitchen
waste treatment related activities under such newly
awarded service concession arrangement are overlapping
to those activities as set out in Hancheng Plant’s
exclusive concession right entered among Hancheng
FSMC and Hancheng Plant in May 2018, and therefore
may infringe the exclusivity. During the Year, Hancheng
Plant sent a legal letter to Hancheng FSMC and urged
to resolve the existing situation.

During the Year, the Hancheng Municipal Government
has agreed to properly resolve historical issues in
accordance with relevant policies, laws, regulations, and
procedures to advance project implementation. The
project will undergo adjustments and rectifications as
follows: the Group will undertake fully commercialized
construction and operation, with a 35-year operation
period approved for the project. The Group shall assume
full responsibility for profits and losses, and the
government will not cover any costs associated with
food waste treatment. Furthermore, land use rights for
project construction shall be obtained on the originally
planned site basis, along with completing relevant
environmental impact assessment and other approval
procedures.

As at 31 March 2025, and up to the date of this report,
Hancheng Plant has yet to commence any business or
construction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(vii)

(viii)

Food waste collection in Hong Kong

The Group entered into a food waste collection and
related services consulting agreement for a term of
three (3) years commencing on 26 April 2024 with
Hong Kong Glass Resources Limited (the “HK Glass
Resources”), pursuant to which the Group shall provide
professional services and advice to HK Glass Resources
on matters in relation to, among others, the
maintenance, the adequacy and standard of the food
waste collections and equipment and the qualifications
and training of the healthcare professionals. During the
Year, the Group generated revenue of approximately
HK$22.2 million (FY2024: nil) from providing such
service.

Diseased livestock and poultry treatment related
business

In February 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with independent third parties
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Shanxi Tianhe Bio-Technology Co., Ltd* (ILFg
RKMEMEEBRAF) (“Shanxi Tianhe”) from such
independent third parties at a consideration of
RMB500,000. No announcement was made as the
applicable percentage ratios under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the transaction contemplated
did not exceed 5%.

Shanxi Tianhe will be engaged in the business of
harmless treatment for dead animals within Shanxi
province. The formal registration of transfer was
completed in May 2024. The harmless treatment plant
covers an area of 25 acres and is responsible for the
harmless disposal of diseased and dead livestock and
poultry within the jurisdiction of Huozhou City. It has a
daily processing capacity of 10 tons and an annual
processing capacity of 3,200 tons, with an organic
fertilizer production capacity of 60,000 tons. Currently,
it is awaiting land acquisition by Huozhou municipal
government. Once the land is delivered under the
required conditions, construction will commence. As at
31 March 2025, and up to the date of this report,
Shanxi Tianhe is yet to commence construction or
business.

(vii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Development and management of environmental
protection industrial park

1

Yixing Plant

Yisheng (Yixing) Environmental Technology Limited* (&
S(EE)BRBERMABRRA A ("Yixing Plant”) is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group for investment in
a production and research and development base project
of multiple effect membraned Distillation (V-MEMD)
technology in Yixing, Jiangsu province.

In 2024, Yixing Plant obtained formal construction
permit to commence the construction. In February 2024,
Yixing Plant entered into a syndicated loan agreement
for a facility amount of RMB100 million and final
maturity date will be 96 months after the date of the
agreement. As at 31 March 2025, Yixing Plant drew
approximately RMB88 million from this facility.

Yixing Plant will be primarily constructed for rental
purposes and therefore the land use right was classified
as investment properties at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024. It was expected that the construction of
investment properties will be completed by July 2025.
As at 31 March 2025, the stage of completion is
around 80%. Such investment properties are located at
West Honggao Road, North Xingbang Road intersection,
Gaocheng Town, Yixing, Jiangsu, the PRC. These properties
comprise a construction site with site area of
approximately 35,235.00 sg.m.. Upon completion, these
properties will be developed into an industrial complex
mainly including workshop and office with planned
gross floor area of approximately 34,333 sg.m.. The
land use right of the property is held for industrial use
expiring on 23 November 2072. Details of the
investment properties are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE wm koA

Xi‘an Plant

The Group entered into a joint venture agreement in
November 2021, pursuant to which the Group and
other 2 investors agreed to establish Yisheng Zhihui
Technology Industrial Development (Xi‘an) Limited* (&
ARERBREEXEZR(E R AR QA (“Yisheng
Zhihui”), with a registered capital of US$10.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$77.90 million) which
shall be contributed by the parties in cash. Upon
establishment of Yisheng Zhihui, it will be owned as to
62.5% by the Group.

The principal activities of Yisheng Zhihui include sales,
manufacturing and research and development of
environmental protection equipment, and park
management services. To carry out the aforesaid
business purpose, it is intended that Yisheng Zhihui shall
participate in the bidding of a land parcel located in the
Xi‘an National Hi-tech Industries Development Zone, of
Xi‘an, Shaanxi, the PRC (“the Land Parcel”).

As at 31 March 2025, Yisheng Zhihui had yet to
procure the Land Parcel and the Group did not make
any capital contribution to Yisheng Zhihui.

During the Year, the shareholders of Yisheng Zhihui
resolved to carry out a voluntary liquidation and such
liquidation was completed in September 2024. The
applicable percentage ratios defined under rule 14.04(9)
of the Listing Rules in respect of Yisheng Zhihui are less
than 5%. Such liquidation did not have any material
impact to the Group, and upon completion of
liquidation of Yisheng Zhihui, the Group’s obligations
under the joint venture agreement were discharged
entirely.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

3. New energy materials

(1)

Shenzhen Huamingsheng — 51% owned subsidiary

The Group entered into a joint venture agreement in
relation to the formation of Shenzhen Huamingsheng
Technology Limited* (& JII T # BB B & L A R 2 7))
(“Shenzhen Huamingsheng”) with Shanghai Bakusi
Superconducting New Materials Co., Ltd* (/B EH#B
BHMEBR AR (“Shanghai Bakusi”) in November
2022. The principal activity of Shenzhen Huamingsheng
includes production of graphite-based related anode
materials. Both parties agreed to establish Shenzhen
Huamingsheng with a registered capital of RMB68.6
million. Upon establishment of Shenzhen Huamingsheng,
it will be owned as to 51% and 49% by the Group and
Shanghai Bakusi, respectively; Shenzhen Huamingsheng
will be a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, Shenzhen
Huamingsheng should have a registered capital of
RMB68.6 million to be contributed by the parties in
cash,
approximately RMB35.0 million in cash and Shanghai
Bakusi contributed its capital through injection of its
patented technologies.

among which the Group contributed

Shenzhen Huamingsheng has a planned annual

production capacity of 2,000 tons.

Shenzhen Huamingsheng started its trial production in
June 2023. For the FY2025, the revenue recorded
approximately HK$3.08 million (FY2024: approximately
HK$42.6 million) during the Year. Due to the
suspension of production at the Shenzhen facility in
June 2024 and the subsequent relocation of the
production line to Deyang City, Sichuan Province, the
PRC at the end of December 2024, revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2025 was lower than the previous
year. As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report, owing to the required technical upgrades,
transformation of production lines, and installation of
supporting facilities, additional time is needed to
complete the works. The Group anticipates that the
plant will resume production in October 2025.
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(ir)

Hantang Mingsheng — 30% associate

In July 2023, Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Shanxi
Hantang Senyuan Development Group Co., Ltd.* (BRFg
EERREEXEEZREEERE ML A AF) ("Hantang
Senyuan”) entered into a joint venture agreement
pursuant to which Shenzhen Huamingsheng and
Hantang Senyuan agreed to establish a joint venture
company with a registered capital of RMB350.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$381.3 million), among
which Hantang Senyuan contributed RMB245.0 million in
cash and Shenzhen Huamingsheng contributed
RMB105.0 million its capital through injection of its
patented technologies. Such joint venture company,
Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng Technology Co., Ltd.* (FA%
EEHABREREBR DA (“Hantang Mingsheng”), is
owned as to 30% and 70% by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng and Hantang Senyuan, respectively,
details of which are set out in the Company’'s
announcement dated 11 July 2023.

Pursuant to such joint venture agreement, Shenzhen
Huamingsheng should make its capital contribution to
Hantang Mingsheng of RMB105.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$114.4 million), either in cash or by
transfer of the patented technologies, to Hantang
Mingsheng at its sole discretion. In March 2024,
Shenzhen Huamingsheng determined to make its capital
contribution by way of the patented technologies into
Hantang Mingsheng. Such injection of patented
technologies was completed and the registered capital of
Hantang Mingsheng was contributed in full as of 31
March 2024, and details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2024.

The Group accounted for Hantang Mingsheng as an
associate using equity-method accounting.

For the FY2025, the Group’s share of loss from Hantang
Mingsheng amounted to HK$3.6 million (FY2024: share
of loss HK$0.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

30% equity interest in Zaozhuang High Energy New
Materials Co., Ltd.

In August 2024, Shenzhen Huamingsheng, Shanghai
Bakusi and Zaozhuang High Energy New Materials Co.,
Ltd.* (EH =T MBI AR AR (“Zaozhuang High
Energy Materials”) entered into an acquisition
agreement pursuant to which Shenzhen Huamingsheng
acquired 30% equity interest in Zaozhuang High Energy
New Materials from Shanghai Bakusi at a consideration
of RMBI1
obligation to contribute Zaozhuang High Energy
Materials capital of RMB2.0 million in cash and RMB6.0
million through provision of technology management
(the “Non-cash Contribution”). Such acquisition was

million and inherited Shanghai Bakusi’s

completed in September 2024. Zaozhuang High Energy
Materials is owned as to 30% by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng and the Group accounted for Zaozhuang
High Energy Materials as an associate. Zaozhuang High
Energy Materials is a limited company established in the
PRC in January 2024, and is principally engaged in the
production of new energy materials including graphite-
based related anode materials, carbon and alloy
materials in Zaozhuang, Shandong province, the PRC.
The projected annual production capacity for the first
phase of the plan is 1,000 tons.

In November 2024, Shenzhen Huamingsheng had
injected RMB2.0 million in cash as a shareholder’s
capital to the Zaozhuang High Energy Materials.

On 23 May 2025, Shenzhen Huamingsheng, Shandong
Kangzhen Bio-technology Co., Ltd* (111 5 5 5 4 ¥ 5 i
A B A 7l), Zaozhuang Shenglin Investment and
Development Co., Ltd* (REFRMKEREER A F)
and Zaozhuang High Energy Materials entered into a
Supplemental Agreement for the purpose of amending
the contribution method of the Non-cash Contribution.

(i)
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Regarding Shenzhen Huamingsheng's obligation to make
the Non-cash Contribution valued at RMB6 million to
Zaozhuang High Energy Materials (representing 20%
equity interest owned by Shenzhen Huamingsheng in the
Zaozhuang High Energy Materials), it is agreed that
Shenzhen Huamingsheng will fulfil such obligation by
transferring the four patents (the “Patents”) to
Zaozhuang High Energy Materials within 30 business
days from the date of the Supplemental Agreement.
Additionally, Shenzhen Huamingsheng’s original
obligation to provide technology management to
Zaozhuang High Energy Materials under the Acquisition
Agreement shall be retained.

In addition, the above parties agreed that in the event
Zaozhuang High Energy Materials undergoes liquidation,
the Patents in relation to Huamingsheng’'s 20% equity
interest shall belong to Huamingsheng and will not be
included in the distribution of liquidation assets. The
remaining liquidation assets of Zaozhuang High Energy
Materials will be distributed among its shareholders in
proportion to their actual monetary contributions. The
registration for Patents transferred to Zaozhuang High
Energy Materials have been completed, in July 2025. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 29 August 2024 and 23 May 2025.

For FY2025, the Group's shared of loss from Zaozhuang
High Energy Materials amounted to HK$0.5 million
(FY2024: Nil).
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(iv)  100% equity interest in Sichuan Huamingsheng

On December 31, 2024, the Group has established an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Luojiang District,
Deyang City, Sichuan Province, the PRC named Sichuan
Huamingsheng Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Sichuan
Huamingsheng”). Sichuan Huamingsheng’s primary
business activities include research and development of
emerging energy technologies and new materials,
technical services, promotion of new material
technologies, as well as the sales of graphite and
carbon products. As at 31 March 2025, and up to the
date of this report, Sichuan Huaminsheng has not
commenced any business or construction.

Other on-going matters

1.

Clear Industry

References are made to the 2020, 2021 2022, 2023 and
2024 annual reports in respect of the Group’s prior acquisition
of 51% equity interests in Clear Industry in November 2016
and subsequent return of the same equity interests pursuant
to the settlement agreement dated 28 May 2020.

Pursuant to such settlement agreement, the parties agreed to
resolve the dispute by, among others, the Group to return all
its equity interests in Clear Industry as acquired in the prior
acquisition to Qinggin
("Qingqin”), while Qinggin shall return to the Group RMB36
million, being all cash consideration already paid by the Group
(the “Cash Refund”), in 5 installments, and dispose
18,982,992 Company’s shares (the “Consideration Shares”)
(being the consideration shares issued by the Company to

International Group Limited

Qinggin as part of consideration of the prior acquisition) and
return the proceeds to the Group by 28 November 2021 (as
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 7 May
2021). In 2023, total outstanding Cash Refund was fully
received, and the Group was in the process of recovering
penalty charges and legal costs of approximately RMB898,000
from the guarantor to the said settlement agreement. In
2023, the People Court ruled in favor of the Group and
judged the guarantor should pay the Group penalty charges of
approximately RMB140,000, which was received by the Group.
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In November 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party (the “Agent”), pursuant to which
the Consideration Shares to be deposited into a securities
account maintained by the Agent. The Agent will, within 12
months from the date of the appointment (or other dates as
agreed by both parties), to dispose the Consideration Shares
to any transferee(s) who is not the Group or any of their
respective connected persons, and arrange the relevant
proceeds to the bank account designated by the Group,
details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 23 November 2023.

In December 2024, the Group and the Agent entered into a
supplemental agent agreement, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to extend the disposal period for further 12 months to
22 November 2025 after considering the market conditions as
well as the share prices of the Company for the past 12
months. For details, please refer to the Company's
announcement 2 December 2024.

The Consideration Shares are yet to be disposed of as at the
date of this report as the Company aims to proceed with the
disposal when the market price of the Company’s share
reaches an optimal level. The Company shall further negotiate
with the Agent with regard to the disposal period if
necessary, and is of the view that such postponement does
not have material adverse impact and is in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the carrying values
of the Consideration Shares were recorded under
prepayments, deposits and other receivables.

As at 31 March 2024, an other receivable of HK$4.5 million
was recognised in relation to the Consideration Shares, this
amount was determined based on the Consideration Shares at
share price of HK$0.236 per share. Subsequently, due to a
decline in the Company's share price to HK$0.038 per share
at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amount of this receivable
was reassessed at HK$0.7 million. As this recoverable amount
was lower than the carrying amount of HK$4.5 million, an
impairment loss of HK$3.8 million was recognised in FY2025
(FY2024: Nil).

Other than the Consideration Shares yet to be disposed, the
on-going matter in respect of Clear Industry shall be
considered as closed.
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Vimab Holding AB (”“Vimab”)

References are made to the 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
annual reports in respect of, among others, the prior acquisition of
entire equity interests in Vimab in May 2018, the locked-up
arrangement of the 19,488,428 consideration shares (the “Locked-
up Shares”) (being the consideration shares issued by the
Company as part of consideration for the acquisition of Vimab) to
the vendors and the discontinuance of Vimab's operations as a
result of enforcement of pledged shares of Vimab by its creditor.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement entered in May 2018,
19,488,428 consideration shares issued by the Company to the
vendors were lock-up and should be released upon fulfilment of
certain financial benchmarks (including the audited EBITDA) by
the Vimab Group for each of the financial years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Since Vimab ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company upon
enforcement of the pledged shares as stated above, the
Company was unable to conduct audit on the Vimab Group to
ascertain the audited EBITDA for 2018 and 2019. Therefore, the
Company attempted to negotiate with the relevant parties to
the acquisition agreement to resolve the matter.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Seller A to the
acquisition agreement was in the course of liquidation process
and a bankruptcy trustee was appointed. In August 2023, the
Company was informed that such bankruptcy trustee had
entered into an agreement with Seller B to the acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which, among others, the bankruptcy
trustee transferred its interests in 9,744,214 Locked-Up Shares
under the name of Seller A to Seller B to settle the
indebtedness owed by Seller A to Seller B. Together with the
9,744,214 Locked-Up Shares originally owned by Seller B prior
to the above transfer, Seller B is the sole beneficial owner of
all 19,488,428 Locked-Up Shares issued under the acquisition
agreement. As such, as at 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this report, the Company is only in negotiation with Seller
B to the acquisition agreement to resolve the matter.
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Significant event during/after the year under review EEEERN ZENEXEIR

1.  Liquidation of Yisheng Zhihui 1. BEEAEE
For details, please refer to Xi‘an Plant relating to the development HEESHEBOBEREE S o mrEE
and management of environmental protection industrial park under EAAERERERRIER-
the section headed Business Review.

2. Finance lease arrangement 2. HEHEZH#
() On 18 July 2024, Hefei Feifan Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* ()  M2024F7H188 » AR alHE IR

(BERENEYRIFHABERAE) (the "Hefei Feifan Biological
Technology”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Lessee”) entered into the transfer agreement
with Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Ltd.* (BER4k &R E
FEBRAF]) (the "Greengold Leasing”), pursuant to which
Greengold Leasing shall purchase certain designated kitchen
waste treatment equipment and facilities (the “Leased Assets”)
from Lessee on an “as-is” basis for the purchase price of
RMB15,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”) and Greengold Leasing
shall lease back the Leased Assets to the Lessee for a lease
consideration comprising of a principal amount equivalent to
the Purchase Price and the interest accrued thereon for a lease
period of 5 years commencing from the payment date of the
As security for the due and punctual
performance of the Lessee’s obligations, both Yisheng (Tianjin)
Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.* (7t (X&) IRERITH
R 2 ®]) and Mr. Zhu Yongjun (“Mr. Zhu"), the chairman and
an executive Director of the Board provided the guarantee in
favour of Greengold Leasing. As at the date of this report, this
finance lease arrangement was terminated. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 July
2024.

Purchase Price.
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(i) On 18 March 2025, Hefei Feifan Biological Technology (the
“Lessee”), entered into the Transfer Agreement with Jiangsu
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (L& € B H E &K D AR A 7)) (the
“Jiangsu Leasing”), pursuant to which Jiangsu Leasing shall
purchase certain kitchen waste treatment equipment and
facilities of the Lessee situated in Hefei City, Anhui Province,
the PRC (the “Leased Assets”) from the Lessee for the
purchase price of RMB56,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”). On
the same date, the Lessee also entered into the Finance Lease
Agreement with Jiangsu Leasing, pursuant to which Jiangsu
Leasing shall lease back the Leased Assets to the Lessee for a
lease consideration comprising the principal amount equivalent
to the Purchase Price and the interest accrued thereon at a
rate of 6.5067% per annum for a lease period of five years.
As security for the due and punctual performance of the
Lessee’s obligations under the Finance Lease and Incidental
Documentation, certain subsidiaries of the Group, together
with Mr. Zhu, have provided guarantees in favour of Jiangsu
Leasing. The aforementioned finance lease arrangement
became effective upon receiving approval from the
shareholders by way of poll at the EGM on 23 April 2025. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
18 March 2025 and 23 April 2025 and the circular dated 31
March 2025.

The development of an urban biomass biorefining and
carbon sequestration project

On 24 June 2025, the Company and Haimen Economic and
Technological Development Zone Management Committee* (/& P9 4%
ERITFAEEEIEZ 8E) entered into an agreement, pursuant to
which (i) the Company has agreed to invest in the project relating to
the investment, development, construction and operation of food
waste (kitchen waste) disposal facility for urban biomass biorefining
and carbon sequestration (the “Project”) with an investment amount
of USD3.60 million (equivalent to approximately HK$28.35 million)
within one month after signing the agreement for the purposes of
operating and implementing the Project and establishing a project
company, which shall be a wholly-owned subsidiary for operating
and implementing the Project; and (ii) the Haimen Economic and
Technological Development Zone Committee agreed to (a) provide
infrastructure support and (b) assist the project company to
implement the Project, including, amongst other things, to obtain
the exclusive operating right and to acquire the project land and to
obtain other relevant consents, approvals, permits and/or
government subsidies. The implementation of the agreement shall be
premised on the Company’s lawful acquisition of the exclusive
operating right for the Project. For details, refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 24 June 2025.
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Outlook

Our Group fully recognizes that the environmental awareness of various
levels of government and residents in mainland China continues to rise.
The government is constantly introducing various incentive policies, aiming
to continuously improve ecological conditions and encourage industrial
development. As the country advances its “dual carbon” development
strategy, the future trends in the environmental protection industry must
not only shift from asset-based approaches to technological innovation but
also integrate green and low-carbon emission concepts. This will promote
carbon reduction, control pollution, and enhance sustainability.

Driven by these macroeconomic policies, our Group will further expand its
environmental protection business (food waste treatment) by transforming
its business model. At the same time, we will upgrade our technology in
hopes of achieving further reductions in operating costs. In alignment with
the development of the global carbon reduction market, our Group will
invest more resources in the collection and deep processing of discarded
edible oils, creating new revenue growth for the Group.

In the anode materials industry, apart from the expansion of production
capacity by major suppliers, there has been a continuous influx of
numerous new suppliers. Additionally, the decline in raw material prices
has led to intense competition in the market for anode materials.

To maintain a competitive advantage, manufacturers will strengthen their
own technologies and improve products quality. On the other hand, with
the continuous increase in environmental protection awareness, energy
efficiencies and risk factors, upcoming global demand for new energy
would continue to rise; thus, despite of facing challenges overall industry
still be a promising future.

Our Group expanded into the new energy materials sector two years ago
and has been actively deploying new energy materials through
collaboration with upstream and downstream partners as well as local
governments. The Group will carefully discuss with its partners to
determine the timing for capacity investment based on market changes.
Meanwhile, the Group’s subsidiary, Shenzhen Huamingsheng, will further
enhance its investment in product and technology research and
development, aiming to gain a competitive advantage by improving
product performance.

Construction market in Hong Kong is facing challenges due to persisting
uncertainty in the economy and property market environment. During the
Year, our construction business was inevitably affected by the slowdown
of growth in the economy in Hong Kong. We expect that the competition
in construction market remains very keen in 2025.

To ensure the sustainable development of the Group and fulfil the capital
demands during the development, the Group took the initiative to expand
its financing channels and enhanced its funding capability including but

~not limited to issue of new shares and obtaining of loans financing from

~ various domestic and international commercial banks so as to be well
prepared for the future development of our projects.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group

Net loss for FY2025 was approximately HK$89.8 million, representing a
decrease in net profit of HK$121.9 million as compared with the net profit
of HK$32.1 million for the FY2024.

Loss for the Year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$80.7 million as compared to profit attributable to
owners of approximately HK$2.9 million for the prior Year.

Comparing with FY2024, the turnaround from net profit to net loss
attributable to the owners of the Company was mainly attributable to,
among others, the following factors of: (i) absence of a one-off gain of
HK$52.9 million arising from a capital injection into an associate through
the contribution of patented technologies recorded in FY2024, which did
not recur in FY2025; and (ii) a rise in the impairment loss under expected
credit loss model of HK$33.4 million on financial and contract assets.

Basic loss per share was HK5.02 cents as compared to earnings per share
of HKO0.18 cents for the prior year.

Diluted loss per share was HK5.02 cents as compared to earnings per
share of HK0.18 cents for the prior year.

Revenue and Gross Profit

In FY2025, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$929.2 million,
representing a 47.9% increase compared to FY2024 (FY2024: HK$628.2
million). This growth was primarily driven by higher operating revenue
from the construction business and food waste collection business in Hong
Kong. However, it was partially offset by a decline in the new energy
materials business.

Despite the revenue increase, the Group’s gross profit decreased slightly by
HK$2.1 million to HK$59.0 million (FY2024: HK$61.1 million) due to the
new energy materials recorded a gross loss during the Year.

Further discussion and analysis of each business segment of the Group is
set out in the section headed “Business Review” above.
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Other Income and Gains, Net

For FY2025, other income and gains, net, declined significantly by
approximately HK$70.7 million to HK$11.0 million (FY2024: HK$81.7
million). This decrease was primarily due to: (i) absence of a one-off gain
of HK$52.9 million arising from a capital injection into an associate
through the contribution of patented technologies recorded in FY2024,
which did not recur in FY2025; (ii) decrease in change in fair value of
HK$6.4 million on the investment properties of Yixing Plant; (iii) a
substantial reduction of HK$4.5 million in government grants, specifically
investment incentives for Yixing Plant; and; (iv) no license income from
intangible assets generated during the Year. During the Year, other
income and gains, net, mainly comprised: (a) consulting service fees of
approximately HK$6.5 million; (b) government grants of HK$5.0 million
and (c) rental income from sublease of HK$1.2 million which was partially
offset by the fair value loss on investment properties of HK$0.8 million
resulting from the downturn of the office leasing market in China and
write-off of HK1.7 million on property, plant and equipment.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses rose by HK$13.8 million, reaching HK$111.0
million in FY2025 (FY2024: HK$97.2 million). The increase was primarily
driven by: (i) the increase in construction related expenses due to a rise in
sizable construction projects during the Year; (ii) write-off amount related
to a former shareholder; (iii) written off of retention receivables; and (iv)
impairment loss on Consideration Shares. These increase were partially
offset by reduction in staff costs mainly from construction business, and
fewer share option expenses recognized in the FY2025.

The main components of administrative expenses included staff costs of
HK$49.3 million, rates of HK$9.4 million,
intangible assets and depreciation of HK$8.3 million, legal and professional

rent and amortization of
fees (including audit fees) of HK$6.5 million, motor vehicle expenses of
HK$4.1
HK$4.3 million which is included in other receivables, written off of
retention receivables of HK$4.2 million and impairment
Consideration Shares of HK$3.8 million.

million, write-off amount related to a former shareholder of

loss on

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by approximately HK$0.5 million,
rising from HK$12.0 million in the previous year to HK$12.5 million in the
current year along with the increase in the Group’s overall borrowing level
compared to the corresponding last year.

HbARKEFE

R2025 M E - Hel A RS FBAET
[% #970,700,0007 7T £ 11,000,000/ 7T (202484
K4 : 81,700,000/ 70) « ZMPEBHR : (i)
FEIBR20245 B F E 815 W E R AT A B E A
AEE I M E £ — X MR %552,900,000%8 7T © M
ZBE R0 BMFEETEBALE  (VES
HBREMERNR®FEE SR 26,400,000
7T+ (i) BX AT #8 Bh K 08 R 424,500,000 7T - A8
BHABEMNEELE MWAFERNREE
BMIVEETIBA c REEAR - Habfg A Rz
FEEEZRIE () # R B 46,500,000
7T+ (b) B JiF 4 B55,000,0005% 7T M.(c)» A A 15
£ IR A 1,200,000 P AFEBRAEHE
TS K 2K M 81518 & ¥ % 2 F {E 5 18800,000/%8
TC o A REWE - BRE k& m#iEE1,700,000%
VIRIOE: =l

TBRAX

77 B B 3% 1% H013,800,0005 7T+ 7202581 B & [E
$111,000,0007% 7T, (202481 I E £ : 97,200,000
BIC) c ZEMESHUATHEEHS : (VAAXF
ERARAEEIFEILE M| BMWERBERX
0 (DBl — A BT AR AR B RO EE < FE s Gii e
WARB S RVRERMDMEEIE - 218
MErBFERBREXEBEIRAIRLD &
P2025 B FEHERERER IR DS IE
85 ©

THAIHEEEARLS>BIE: B TR A
49,300,000/ 7t « f & K Z= W : 9,400,000 7T
B E S X YT E 8,300,000 T AER
BEE(BIEZEER): 6,500,000/ T « RHEH
X 4,100,000 7T - B — B ATIR R A ME
%8 1 4,300,0007% 7T (8 7Y E fib fE W 3IE) ~ JE IR
1R B & il $54,200,0007% 7T K X B B 15 5 E &5 1B
3,800,000/ JT °

B &
BEEAEBEERBEEKTHAEEF LA K&E
B B 7% A AN B b 4 7S #912,000,0005% Tt 18 b0 49
500,000/ JT & 7N 4 [Z #912,500,000/% 7T ©



2025 % AEKEEER)ERAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of
reversal

For FY2025, the Group recognized an expected credit losses (“ECL") of
HK$35.2 million (FY2024: HK$1.8 million) (the “Impairment Loss”). This
primarily comprises HK$5.1 million for trade and retention receivables,
HK$27.7 million for loans and interest receivables, and HK$2.2 million for
other receivables. The year-on-year increase of HK$33.4 million in the ECL
This
resulted mainly from defaults on specific loans. The details of (i) Trade and

was driven substantially by provisions against loan receivables.
retention receivables; (ii) prepayment, deposits and other receivables; and
(iii) loan receivables are set out in note 24, 25 and 26, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Impairment loss on Loan Receivables

The ECL on loan receivables arose principally from repayment defaults by
two independent private companies in the PRC (the “Borrower(s)").
Defaults were attributable to (i) failure to meet scheduled repayment
obligations; and (ii) lost contact with one Borrower even repeating call for
repayment through issuing a demand letter. To recover the outstanding
amounts, the Group has initiated legal proceedings against the relevant
Borrowers. Following a court judgment and in light of an existing equity
pledge arrangement, the Group is evaluating the potential settlement of
the loan through an equity transfer. This matter remains subject to due
diligence.

Based on an assessment of collectability, ageing analysis, and forward-
looking considerations, the Group applied differentiated ECL rates to
receivables, aligned with their respective
characteristics and business nature.

distinct classes of risk

ECL Assessment

The Company engaged an independent valuer (the “Valuer”) to perform a

(the "Valuation”) of potentially defaulted or defaulted
This valuation supports the impairment assessment in

estimating the Impairment Loss. For Trade and Retention Receivables, Loan

Receivables, and Other Receivables, the Valuer adopted the probability of

default and loss given default method (the “PD Model”) to measure ECL

valuation
receivables.

allowance. Major inputs of the PD Model include (i) probability of default
("PD"); (i) loss given default (“LGD"); and (iii) exposure at default
("EAD"). The ECL rates incorporate adjustments for forward-looking
factors, accounting for anticipated changes in future economic conditions,
events, and environment. These adjustments also consider the debtor’s
historical default record, creditworthiness, existence of collateral, and
financial position.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group's trade and retention receivables carried
ECL rates ranging from 0.1% to 100% (31 March 2024: 1.0% to 100%),
depending on the assessed credit risk of the counterparties with similar
credit ratings, with adjustment to reflect current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions through the use of financial
analysis. Meanwhile, the ECL rates for the Group’s loan receivables and
other receivables as at 31 March 2025 ranged from 0.1% to 100% (31
March 2024: 2.2% to 3.8%), determined by the nature of the receivable,
the probability of default, and the loss severity associated with defaulted
positions. Due to deteriorating credit conditions during the Year, certain
debtors defaulted on repayments and/or became uncontactable. These
developments (the “Default Event(s)”) necessitated the Group initiating
legal proceedings to recover outstanding balances, representing an increase

market

compared to the prior year. Upon classification as a Default Event, certain
receivables are assigned a maximum default probability of 100% resulting
in an increase in Impairment Loss during the year.

Share of results from associates

For the FY2025, the Group’s share of loss amounted to HK$4.1 million
which was arising from Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng Technology Co., Ltd.*
(AL ZERBEREAMRAR]) (“Hantang Mingsheng”) and Zaozhuang
High Energy New Materials Co., Ltd.* (BEH S # M AR Q)
("Zaozhuang High Energy Materials”) (FY2024: loss of HK$0.1 million). As
at 31 March 2025, the Group held a 30% equity interest in both Hantang
Mingsheng and Zaozhuang High Energy Materials.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL
RESOURCES AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Liquidity, financial resources and financial position

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$115.2 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$37.3 million). The increase in bank balance and cash primarily resulted
from the growth in
throughout the Year. With steady operating cash flows, the Group is
expected to have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations

in full as they fall due in the foreseeable future.

large-scale construction projects undertaken

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total assets increased by approximately
HK$107.5 million, reaching HK$1,211.6 million, up from HK$1,104.1
million as at 31 March 2024. This growth is mainly attributed to additional
development costs incurred for investment properties located in Yixing
City, Jiangsu Province, PRC and the increase in cash and cash equivalents.
These properties are currently under development and are scheduled for
completion by July 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The net current liabilities for the Group as at 31 March 2025 were
HK$44.8 million (as at 31 March 2024 of the Group net current assets:
HK$14.0 million). The current ratio of the Group (current assets over
current liabilities) was 89.8% as at 31 March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024
of the Group: 104.2%).

As at 31 March 2025, the net asset value of the Group amounted to
HK$377.7 million (as at 31 March 2024 of the Group: HK$466.5 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total interest-bearing loans including
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings excluding bonds recorded
approximately HK$236.4 million, compared to HK$161.5 million as at
31 March 2024. The increase of HK$74.9 million was primarily attributed
to a syndicated loan of RMB100 million arranged for the Yixing Plant in
February 2024. During the Year, the Group has made a drawdown of
HK$79.1 million from this facility.

During the Year, bonds with a carrying value of approximately HK$15.8
million matured. The Company and bondholders agreed on terms for
repayment of the outstanding principal and accrued interest without a
formal settlement agreement. As no extension was arranged,
matured bonds were reclassified from bond to other payables as at 31
March 2025 (As at 31 March 2024: HK$37.8 million recorded in Bond).

these

The Group's borrowings and bank balances are principally denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”) and there may be significant
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

The Group will continue to monitor and assess its liquidity by, among
others, seeking for new financing resources and/or reasonably control the
outflow and progress of each of its projects.

Capital Structure — Increase in Authorized Share Capital

During the Year, the Company successfully increased its authorized share
capital from HK$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 Shares of
HK$0.10 each to HK$400,000,000 divided into 4,000,000,000 Shares of
HK$0.10 each by the creation of additional 2,000,000,000 new unissued
Shares. The effective date of the authorized share capital increase was
approved by shareholders via a poll at the Extraordinary General Meeting
(EGM) held on 16 August 2024.

Apart from the changes mentioned above, there were no other
movements in the Company’s authorized or issued share capital during the
Year under review.
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Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 was approximately 196.2% (as at
31 March 2024: approximately 118.4%).

The increase in gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the increase in
overall Group’s equity attributable to the shareholders during the Year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as the payables incurred not in the ordinary
course of business (excluding loan from related companies/directors/
shareholders) divided by total equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as at the respective years.

Pledge of assets
As at 31
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of approximately
HK$5,942,000 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$6,464,000) and
investment properties with carrying values of approximately
HK$163,302,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$56,413,000), pledged deposits
of HK$4,443,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$7,173,000), trade receivables
and service concession arrangements with carrying values of approximately
HK$89,023,000 (as at 31 March 2024: HK$162,338,000), as collateral to
secure the facilities granted to the Group.

March 2025, the Group pledged certain assets including

The Group also guaranteed certain facilities through the pledge of equity
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Foreign exchange exposure

Certain revenue-generating operations and assets and liabilities of the
Group are denominated in RMB and may expose the Group to the
fluctuation of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. The Group did not enter
into any hedging arrangement or derivative products. However, the Board
and management will continue to monitor the foreign currency exchange
exposure and will consider adopting certain hedging measures against the
currency risk when necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Use of proceeds from the issuance of convertible bonds and
new shares under general mandate

Date of announcement Fund raising activities Net proceeds

A BEH REED FRREFH

kki%J:uj-pFFH& $ﬁ—

BTURKRESFERERER—RRER
T # iz 15

Actual use of proceeds as at
31 March 2025
12025634318
FEREERASR

Intended use of proceeds

Fi {3 18 51 81 R 3&

13 September 2023,
5 October 2023 and
31 October 2023

Originally issue of convertible bonds with aggregate
principal of approximately HK$29.99 million, and issue
of 57,636,000 new Shares at HK$0.53 per Share. The
subscription of shares was completed on 5 October
2023. Convertible bonds were reduced to
approximately HK$20.0 million along with the
termination deed entered on 31 October 2023.
Convertible bonds with principal amount of
approximately HK$10.00 million were converted into
shares in November 2023, and remaining outstanding
balances of HK$10 million were redeemed entirely.
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Approximately HK$40.45
million

2023594138 »
20235 10A5H &
2023F10A318

#)40,450,000/8 7T

Capital raising
The Company has not conducted any equity fund raising activities during
the Year under review.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitment of
approximately HK$26.9 million (as at 31 March 2024: HK$126.0 million) in
relation to the projects of the Group under the ordinary course of
business.

Human resources management

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 439 employees, including Directors
(as at 31 March 2024: 363 employees,
costs (including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately HK$134.6
million for the Year as compared to approximately HK$134.4 million for

including Directors). Total staff

FY2024. Remuneration was determined with reference to market norms
and individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual’'s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefit, injury insurance and share options.

(i) approximately HK$30.0 million (i) Fully utilized as intended
for the development of the

graphene-based related anode

materials, and possible

construction of production

facility; and

(i

approximately HK$10.45 million
as the general working capital.

(ii) Fully utilized as intended
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Significant investments held
During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investment in
equity interest in any other company.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding performance bonds for
construction contracts amounting to approximately HK$85.6 million (as at
31 March 2024: approximately HK$44.6 million).

NO MATERIAL CHANGE

Save as disclosed in this report, during the Year, there has been no
material change in the Group’s financial position or business since the
publication of the latest annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company's issued and fully paid share capital as at 31 March 2025
amounted to HK$160.6 million divided into 1,606,132,134 ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all Directors
confirmed in writing that they have complied with the required standards
as set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As far as the information publicly available to the Company is concerned
and to the best knowledge of the Directors of the Company, at least 25%
of the Company’s issued share capital were held by members of the public
as at the date of report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the areas
leading to the success of the Company and balancing the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is devoted to
ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles
and practices. The Company’s Corporate Governance principles and
practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 74 to
96 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF THE
ANNUAL RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. The latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee had three members, who are
independent non-executive Directors including Dr. Tong Ka Lok (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian, and Mr. Choy Wai
Shek, Raymond, wmH, Jp. The Audit Committee has engaged with
management to review the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group. It has also deliberated on matters relating to auditing, internal
controls, and financial reporting, including the Group’s annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
2025.
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EERSREEABNERFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 58, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and an executive director of the Company on 24 May 2016. He is also a
member of the nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Zhu is the Chairman and an executive director of China Water
Industry Group Limited (“China Water”) (a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the “Stock
Exchange”) (Stock Code: 1129) and an non-executive director of Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) (Stock Code: 1466). He was an executive director of
EverChina Int’l Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange) (Stock Code: 202) from May 2008 to
February 2013 and the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina
Water Limited* (”Heilongjiang
Treatment”) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) (Stock
Code: 600187), from January 2009 to May 2015. Mr. Zhu obtained his
undergraduate from Hunan University in 1989, and a Master’s degree of
business administration in Peking University in the People’s Republic of
China in 2005. He started his environmental protection career in 2001.

Treatment Co., Interchina Water

Mr. Pan Yimin, aged 49, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 24 March 2021. He was the president of Tianjin Dongfang
Mingrui Investment Management Co., Ltd* since 2013 prior to joining the
Company. Mr. Pan was the vice president of Interchina (Tianjin) Water
Treatment Co., Ltd.* from April 2011 to March 2013, and a deputy
manager of Heilongjiang Interchina Water Treatment from April 2009 to
March 2011. Mr. Pan was appointed as the vice president of China Water
since March 2021 and is in charge of the financial department, general
department and risk control department. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Economics in 1998 from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Du Yun, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 September 2023. She was appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from
30 June 2025.

Ms. Du was the vice president of HOPU Jinghua (Beijing) Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd. (“HOPU Investment”) from April 2018 to November
2023. Prior to this, Ms. Du had served as the senior vice president in
charge of the gas business in Engie (China) Energy Technology Co., Ltd.
("Engie China”) from September 2014 to April 2018. Ms. Du obtained the
qualification from the Chartered Financial Analyst Institute and is a
chartered financial analyst (CFA). Ms. Du obtained a bachelor’s degree in

~Science in 2003 from Tongji University, and further obtained a master

egree in Science at Ecole Polytechnique in France.
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Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian, aged 69, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Board and a member of
each of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Lo was awarded a Bachelor of Laws degree by the University of
London in August 1988. He is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong
and has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong since November 1991 in
general legal practice. From December 1993 to the date of this annual
report, Mr. Lo has been a partner of Joseph C.T. Lee & Co. and engaged
in various fields of legal practice involving commercial and conveyancing
litigation, acquisition and sale of business and/or companies, company
liquidation, charity foundation works, formation of religious organisations,
family law, immigration law and employment law. Mr. Lo has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Far East Hotels and
Entertainment Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 37) on 1 April 2025.

Dr. Tong Ka Lok, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is the chairman
of the audit committee of the Board and a member of each of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Dr. Tong was awarded a Doctor of Public Health degree (epidemiology
and biostatistics) from the Macau University of Science and Technology in
August 2013. Dr. Tong is a founder and partner of Baker Tilly Macao
Certified Public Accountants which was established in October 2000. He is
an auditor registered at the Committee for the Registry of Auditors and
Accountants in Macau in January 2006. Besides his business establishment,
Dr. Tong was appointed as a member of the Nanjing Committee of
CPPCC* (TRIARBUAHE G #M A MZ 8 ), and Vice President of the
Macau University of Science and Technology in 2012, and a University
Council Member in 2013.
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EEhEREBABNBEEFS

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP, aged 76, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014.
He is the chairman of our the remuneration committee of the Board and
a member of each of the nomination committee and audit committee of
the Board.

Mr.
Concepts Foundation Limited (“NC Foundation”). Mr.

Choy joined the Group in January 2013 as a director of New
Choy has been
carrying out an independent non-executive role in NC Foundation, mainly
responsible for advising on corporate governance of NC Foundation. Mr.
Choy also acts as an independent non-executive director of Far East Hotels
and Entertainment Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 37)) and AB Builders Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1615)). Mr. Choy was resigned as the Independent
non-executive Director of King of Catering (Global) Holdings Ltd (formerly
known as WAC Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM (stock code:
8619)) since 23 December 2024.

Mr. Choy holds a Diploma in Chinese Law awarded from the University of
East Asia (now known as the University of Macau) in October 1987 and a
Diploma in Political Science from the International Affairs College, Hong
Kong in July 1988.

He was the Chairman of the Sham Shui Po District Board from April 1991
to September 1994, a Hong Kong affairs adviser appointed by the Hong
Kong and Macao Affairs Office of the State Council and the Xinhua News
Agency from 1994 to 1997, the vice-chairman of the Occupational Safety
and Health Council of the Labour and Welfare Bureau from 2004 to
2010, a member of the Energy Advisory Committee of the Environment
Bureau from 2006 to 2012 and a member of the Consumer Council of the
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau from 2005 to 2011.

He was a member of the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC")* (Term 9th to 12th) (FF B A
RECAHEQZEINTZE ). He was also elected as a vice president of
GMC Hong Kong Members Association in February 2012. He is the
Chamber of
and was also the Chairman of

Honorary Committee Member of The Chinese General
("CcGcen)
Member's Service Committee of CGCC.

Commerce, Hong Kong

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chu Shu Cheong, aged 64, is the founder of the Group and the
director of the Company’s major subsidiary, namely NC Foundation. He
possesses over 25 years of management experience in foundation, civil
engineering and building works of various nature.

Besides his business achievement, Mr. Chu was also appointed as the
honorary chairman of the China Star Light Charity Fund Association in
2000, a member of the Guangdong Province Committee of CPPCC (/R
ARBURHE € ZBERAIETZ EE) in October 2011 and a member
of the Guangzhou Committee of the CPPCC (F B A RBUAH & EM
Z B ) in December 2011.

Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana (“Ms. Chu"”) aged 54, was appointed as the
company secretary and the authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 1 January 2025. Ms. Chu, holds a Bachelor's Degree of
Accounting and a Master’'s Degree of Corporate Governance. She is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Association of the Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Chu is a fellow member
of both of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Chu has over 20 years’ extensive
experience by working in an international audit firm and other listed
companies.
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The Board hereby presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (the
"Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise construction
works in Hong Kong and environmental protection business in the PRC.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 45 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities
of the Group during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The revenue of the Group is wholly derived from the construction works
conducted in Hong Kong and environmental protection business in the
PRC. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year is set out in
note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

A review of the business of the Group for the Year, including the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of
the Year and the likely future business development is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report. This discussion form part of the Report of Directors.

on pages 7 to 37

Further details its key
stakeholders and the Group’s environmental policies and performance can
be found in the Company’s 2025 Environmental,
Report, which is published in electronic form only and available on the
Company's the Relations:

http://www.primeworld-china.com. If any shareholder wishes to receive a

relating to the Group’s relationships with

Social and Governance

website at section of Investor

printed copy of the Company’s 2025 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, such shareholder may submit his/her/its request to the
Company by post to our head office in Hong Kong at Office B, 3/F,
Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong
Kong or by email through the Company’s at

http://www.primeworld-china.com.

website
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE IRBEB R R TR

The Group has adopted and implemented environmental protection AREEFRKLEHH T ZHERBREBENLEF -
policies and procedures to enable it to commit to the long term FITHUBRSENAAEHMERRAZELZRENEA
sustainability of the environment and communities in which it operates. & c RAFENRN  AEEBEFEHEEENEHY
During the Year, the Group complied with the relevant environmental laws ARNEBEBEE AT ENHBREEERED -
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business

where the Group is operating.

Details of the key laws and regulations that have a significant impact on  FRBI U AEBEKBEEAFTEN T B A
the Group’s businesses, their key scope and our compliance measures are K&#EfF - HHE T BEHE R A EE A B GO

outlined in the following table: 1%
Laws and Regulations Key scope Compliance measures
EREREB TEME ERER

Air Pollution Control (Non- road Contractor must not sell or lease, or cause Applications for lease and use of regulated
Mobile Machinery) (Emission) to be sold or leased, a regulated machine machine have been made and approval
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of for use in Hong Kong unless the machine is certificates for emission compliance were
the Laws of Hong Kong) approved or exempted. obtained.

(ZRERER GHERBDH RIEXIVEUMEZELERS T XEECFLHBEHELERGCHATEERM
W) (HER) RO (BEER AP TEHEXHEAZEMUMESTE NRBZ TERBRAFNEENENRT

F3112E) R TSR HEREHEZEWMUME Z-
EEBEER -
Contractor must not use or cause to be The relevant approval label has been

used a regulated machine in any specified  painted or securely fixed on the machine
activity unless the machine is approved or  and is displayed at a conspicuous position,
exempted. which is also properly maintained.
RIFERXZBEMRMERZ E RS T8 MHERZERED R IR 2 1 B FE 0
AP TEERASDHPEAXCHER L UTABENERUERTRZBRRF

B 1
Air Pollution Control Contractor is required to take dust Compliance manual is in place for
(Construction Dust) reduction measures when construction work operational staff.

Regulation (Chapter 311R of is being carried out.
the Laws of Hong Kong)
(ZRSAES (RETIRER) AEBAERLIKRRRER RIERA SREREAEEBNAHRFTM-

MODCEBEDEINRE) -
Regular briefing and training are conducted
to enhance their awareness on the
legislation.
FHRBITENREIN  ReREASEE
PIEy R A o
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Laws and Regulations

ERR B
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Key scope

FTEME

Compliance measures

EREE

Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

(RFZESROE B EDE
400%F)

The Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic

of China
PEAREMBIRE
RiEX

The Law of the People’s
Republic of China on
Environmental Impact
Assessment

FEAREMEREFE
STE A

Controls construction noise ranges from:

EHREERE B

(a)  the use of powered mechanical
equipment

() EARDREEESE

(b)  the carrying out of certain noisy works
in designated areas

(b) TCEETHEANETEEFIRI IR

This law defines the environment as the
total body of all natural elements and
artificially transformed natural elements
affecting human existence and development
(including the atmosphere, water, seas,
land, minerals, forests, grasslands, wetlands,
wildlife, natural and human remains, nature
reserves, historic sites and scenic spots, and
urban and rural areas).

WEMRIEIRE  BETEANBEERFME
EHNSBERANNLCBATIRENEAR
EMMHE BERE K BT T E
B BR R THAEAEY 8AE
P AGED - BEARER  BREZBE -
YT AN AT S e

This law defines environmental impact
assessment as the analysis, estimation and
evaluation of possible environmental impacts
resulting from the implementation of a
planning and construction project and the
introduction of strategies and measures to
prevent and alleviate adverse environmental
impacts as well as tracking and monitoring
processes and systems.

WERAEIRIRZENE  SEYREM
i% RIEBEREAABEERMIRREZ EETT

DT FERIANFEAE Tmﬁﬁﬁﬁi%dﬁ%@?ﬂ
RIRF ENHRME I ETRMEN
Eiéﬁi%wf;

Compliance manual is in place for
operational staff.

REBIEABBRANARTM-

Site supervisor is presented at the
construction site.

KA BEBABEREME -
Construction noise permit has been
obtained.

ERISEERSFTAIE -

The project companies of the Group prevent
pollution in accordance with the
requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law.

AEBTEEA AR LRRREREEINE
koBeERBIERENBER

The project companies of the Group engage
independent third parties to prepare
environmental impact assessment reports/
competent government authorities to issue
environmental impact approvals.

AEBTEBEBERREZRABLE=TTHRE
BEFETERE BHETEBFIL AR
BREHRE -
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Compliance measures

B

The Water Pollution Prevention
Law of the People’s Republic
of China

hEE AR EMBIKSRBRE

Administrative Measures for
Pollutant Discharge Licensing
(for Trial Implementation)

PR RF A BB AR (A1)

This law applies to the prevention and
control of pollution of rivers, lakes, canals,
drainage, reservoirs and other surface water
bodies and groundwater within the People’s
Republic of China.

SARBE RN E AR EXMBIES AT
A M B BB KJE E MRk A
Kot K& H 5 R a -

The prevention and control of water
pollution shall focus on prevention while
combining prevention, control and
comprehensive management. Priority shall
be given to the protection of the sources of
drinking water. Industrial and urban
pollution shall be strictly controlled.
Pollution of agricultural bases shall be
prevented and controlled. The construction
of ecological management projects shall be
encouraged. Pollution of water bodies and
damages to the ecosystem shall be
prevented, controlled and alleviated.
KBRUREERFENRE &GS
e e RA - BERERBKKR &
BIEGI TS5 WHEAESR  aRE
ER)SZ  BGREEERRETIRER
By ~ 22 Wl AR A K BR 35 05 2R R0 A RE AU -

This law applies to the application, approval
and enforcement of pollutant discharge
licenses as well as the governance and
punishments in relation thereto.
PORFTAIE A RS - 2 E - SUITIAREREE)S
SRR E ME S F1T /A BA R
% o

The Ministry of Environmental Protection
develops and releases a category-based
administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources stipulating the scope of the
pollutant discharge licensing system and
prescribed application time limit pursuant to
the law.

IR U5 IR & BDAKOE I TE I A 5 [E B )5 R BE
SRR N AE IR Ak AMABESETA
IR &0 B M R R R o

The project companies of the Group prevent
water pollution in accordance with the
requirements of the Water Pollution
Prevention Law.

AEBTEEB RRRRKIGTREEED
B BAEHBRKBTRENER -

The project companies of the Group applied
for pollutant discharge license(s) in
accordance with the requirements of the
measures.
AEETEEBEEARDIKRBIVAER - &#
BHESATRIRE ©
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Laws and Regulations

ERR B

Key scope

TEHEE

Compliance measures

B

The Opinion on the
Strengthening of the
Overhaul of Gutter Oil and
Management of Cooking
Wastes issued by the General
Office of the State Council

B0 75 BT 3% 7~ B2 8 5 00 98 b A Jeh
BANEHEEMEEDN
ER

Enterprises and public institutions as well as
other producers and operators (hereinafter
referred to as “pollutant discharging
entities”) that are included in the category-
based administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources shall apply for and obtain a
pollutant discharge license within the
prescribed time limit. Pollutant discharging
entities not included in the category-based
administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources currently do not need to apply for a
pollutant discharge license.
MABESRRISFFADREEELEN
EEXEBUMEMEELEE A THE
[HE)5 B2 ) B %2 fR 4R 7€ /O RS IR BR 58 I BX
SHEOSET A R AR E SRR
AR BEERRENEEsEM  BEAFRS
HE5EFAE -

To effectively eliminate the use of gutter oil
in the food industry and strengthen food
safety and public health, 7 opinions on
further strengthening of the overhaul of
gutter oil and management of cooking
wastes have been issued with the consent
of the State Council.
RERBRBBRERERAE  JER
FERMTZE2MARBNISRBER LB
Br R E - BLE — 2 hnsa st B h e ME
BEEMEETFRH7TAZR

The project companies of the Group have
implemented the tasks required by the
opinion in collaboration with the competent
authorities (i.e. municipal environmental
hygiene departments).

AEETEBEARREATENM(BITHAE
REERPT) %E‘“%‘ RAZRHEHAEIIE-
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Compliance measures

B

Measures for the
Administration of Concession
for Infrastructure and Public
Utilities

ERRHEMNOAERRFLR
B IR A

General Office of the State
Council forwards the
National Development and
Reform Commission and the
Ministry of Finance's
“Guiding Opinions on
Standardising the
Implementation of the New
Mechanism for Government
and Social Capital
Cooperation

SR A RERERARERN
2% HHBCARREEE
BT Mt & & R & 157
WESER)

Concession activities in energy,
transportation, water conservancy,
environmental protection, municipal
engineering, and other infrastructure and
public utilities fields within the territory of
the PRC shall be governed by these
Measures. Implement these Measures for
purposes of encouraging and directing social
investors’ participation in the construction
and operation of infrastructure and public
utilities, improving the quality and efficiency
of public services, protecting the lawful
rights and interests of concessionaires,
protecting public interest and public
security.

HREARAMERANER  Z@EH - K
FRERE TRIBEEMRRMENAR
FERBNFAREEY  ERARE i
TARPENS BN it g &R AR
BIEMNAAEXEEREE B AHARS
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Standardising implementation of the new
mechanism for government and social
capital cooperation, fully leverage of market
mechanisms, and encourage for private
investment. Curb on implicit debt of local
governments, and improve operational
standards in infrastructure and public utility
project construction and operation.

REEMBUN ML EERGER#E - =
DEETISHER HEREKREEM -
EORBHIFIEHTBRNEBEES &5
REREM AR EXEEREREE KT -
Focus on user-pay projects, and adopt
service concession arrangements model for
all projects. Private enterprises shall be
participated in priority, and cleared defined
responsibilities.

RECHRENBIERE  2I0EE RIS
rEEhERES  BEEBRREGESH
AEREEES Lo

The Measures are the basis and references
for those key terms and conditions of the
Group's service concession arrangements.

AEEO AT EEEDEET R IRR RGNS
B ERIEERBERZZE -

The Measures are the basis and references
for those key terms and conditions of the
Group’s upcoming new projects under
service concession arrangements.

AEEBRFNGFEEEBEREETE
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The principal activities of the Group comprise construction works and
environmental protection. Sufficient resources have been allocated to
ensure the on-going compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
During the Year, the Board is not aware of any incidence of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s business where the Group is operating.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business operations and results may be affected by various factors,
some of which are external causes and some are inherent to the business.
The principal risks and uncertainties are summarised below:

1. Extreme weather condition

For the past years, extreme weather and “very hot weather
warning” were imposed several times in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Such weather conditions not only result delay in our
construction projects directly, and may also lead to continuous
disruptions in logistics and transportations arrangement which
increase our costs and safety of our staff for the operations of our
entire business units.

2. Market conditions

The number of construction projects awarded to the Group depends
highly on the market conditions in the construction industry,
including shortage of skilled labour, availability of new projects in
private sector, Government’'s spending on infrastructure and
approval for funding proposals for public work contracts. If there is
any deterioration in any of these factors, the operating results of
construction segment will be adversely affected.

3. Keen competition
The competition of construction industry has become more intense
as there will be a foreseeable reduction of number of construction
projects available for tendering. To increase the chance of success in
winning the tender bidding, the Group may have to lower its profit
margin, which may impact its profit for the coming year.

For the last year, there has been also increase in supply in anode
materials and therefore resulted in overall pricing competition. As
such, our gross profit may be trimmed or even losing some
customers.

4. Cost of construction materials and graphene

The increase in cost of construction materials will lower the profit
margin of the Group’s construction and new energy materials
businesses. Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs of
the Group’s projects and productions may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.
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Shortage of labor and increasing labor costs

For the past few years, the population and workforce in Hong Kong
has been shrinking. As such, we may require to increase our staff
costs so as to attract the talent as well as maintaining our human
resources. Any failure may cause the Group not to proceed for
projects tendering.

Regulatory environment

Our business is subject to the environmental regulations issued by
the Hong Kong Government and national policies of Mainland
China. Such regulations may be revised from time to time and any
changes to such regulations may increase our cost and burden in
complying with them. The Group is also required to maintain certain
registration. In order to renew and maintain these registrations, the
Group is required to comply with certain criteria set by the relevant
governmental departments and authorities. Any suspension of or a
failure to maintain or renew the Group’s registrations could
adversely affect the Group’s business.

Policy change

China’s “Environmental Protection Law” significantly increases
companies’ costs of pollution by imposing penalties ranging from
fines to restriction or even suspension of production. Personnel from
environmental protection administrative departments of the
government shall also be faced with demotion, dismiss or forced
resignation from their current position for failure to enforce
pollution-related regulations, and it also stipulates that violation of
the Law may constitute a criminal offence.

The central government has been sending inspection teams to
polluted provinces and holding local officials accountable for failure
to prevent and control pollution, which may resulting in the
enterprises’ shutdown for the lack of environmental protection
facilities.

More fierce laws and policies to be imposed as well as more
frequent inspection by the central government against the violation
of environmental protection rulings from time to time. Our
operations may be materially affected should we fail to comply with
the relevant environmental protection rulings and regulations.
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8. Technological obsolescence

Our competitive advantage in the environmental industry and new
energy material business relies on our technological capabilities to
ensure safety, maintain efficiency of production and keep operating
costs at a relatively low level. However, as the laws, regulations,
government policies and industry standards may impose more
stringent requirements on our existing or future projects, we may
fail to improve our technology to adapt to such changes. Moreover,
the production techniques of our competitors may improve at a
faster pace so that their costs may be reduced to a lower level
significantly or their productivity may become significantly higher
than ours.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY PARTIES

The success of the Group also depends on the support from key parties
which comprise customers, suppliers, employees and shareholders.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers comprise the government and private
developers. The Group has well established operational and industry
experience in foundation, civil engineering and general building work,
which enables the Group to complete all our projects on schedule.
Recognition from our sound track records, the Group has secured various
sizeable new projects from public and private sectors. Our reputation and
high standard of quality work enable the Group and the customers to
achieve their profitability and sustainable growth.

Suppliers

Good relationship with suppliers constitutes one of the essential elements
of the Group’s success. To achieve positive business growth, the Group
maintains close relationship with its suppliers in order to create a win-win
situation so that suppliers and the Group can have a vertical cooperation
for reaching both of the business goals.
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Employees

The Group focuses on the talents of our employees as our most valuable
asset and provides a harmonious and professional working environment
with a variety of training programmes to our employees for career
advancement. The key objective of our human resource management is to
recognise and reward performing staff by providing competitive
remuneration packages and implementing an effective performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, namely equal promotion
opportunity.

Shareholders

The principal goal of the Group is to maximise the return to the
shareholders of the Company. The Group will focus on our core business
and explore attractive investment opportunities for achieving sustainable
profit growth and rewarding the shareholders with stable dividend payouts
taking into account the business development needs and financial health
of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Information on the Group’s revenue and purchases attributable to the
major customers and suppliers during the Year is set out as follows:
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2025 2024

20254 20244

The largest customer BREF 79.64% 67.64%
Five largest customers in aggregate hREP&& 91.12% 85.33%
The largest supplier BA G ER 14.28% 10.51%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A AREERE ST 46.62% 37.66%

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the percentage of revenue from the
five largest customers in aggregate was more than 30% of the Group’s
total revenue and the percentage of purchase from the five largest
suppliers in aggregate was more than 30% of the Group’s total purchase.
None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 103
to 104 and accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend a payment of a final dividend to the
shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations was made by the Group during the
Year (2024: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in note 36 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$112.9 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$124.6 million).

Details of the movement in reserves of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the

_~Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No Director or any entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year or the
end of the Year.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group entered into the following related party and
connected transactions, primarily relating to financial assistance:

Financial Assistance Received by the Group

A. Loans from Excellent Point Asia Limited (“Lender 1”): As at
31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of loans due to Lender | was
approximately HK$3.6 million. In May 2024, the Group entered into
two loan agreements with Lender |, totaling approximately HK$3.4
million (collectively referred to as “Loan A”). These loans bear
interest at a rate of 6% per annum and are repayable over one year
but not exceeding two years. For the FY2025, interest expenses
incurred under Loan A amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million.

B. Loan from Infinite Treasure Enterprises Limited (“Lender I1”): As
at 31 March 2025, the outstanding loan from Lender Il was
approximately HK$0.6 million. The Company entered into a loan
agreement with Lender Il in August 2024 for approximately HK$0.6
million (“Loan B"). This loan carries an interest rate of 6% per
annum and is repayable within one year. The interest expense for
FY2025 was approximately HK$22,000.

C. Loan from Mr. Zhu Yongjin (“Mr. Zhu"): As at 31 March 2025,
the loan due to Mr. Zhu, an executive Director and the Chairman of
the Company, stood at approximately HK$30.8 million. In May
2024, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Mr. Zhu for
a total of HK$50 million (“Loan C"), bearing interest at 6% per
annum and repayable within two years. During the Year, the
Company drew down HK$30.3 million, resulting in interest expenses
of approximately HK$0.6 million for FY2025.

Lender | and Lender Il are associates of Mr. Zhu as defined under the
Listing Rules and are therefore considered connected persons of the
Company. As at date of this report, Mr. Zhu was interested in
approximately 5.43% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Accordingly, the execution of Loan A, Loan B and Loan C with Mr. Zhu
and his associates constitutes connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. However, as these loans were provided for the benefit
of the Group, were on normal commercial terms, and did not involve any
security over the Group's assets, they fall within the exemptions under
Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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D. Loan from Director: As at 31 March 2025, loans due to Mr. Chu
Shu Cheong (“Mr.
Company, amounted to HK$63 million in aggregate. The Group
entered into two interest-free loan agreements with Mr. Chu in
September and October 2024, respectively. These loans (collectively
referred to as “Loan D”) are repayable over one year but not
exceeding two years.

Chu"), a director of a subsidiary of the

E. Loan from Turbo Link Trading Limited (“Lender IV”): As at
31 March 2025, the outstanding loan balance due to Lender IV
amounted to approximately HK$143.5 million. The Group entered
into a loan agreement with Lender IV in October 2015 for HK$380
million (“Loan E”). This loan bears interest at 3% per annum, and
the remaining principal balance is repayable on demand by mutual
agreement. For the FY2025, the interest expenses related to Loan E
were approximately HK$3.8 million.

F. Additional Loan from Lender IV: As at 31 March 2025, the loan
balance due to Lender IV in respect of an additional loan amounted
to approximately HK$4.7 million. This loan (“Loan F”) was granted
in April 2019 for HK$6 million, with an annual interest rate of 6%,
and is also repayable on demand subject to mutual agreement.
Interest expenses incurred on Loan F during the FY2025 was
approximately HK$0.3 million.

Lender IV is wholly-owned by New Style Limited which is directly owned as
to 75% by Mr. Chu. In turn. Lender IV is an associate of Mr. Chu, as
defined under the Listing Rules, thereby classifying both Mr. Chu and
Lender IV as connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions involving Loan D, Loan E and Loan F constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, as Loan D,
Loan E and Loan F were entered into for the benefit of the Group, were
conducted on normal commercial terms, and are unsecured, they qualify
for full exemption under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

As of the date of this report, Mr. Chu holds a 75% equity interest in

Prosper Power Group Ltd. (“Prosper Power”), which in turn holds
76,500,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 4.76% of
the Company’s total issued share capital. Accordingly, Mr. Chu is deemed
to be interested in the shares beneficially owned by Prosper Power. Mr.

Chu also serves as a director of Prosper Power.
As such, none of the fully exempted connected transactions described
above are subject to disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules. The

Company has duly complied with all relevant provisions of Chapter 14A

eview. Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note

qoncerning the connected transactions undertaken during the Year under
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course
of business are provided under note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors.

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Pan Yimin

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (resigned on 31 December 2024)

Non-executive Directors.

Mr. Lin Jiakuang (removed on 11 December 2024)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (retired on 16 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Du Yun

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP
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Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company or a subsidiary of the
Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has also entered into a service contract with the

Company for an initial term of 3 years.

Company for an initial term of 2 years. The aforesaid service contracts may
be terminated by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. All Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every
3 years.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Article 112 of the
Articles of Association, any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy during the Year shall hold office until the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting.

Mr. Zhu Yongjun and Dr. Tong Ka Lok shall retire from office by rotation
at the AGM to be held on 29 August 2025 in accordance with Article
108(a) of the Articles of Association. Dr. Tong Ka Lok was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in August 2014 and has served on the
Board for more than 9 years, the re-election of himself will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders at the AGM.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries within 1 year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
which have been received by the Company. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines during the Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group as at the date of this report are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management on pages
38 to 41 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the aforesaid section,
the Directors (a) have not held other directorships in public companies, the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas, in the last 3 years; (b) do not hold any other positions in the
Group; and (c) do not have any other relationships with any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information
of Directors of the Company subsequent to the date of the annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 required to be
disclosed was as follows:

1) Ge Xiaolin (“Dr. Ge")
As ordinary resolution no. 3 regarding the re-election of Dr. Ge as a
non-executive Director was not passed at the AGM, Dr. Ge has
retired as a non-executive Director with effect from the conclusion
of the AGM, 16 August 2024 in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

2) Lin Jiakuang (“Mr. Lin")
Mr. Lin has been removed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 11 December 2024, by notice in writing served upon him
signed by not less than three-fourths in number of the Directors
(including Mr. Lin) currently in office in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.
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3) Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (“Mr. Lee"”)
Mr. Lee has resigned as the executive Director of the Company with
effect from 31 December 2024.
4) Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian (“Mr. Lo”) (INED)
Mr. Lo has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Far East Hotels and Entertainment Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 37) with effect from 1 April 2025.

5) Choy Wai Shek, Raymond (“Mr. Choy"”) (INED)
Mr. Choy has resigned as the Independent non-executive Director of
King of Catering (Global) Holdings Ltd (formerly known as WAC
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM (stock code: 8619)) with
effect from 23 December 2024.

6) Du Yun (“Ms. Du”) (INED)
Ms. Du has been appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company with effect on 30 June 2025 in
compliance with the amendments to the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing rules, which will be effective on 1 July 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 5 HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to
the duties, responsibilities and performance of the Directors and the results
of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the 5 highest paid individuals are
set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up by the Board to develop the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and in this annual report relating to the share option scheme
adopted by the Company, at no time during the Year was the Company,
its parent company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
an acquisition of shares in, or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles of Association, the Directors,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary and other
officers for the time being of the Company acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective
offices. Such provision was in force during the Year and remained in force
as of the date of this report. In addition, the Company has also
maintained Directors and officers liability insurance during the Year.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company hereby
discloses that during the Year and up to the date of the report, Mr. Zhu
Yongjun (“Mr. Zhu"),
Company, was interested in approximately 5.43% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The Group is principally engaged in environmental
protection businesses, including the provision of kitchen waste treatment

the chairman and executive Director of the

related business in the PRC and in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhu also served as the
chairman and executive director of China Water Industry Group Limited
(the “China Water”) (stock code: 1129), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. It is noted that Mr. Zhu
does not hold any interests in the issued shares of China Water. During
the year, the Group entered into a food waste collection and related
services consulting agreement for a term of three (3) years commencing
on 26 April 2024 with Hong Kong Glass Resources Limited (“Hong Kong
Glass Resources”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the China Water.
This marks the Group’s inaugural engagement in providing food waste
consulting services in Hong Kong. Notwithstanding the fact that the China
Water and the Group are both engaged in the provision of food waste
related services, the Company considers that the Group primarily operates
its kitchen waste treatment business in Mainland China, while China
Water focuses on food waste collection services in Hong Kong, there
would be no competition between the Group and China Water as there is
clear geographical delineation in terms of services area of the food waste
related services to be provided by the Group and that of China Water.

The Board also considers that they are independent from the board of
China Water (“China Water Board”) as Mr. Zhu does not personally
control over either the Board or the China Water Board. In compliance
with applicable rules and regulations, during the board meeting, Mr. Zhu
abstained from voting on the relevant resolution relating to the approval
of services consulting agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or substantial shareholders
of the Company, or their respective close associates had any interests in
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, other than those businesses
where the Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests
of the Company and/or the Group.

5 YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last 5 financial years is set out on page 256. Such summary does not
form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the sole shareholder of the
Company on 26 August 2014, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”),
terminated in the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 May 2023. In the said extraordinary general meeting, a new share
option scheme of the Company has been adopted (the “2023 Share

which was

Option Scheme”). The 2023 Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years
from 30 May 2023.

PURPOSE OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme was to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of the
Group.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions the Group’s Eligible Participants (as defined
below) who have had or may have made to the Group and will provide
the Eligible Participants a personal stake in the Company with the view to
(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attract and retain the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are/or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

PARTICIPANTS UNDER THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES AND BASIS OF ELIGIBILITY

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant any employee
(full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of the Group, or any
substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with
paragraph under “Principal Terms of Share Option Schemes” below for
such number of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms
of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
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Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant options to the
"Eligible Participants”, which include (i) “Employee Participants”, being any
Directors or any full-time or part-time employees of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options under the
2023 Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the Group); and (ii) “Service Providers”, being independent
contractor, sub-contractor, supplier, agent, consultants and/or adviser who
provide service to the Group in specific projects or support the Group’s
principal businesses.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES

The principal terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme are summarised as
follows:

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 26 August 2014, in the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2023,

and was terminated

wherein the 2023 Share Option Scheme was adopted.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days

immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the option.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share Option

Scheme, an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 30

days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount

payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share Option
Scheme, the period within which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but no share option
may be exercised later than 10 years from the date of its grant.
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Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, subject to the Board exercising its
discretion to shorten the vesting period in accordance with the scheme
rules, all options granted will be subject to a minimum vesting period of
12 months.

On 19 April 2021, the Company granted 46,492,000 share options to
certain Directors, employees, and a consultant to subscribe for ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the
2014 Share Option Scheme. The exercise price of each option is HK$0.42
per share. 16,892,000 options were vested immediately on such date of
grant; 14,800,000 options were vested during 1 year after such date of
grant, and the remaining 14,800,000 options will be vested during 2 years
after such date of grant. The validity period for the 1st and 2nd batch of
options are 2 years from their respective vesting dates; and the validity
period for the 3rd batch of options is 1 year from the vesting date.

On 13 December 2022, the Company granted 10,800,000 share options to
certain Director and employees under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The
exercise price is HK$0.50 per share. 2,700,000 options will be vested and
exercisable immediately on the date of grant. The other 8,100,000 options
will be subject to fulfillment of various performance targets in relation to
the Group within the time periods as determined by the Board and
specified in the respective letters of grant to the corresponding grantee.
Out of these 8,100,000 options, 6,700,000 options will be vested subject
to the respective dates of achieving the relevant performance targets for
such grantees but in any case not later than 31 December 2023; the
remaining 1,400,000 options will be vested subject to the respective dates
of achieving the relevant performance targets for such grantees but in any
case not later than 31 July 2024.

On 17 August 2023, the Company granted 135,500,000 share options to
certain Directors, employees and consultants under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme. The exercise price is HK$0.65 per share. 48,084,000 options (1st
Batch) will be vested and become exercisable from the 1st anniversary of
such date of grant. 43,708,000 options (2nd Batch) will be vested subject
to the relevant grantee has fulfilled his/her performance target, but in any
case not later than 31 December 2024. The other 43,708,000 options (3rd
Batch) will be vested subject to the relevant grantee has fulfilled his/her
performance target, but in any case not later than 31 December 2025. All
options are exercisable for from respective vesting dates.
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Save for aforesaid, the Company did not grant any share option during
the Year.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and/or 2023
Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options in
excess of such limit must be separately approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such grantee and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Any grant of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates) must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of the Company
or an independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted to
such person under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and/or 2023 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) and awards to be
granted under any other share award schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and

(ii)

having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders
of the Company at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to be
taken by way of poll.
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Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option Scheme during the Year are set

out as follows:
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ET ET &
Directors
i
Mr. Zhu Yongjun 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 500,000 — — — 500,000
REERE of date of grant 16.8.2027
BERELEMEFERE
Mr. Pan Yimin 19.4.2021 19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 1,500,000 — —  (1,500,000) —
BHREE 18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 1,500,000 — —  (1,500,000) —
18.4.2024
13.12.2022 Vest upon date of grant 13.12.2022- 0.50 0.19 0.50 1,100,000 — —  (1,110,000) —
12.12.2024
ERREAHER
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 1,532,000 — — — 1,532,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREBIASRR
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 1,484,000 — — (1,484,000 —
it 1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 1,484,000 — - — 1,484,000
B &2
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant
FHAKE ERRERHER
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 1,500,000 — — (1,500,000) —
18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 1,500,000 — — (1,500,000) —
18.4.2024
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 1,532,000 — — (1,532,000 —
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREBEEASRR
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 1,484,000 — — (1,484,000 —
it &1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 1,484,000 — — (1,484,000 —
B 2
Dr. Ge Xiaolin 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 500,000 — — (500,000) —
13 3 5a of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREBEAFRR
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 500,000 — — — 500,000
BEBEE of date of grant 16.8.2027

ERRHLAMIAERE
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.
EEgmE
Number of options
BRENE
Closing
price of
Fair value  the Share
of option at before
Exercisable Exercise date of the date of Outstanding Lapsed/  Outstanding
Participants Date of grant Vesting period period price grant grant  at 1.4.2024 Granted  Exercised  Forfeited at 31.3.2025
REH R 120245 120254
BHMER  BHEH 4A18 BR%/ 34318
2aE RHAH SRY fTEs fTEE BATE RHBHE RITE ERY EfTfE =514 HRITE
HKS$ HKS HK$
ET ET ET
Dr. Tong Ka Lok 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant
Engft ERRLAHER
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 500,000 — — — 500,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
EREHASIAFRE
Mr. Choy Wai Shek 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 500,000 — — — 500,000
Raymond of date of grant 16.8.2027
MH, JP ERRHAMEERE
BEAKE
REHE
AF#HL
Employees 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant
&8 ERREBHEE
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 2,250,000 — — (2,250,000 —
18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 5,500,000 — — (5,500,000 —
18.4.2024
13.12.2022 Vest upon date of grant 13.12.2022- 0.50 0.19 0.50 1,400,000 — — (1,400,000 —
12.12.2024
ERREBHEE
13.12.2022 Note 3 0.50 0.25 0.50 1,150,000 — — (200,000) 950,000
Fi &3
13.12.2022 Note 4 0.50 0.30 0.50 300,000 — — (300,000) —
2]
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 38,104,000 — — (20,524,000) 17,580,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREEEEASRR
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 36,948,000 — — (36,948,000 —
it &1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 36,948,000 — — (19,938,000) 17,010,000
W52
Consultants 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant,
LG Note 5
BEREHBHEE WS
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000) —
18.4.2024,
Note 5
M5
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 2,000,000 — — (2,000,000) —
18.4.2024,
Note 5
WS
13.12.2022 Notes 4, 5 0.50 0.30 0.50 400,000 — — (400,000) —
DEZR
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.35 0.64 3,916,000 — —  (3,572,000) 344,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
BERELEMEFEE
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.37 0.64 3,792,000 — — (3,792,000 —
Al
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 3,792,000 — — (3,464,000 328,000
EZ

156,100,000 — (114,872,000) 41,228,000

e
[t
uf.u::,,u
i
-




Notes:

The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 December 2024 with validity
period of 3 years from the respective vesting dates.

The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be achieved
by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than
31 December 2025 with validity period of 3 years from the respective vesting
dates.

The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be achieved
by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31
December 2023 with validity period of 2 years from the respective vesting dates.

The Performance Targets referred in notes 2 and 3 above include (i) fulfillment of
various performance targets in relation to the Group within the time periods as
determined by the Board; or (ii) performance appraisal of the grantees, taking into
account certain qualitative and quantitative performance indicators. If (i) a
grantee’s performance targets/appraisals result before a vesting period (the
“Performance Grading”) is graded as level A, the portion of options granted to
such grantee will be fully vested during the relevant vesting period; (ii) if the
Performance Grading is level B, C or D, a portion of the options will be vested
during the relevant vesting period; and (iii) if the Performance Grading is below
level D, no options will be vested during the relevant vesting period.

The exercise of the options is subject to certain conditions that must be achieved
by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 July
2024 with validity period of 2 years from the respective vesting dates.

These are options previously granted to employees, but were re-appointed as
consultants upon their retirements during the Year.

The sublimit of the number of options that can be granted to the Service Provider
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme is 1% of the scheme limit, being
15,126,941.

As at the end of the Year and as at the date of this report, there are 15,789,413
options available for future grant under the 2023 Share Option Scheme (including
3,628,941 options available for grant under the Service Provider sublimit),
representing of 0.98% of the total issued shares of the Company.

Other than the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the Company did not have any other
share option scheme and share award scheme as at 31 March 2025.
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BRIENITEIBRNARAVBEBNESERZ -
ME AR fE ) 55 B HR /B 5 a0 o] 15 3B 7A20234F12 A 31
B AXHASERERHB2F -

EXHE2E3MENEE B ERRE (i)E§$‘§§
EMBERANEREREEEHMNZEXERR X
(it RETERMEEXFEERY 7¥<T~}\5£ﬁﬂ‘]
EETZ -HEONEBARGBHAINEEBR
FPEER ((FEFRD)WFRAG  AZAEANE
BENZBoBRESREHERENZHRE
%5 EETRAB - CHDM - —H D WARERE R
BASR B AR ¢ M i) B AR AR ERDAR - B
BEMERESNEHNEBRNEE -

FERIENITE BN AR ADBEBNE TIEG -
08 % 1 0 57 88 HR B AR 40 (0] 15 4 72024487 A 31
B AXHASERERHB2F -

EREFNCARERD

% Wz E
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K

1R R20234F 5 AR #E 51 &1 7] 5 T AR 75 44 FE 7 A9 BB AR
BEHEDERERTEIREN% - 815,126,941
AR AE -

RAFEERRBEARE A - RIKF2023F MR H#E
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As at the date of adoption of 2023 Share Option Scheme, a total of
151,289,413 shares were available for grant, which included 15,128,941
options designated under the Service Provider sublimit. During the year
2023, the Company granted 135,500,000 share options to certain
Directors, employees, and consultants under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme. As at year-end, 15,789,413 options remained available for future
grant under this scheme, including 3,628,941 options available under the
Service Provider sublimit, representing of 0.98% of the total issued shares
of the Company.

As at 1 April 2024, the aggregate number of shares available for issue
under all schemes amounted to 172,389,413, (taking into account
500,000 options lapsed under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2025), representing approximately 10.73% of the
total issued shares of the Company. It should be noted that following the
termination of the 2014 Share Option Scheme in May 2023, 8,718,000
options lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2024, and these lapsed
options will not be available for future grants from the date of
termination.

As at 31 March 2025 and at the date of this annual report, the total
number of shares available for issue under all schemes were 152,239,413
(taking into account 94,722,000 options lapsed under 2023 Share Option
Scheme during the Year), representing approximately 9.48% of the total
issued shares of the Company. It should be noted that 20,150,000 options
lapsed under the 2014 Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 March 2025, which are similarly excluded from future grants due to the
scheme’s termination.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of Shares available for issue under
all schemes were 152,239,413 divided by the weighted average number of
shares of the relevant class in issue for the Year was also 9.48%. The
Company does not have any treasury share during the Year.

Further details of the 2014 and 2023 Share Option Schemes are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

B 2023 F B R EAEE A KA
151,289,413[% B 15 ml £ & - H F 8 &

15,128,941 IR B R G ER D IERFEIEEME
BX#E - A2023F [E » AR BIRIE2023F BB AL AT
glmETES - & 8 RERM 135,500,000
BEARE - RNFR - BB ETE10E15,789,41317)
Bzt HERE - 153,628,941 1R #& Ak
BHREBmY>ERBECNBRE X278
TR AR 4B 810.98% -

202454718 - RIBFT A & AT TR
42 % 5172,389,4130% (5t K A & 202593 A31
B 1EF =R IE20234F 8 AR 4 51 & 2K L #9500,000
DERE) EADAIEBTRNGBEY
10.73% ° fEJEE » 20144F B A% HE 51 21 7020234
S5A 4 1E 1% - 8,718,00017 ¥ A% 4 1A Bl 2202443
AMBLFELRY ZERAMNBERES &I
HERAGTAHBERIRL -

202563 A31H RAFH A - BIZF A &
A BT AR D 4B B A152,239,4130% (5T R A4
[ AR 520234 5 I 7T &I K 2 #994,722,00017
B (RARRDETRM B EHL9.48% °
EXE > REE20259F3A318 IFFF 20144
R P HE 5T 2178 R 520,150,00017 B AR AE 2L 3% - /&
REZaET a1 ZFERERE T ARKE
;jj °

M20256F3A318 - RBAAEI AT HETHR
15 #EE052152,239,413 - R AR FEE #1748
8B R AR 5 &9 IN#E 719 2R U8 R29.48% ° M A F
B ARAWELFERFRD -

B #2014 R2023F B R Bl — P FF 1T
FENARFRG A MWK L7 -



Apart from the aforesaid 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this
report was any of the Company or any associated corporation a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors, or their spouses or children
under the age 18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meanings of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any such
director or chief executive is taken or deemed to have under such
provision of the SFO) or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register of members of the Company, or
which were required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:
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B b at20144 B8 I 9 51 81 )2 2023F B ik g &1 2l
I RAFERTAEEEEEAREBE K
ARISAERBEBEERET AT H  BE
EEARARBARRSEMEMEAEEHR
MAESHFMEZ MEE  HEHRMBIARS
PR F I A A (A R E AR AR X
&% NETEE AR -

ESERRETHEASREY « HER G RE
FHERNKRE
M2025F3A31H ARREBERESITHRAER
RARESREERAEEE (EERLEBEME
STIEFF KBS G ([FHRBAEEG ] EXV
)RR, BEARORESPHEERIBEES R
HEIEDIEXVEETRSD S E ME AR A &
RINEZRAR (BEREEFREEKGE
MGEXTERBERESIESITRABHEE ER
WEABRANERSIAR) IREELFLYE
16:15) 5535216 B Re AN A B A B & 52 M A0 B9 #E 25
KKR  SRBE FTARBIFTE ERX 54078
MERARRRBRINES AT

(i) Interests in the Company (i) RELGFHHEZ
Interests in ordinary shares % of the
NEERORERS Company’s
Total Total issued
interests in  interests in voting
Personal Family Corporate ordinary  underlying Aggregate shares
Name of directors interests interests interests shares shares interests (Note 1)
{F A
ERTAR
RIER A EY
REEREY  RERRS Bt
ESHE 8 A 2 RiE#ER AT ER EHEE NEREH M 4 Et (B &E1)
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Note 3) 5,400,000 — 81,372,000 86,772,000 500,000  87,272,000(L) 5.43%
KREB LA (HE3)
Mr. Pan Yimin 500,000 — — 500,000 8,600,000 9,100,000(L) 0.57%
EHR KL
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu — — — — 500,000 500,000(L) 0.03%
BEBELE
Dr. Tong Ka Lok 480,000 — — 480,000 500,000 980,000(L) 0.06%
ERLE LT
Mr. Choy Wai Shek Raymond 1,200,000 — — 1,200,000 500,000 1,700,000(L) 0.11%
MH, JP
BERKE

REHE X FHL
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(i)

Note:

The shareholding percentage in the Company is calculated on the basis of
1,606,132,134 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025.

The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares.

The 77,000,000 shares are beneficially held by Jumbo Grand Enterprise
("Jumbo Grand”) and 4,372,000 shares are
beneficially by Excellent Point Asia Limited (“Excellent Point”), Mr. Zhu
Yongjun is the beneficial owner of both Jumbo Grand and Excellent
Point, and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the shares held by
Jumbo Grand and Excellent Point by virtues of the SFO. Mr. Zhu Yongjun

Development Limited

holds a personal interest in options to subscribe for 500,000 Shares and a
personal interest in 5,400,000 Shares.

Interests in the associated corporation

(i)

AR A AR tE I 9 AR 8 7202593 A31H 2 B #
771,606,132,1348 & (9 51 5 ©

FEILERDZHFR -

77,000,000 R mERBREEERBR A

(T85 18)) & &= £ B+ 1 5%4,372,0000% & 1 A m
Excellent Point Asia Limited ([ Excellent Point J) B &
BE - KEFLLEBER KExcellent Point®) B &=
BN FALREZESRAEKRN  HRERSRERR
Excellent PointFf BBV T E RN F B R - REE
Jt 4 R R BE500,0008% A% 1) &Y B8 AR 48 b 7 5 M A H
# v A 745,400,0000% AR 5 H A B A % o

B 16 B % B Y #E 2

% of the issued
voting shares of

Name of directors/chief Name of associated No. of shares associate
executive corporation Capacity/Nature held corporation
HHEBEZEED
ES BERITHAER o] BITARRE
"2 B EEZE 54, HE :gvg S g=| B B S 5 B
Zhu Yongjun Jumbo Grand Interest in controlled 10,000 100%
corporation
KEE g XA E R
Zhu Yongjun Excellent Point Interest in controlled 50,000 100%
corporation
KBE Excellent Point X A R
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025 none of the Directors Br b SCET I B8 & S 720253 A31H -
and chief executives of the Company had any other interests or RARRAZBERZHTHRAERERERT

short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Listing Rules relating to the required standard of dealings by the
directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

S HAEZE(EERBLFRBEBRMIE
XVEL) B E Bt~ MRG0 S ESH %
BREFS LB RO EXVEET RSN H
Eﬁ@ﬁ“ﬂ&%“%%@ﬂﬁ@%\@
KE(REREBEESFRBEGKINBREIKEX
&vﬁmﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁm%ﬁﬁm
B) R EFESHFRAEEDI 3521685
Eﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬂﬁ@%ﬁﬁm
B RBRBEEUEERIATENN LT
AR S AR T R FT R (] H 4
maOkE ©
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Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or Short Position in EFERFERELATIRG RABRAK G ES
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company ®RHHA

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2025, the following {XEEFTAN - 7202593 A318 © TF A+ (I 3E
person (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had ZAAFBEEZEHFSITHAE) R T PEMD S48
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the AN HEAREZS LB EIEFEXVEIE2R
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under 39 EHIEXERAAQTEENERZIAA 5
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were RAREZESRASIENEI6EAQRAEFTE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under ®MERLEMAMERRAR KEZEXEEHRS
Section 336 of the SFO, or who is directly or indirectly interested in 5% M &SREF AR TAIBER TERAEBIMKE D
or more of any class of issued shares carrying rights to vote in all AHBREAS FRENEMABERNDEITRMD%

circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group: A AR
Long positions in the shares of the Company RELGRHIIFE
Approximate
percentage of
shareholdings in
Number of the Company
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held (Note 1)
EEATIRERN
WmaEaLt
&R & 5 % HERGBYEE (FE&E1)
Yuan Heng Group (Note 2) Beneficial owner 159,724,000(L) 9.94%
T EE (5E2) EmBEAA
TFEEERERI)EEABR AR (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 159,724,000(L) 9.94%
corporation

TEEEERCORYDEEBAR QA (M FE2) AR A B

Mr. Lin Jiakuang (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 159,724,000(L) 9.94%
corporation

MR E % & (I E2) SR A B

Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 123,760,000(L) 7.71%
BEBEABREAR AR (FFFE3) E=m#EA A

Notes: B3 -

1. The shareholding percentage in the Company is calculated on the basis of 1. AR A AR tE B 5 AR #8 720259F3A31H 2 B #
1,606,132,134 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025. 171,606,132,1348 19 5T 5 »

2. The 159,724,000 shares are beneficially owned by Yuan Heng Group International 2. 7%159,724,0000% A% 17 B 7T = & AR R A
Co., Limited (“Yuan Heng Group”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of JT ¥ 1> % & 12 (Tt=&B)E=ER  ERtFoEERECRID
CEIN) E£E AR 2 A, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Jiakuang. Mr. Lin Jiakuang EEBRARZEZENBAR  ZAGEAMREL
is deemed to be in all interested in all the shares beneficially owned by Yuan 2 ERAE MREXEBRARELTEREAN

Heng. FraElRhFRER2 = -
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3. Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited is indirectly wholly-owned by Ding Yi Feng
Holdings Group International Limited (formerly known as China Investment Fund
Company Limited), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 612).

4. The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or Short Position
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” above, as at 31 March
2025, no other person was individually and/or collectively entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
general meeting of the Company and was able, as a practical matter, to

direct or influence the management of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules during the Year.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 26
August 2025 to Friday, 29 August 2025 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfers of shares will be registered. To determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company, all transfer
document, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 25
August 2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” above, there is no other significant event after the Reporting
Period of the Group.

3. EAEAREREARAFHSZEEREEBKRE
RAFR(HBFELERSARARBELER
B REANFEERESIMAINARAE KR
1D B AP B (B 5% - 612)

4. FEILIERDZHFR -

BEXEERESTTHRABREG - HERD
MEFNEZIABIREZRENARRRK
DRABRR M R, AR I MR EE
Hh - 72025438318 - EE A T {EBI &,
SIHRBEETEHIEHTEARARAIRERNE5%
SN ENRIE BREBEELEERAITERR
AIEEE -

ARFRENTEEEE
ERARAANAHMEOARRBEFHA
RARE RS RRARKEEN—EEF L
TRAFREH D RIRE -

TEmERMBRERFE

NN B 202598 A268 (£ HiP0) K%202548
A28 (EHR)(PEEEMRN)YEHIERH
BEZLFE  PHETZHERMBPER -
BEEHFARABREAFAGENE ERR
WERN  FTEBRPXHERMBERENAERE
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CHANGE OF AUDITORS £ 5F 1% B AT

BDO Limited (“BDO") has resigned as the auditor of the Company (the &BEVEEXSHMEEMERAE ([ EE
“Auditor”) with effect from 23 April 2025. Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Z DB EARD T XA ([ EA]) » 520254
Limited (“Asian Alliance”) has been appointed as the Auditor with effect 4F23BEAW - AL (BFB) @M EHKHAER
from 28 April 2025 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of 2R &I ([A %)) B EZ T A HE - 52025548
BDO. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 28B4 NEH L EEZH T ENKEEE
2025 have been audited by Asian Alliance who will retire and, being  #t ° #{Z2025F3A318 L FENGRA MK HRE
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re- EHALZERZ EBRIUHTAEREZSET-
appointment as the Auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming annual AR FHREEBRRAFAS ((RREAFAE])
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"). For details, please refer to IR —TERZER  BEEAXHUA - HEE2

the Company’s announcements dated 23 April 2025 and 28 April 2025. B A~ 7] B 81 820254 H23H k202544728
HE QM -

By order of the Board EKEEEGm

New Concepts Holdings Limited BIEEEER)ARAT

Zhu Yongjun KREE

Chairman and Executive Director FEFRHNTEE

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025 7% 2025F6H30H




74

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREABE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the areas
leading to the success of the Company and balancing the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is devoted to
ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles
and practices.

The Company has adopted the compliance manual which sets out the
minimum standard of good practices concerning the general management
responsibilities of the Board with which the Company and the Directors
shall comply and which contains, among other things, the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate

governance.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and Responsibilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises 6 directors (“Directors”),
comprising 2 executive Directors and 4 independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board throughout the Year is as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Pan Yimin

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (resigned on 31 December 2024)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (removed on 11 December 2024)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (retired on 16 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Du Yun

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

The biographical details and responsibilities of the Directors as well as the
senior management are set out in the section “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 38 to 41.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” to this annual report, the Directors

ave no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
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The Board is accountable to shareholders for the Company’s performance
and activities. While the Board is primarily overseeing and managing the
Company’s affairs, the Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the
Board in carrying out its duties. The executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company are delegated with responsibilities in the
day-to-day management of the Company and make operational and
business decisions within the control of and delegation framework of the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors contribute valuable
views and proposals for the Board’s deliberation and decisions.

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least 3 independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise.

At all times during the Year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a written
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is
any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence prior to their respective appointment. The Company has also
received a written confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of their independence for the Year. The
Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors are being
considered to be independent with reference to the factors stated in the
Listing Rules during the Year.

Other matters reserved for the Board include consideration of dividend
policy, approval of major investments, maintenance of an adequate system
of internal controls and review of the corporate governance practices of
the Group. Daily operations and administration are delegated to
management teams.
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Procedure for Seeking Independent Professional Advice by
Directors

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent professional
advice and sufficient resources to Directors and all Board Committees to
assist them to discharge their duties. The Company will consider to
develop a written procedure to enable Directors, and members of all
Board Committees upon reasonable request, to seek and be provided with
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company’s expense.

The Company has subscribed an insurance policy with an aim to indemnify
its Directors from any losses, damages, liabilities and expenses arising
from, including but not limited to, any proceedings brought against them
during the performance of their duties pursuant to their respective services
agreements entered into with the Company.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least 4 times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board
meetings have been held during the Year for approving the acquisitions of
business, finance lease arrangements, change of Directors and change of
company secretary of the Company, etc. Such Board meetings involve the
active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. The Directors make every effort
to contribute to the formulation of policy, decision-making and the
development of the Group's business.

During the Year, a total of 7 Board meetings were held. Various meetings
of the
committee have also been held. The Chairman has had a meeting with
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive

remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit

Directors and non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board/Board Committee/General

Meetings

Below are details of all Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board

committee meetings,
during the Year:

annual and extraordinary general meetings,

held
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Number of Meetings Attended/Held
HE BTEERY

Audit  Nomination Remuneration Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
E¥E ENZRE REZRE FHERE REAE ELeE]
ESia L =k EE L XE xXE
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RBEEE 71 NATEA "M NATEAR M NATER
Mr. Pan Yimin BHREEAE 77 N/A T8 A N/A T3 17 il N/A T
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (resigned on  Z 5 &1 5t 4 (72024 67  NATEA NATER  NATER 1M NATER
31 December 2024) 128318 &)
Non-executive Directors: HHTEE -
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (removed on MK E 5% & (120245 27 NATEAR  NATER  NATEAR M NATER
11 December 2024) RANARESR)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (retired on BESET (K025 177 NATEE  NATER  NATER 01 NATER
16 August 2024) 8A16H ()
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV HHTEE
Ms. Du Yun =&t 77 NAREAR  NATER NATER 171 N/ATER
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BEBEE 77 33 7 17 il ”n
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ERgEL 717 33 11 1/1 171 171
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, /P BERLE  £L8= 717 33 171 1”1 il 171

RF#HL

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending
regular and other board or board committee meetings. Meeting agendas
and other relevant information are provided to the Directors in advance of
board or board committee meetings. All Directors are consulted to include

additional matters in the agenda for such meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable rules

and regulations, are followed.
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Both draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all Directors
for their comment and records. Minutes of board and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any
Director.

All directors are also entitled to have access to board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and quality
sufficient to enable the board to make informed decisions on matters
placed before it. Queries raised by directors shall receive a prompt and full
response by the management.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal
The aforesaid service contracts may be terminated by not less than 3
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company, at least once
every 3 years. Such retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
during the Year.
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Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all Directors
confirmed in writing that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the
Year.

Induction and Continuous Professional Trainings of Directors
Each of the appointed Directors, has received formal, comprehensive and
induction and continuous professional training to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
requirements of the Listing Rules and relevant statutory obligations.

tailored

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2025. During the
Year, Company Secretary has provided the updated materials in relation to
amendments to the Listing Rules during the Year and other rules to the
Directors.
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All Directors have attended the continuous professional development
training and below are details of all Directors’ attendance on training
during the Year.

RAFE 2RBEZC2NFETERREI
TXEINZRBEENHFEFAB -

Reading on regulatory updates
relating to the Listing Rules
and information relevant to

directors’ duties and the
company ordinances

HERMLTRABEERHER
DRESHERAXTHEHIN

HEAEEHER
Executive Directors: HITESE
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KEELEAE Yes &
Mr. Pan Yimin EE R LA Yess®
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (resigned on 15 8 5t A (7R20244
31 December 2024) 12 A31H & 1{T) Yess2
Non-executive Directors: HHITESE -
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (removed on MR E 5t & (1R20244F
11 December 2024) NRANBWESR) —
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (retired on 16 August 2024) EEE 8 1E T (2024F8 A16HE(T) —
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUIHHTESE -
Ms. Du Yun M=zt Yess2
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian EEBELE Yesi2
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EREH L Yessg
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, Jp BEQLE #8255 XFHT+ Yes &
BOARD COMMITTEES EEXEE
Audit Committee EXREEE

The audit committee of the Company was established in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with its written terms of
reference. The latest terms of reference of the audit committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The responsibility of the audit committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling
its audit duties through the review and supervision of the Company’s
financial reporting, risk management and internal control principles and
procedures, and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The
members meet regularly with the external auditor and/or the Company’s
senior management for the review, supervision and discussion of the
Company’s financial reporting, risk management and internal control
procedures and ensure that the management has discharged its duties to
have an effective risk management and internal control systems.

ARBMEZZEGNERLETRAEI2IR
322 WABEEMBERE - RINEX
ZESEMBEEER N AR E KB E L
EH -

ERZEENERENIRPEFEEHIREER
RAMPEER AREERAPEZERI R
BF BITEBZRE URAEREGRHER
R FTE - BB e B BN B AR BB e Sk AR E]
HMEREEAEEM  AEH EERFRAR
AN RR  BEREEIAGEZERF UK
HMREBECBITRLAUERER KA E
ZHERBE -



The composition of the audit committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Dr. Tong Ka Lok (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing auditing firm. Dr. Tong Ka Lok, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed as the chairman of the audit committee.

During the Year, the audit committee held 3 meetings. Details of the
attendance of the members of the audit committee in the said meeting
are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board
Committee/General Meetings” above.
Up to the date of this report,
committee is as follows:

the summary of work of the audit

o met with the external auditors, reviewed and made recommendations
for the Board’s approval on the annual and interim including results
announcement and reports of the Company;

o reviewed and approved audit fee;
o appointment of external auditor;
o recommended the re-appointment of Asian Alliance as auditor, and

approval the remuneration and terms of engagement; and

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control system including the concerned issues raised by
outgoing auditor as stated in the resignation letter and internal audit
function.

Remuneration Committee

The Board established the remuneration committee on 26 August 2014
with written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant CG Code.
The latest written terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The remuneration committee is responsible for, inter alia, formulating and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s emolument
policy and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing such policy. The Board expects the remuneration committee to
exercise independent judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not
participate in the determination of their own remuneration.
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The composition of the remuneration committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP (Chairman)
Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Mr. Pan Yimin

During the Year, the remuneration committee held 1 meeting. Details of
the attendance of the members of the remuneration committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee during the Year is
as follows:

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the Group’'s
remuneration policy and strategy;

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management during

the Year;

o assessed performance of executive directors and approving the terms
of executive directors’ service contract; and

o reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

Nomination Committee

The Board established the nomination committee on 26 August 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant CG Code. As at
the date of this report, the written terms of reference of the nomination
committee have been revised and are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making

identifying

recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-appointment of
Directors.
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The updated composition of the nomination committee is as follows:

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian (Chairman)
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP
Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Zhu Yongjun

Ms. Du Yun (appointed on 30 June 2025)

During the Year, the nomination committee held 1 meeting. Details of the
attendance of the members of the nomination committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the nomination committee during the Year is as
follows:

o reviewed the existing Board’s diversity, structure, size and
composition;
o reviewed and made recommendation on the appointment on

non-executive Directors;

o reviewed and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and
o made recommendation on the retiring Directors at the AGM of the

Company.

Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having diversity in the
composition of the Board and adopted its own board diversity policy on
26 August 2014.

The Company noted that people from different backgrounds and with
different professional and life experience are likely to approach problems
in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse
backgrounds will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and
allow the Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Group. In
determining the Board’'s composition and selection of candidates to the
Board, factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, industry
knowledge and length of service will be considered. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against the selection criteria, having regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board, the business model and specific needs of the
Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board currently has one female Director out of six Directors. Where
the Company considered the overall Board composition (as well as relevant
background and expertise) and the business needs of the Group, it is of
the view that gender diversity of the Board is achieved at this stage.

The Company will continuously seek to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board by maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and
recognising and embracing the benefits of diversity in the boardroom.
Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
31 March 2025:
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On the other hand, while the Group has always been committed to
providing open and equal employment opportunities and platforms and
regards the ability and qualifications of candidates as the most critical
assessment elements in the recruitment process. We also ensure that our
human resources management structure, such as remuneration levels,
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Since (i) certain main businesses of the Group including foundation, and
kitchen waste treatment, etc., the professionals who take relevant courses
are mainly male, and (ii) the front-line technical staff of the project
companies require high manual labour and shift work, as a result, the
applicants are mainly male, rather than the Group deliberately not hiring
female front-line technical staff. Of the approximately 439 employees
(including Directors and senior management) of the Group as at 31 March
2025, 89 are female employees which accounted for 20.3% of the total
number of employees. Accordingly, the Company considers that gender
diversity is also achieved in its workforce generally. In addition, the Group
has taken measures to promote diversity at all levels of its workforce.
Training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Details of the Group’s gender ratio are
set out in the Company's ESG report for the Year published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee has monitored the implementation of the board
diversity policy since its adoption, and also reviewed it to ensure its
effectiveness and concluded that no revision to the policy is required at
the last nomination committee meeting held.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination
policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and review the same
regularly. The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to identify candidates
who are suitable to become a member of the Board and to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates nominated
for directorships. The Board shall be composed of members with balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish
the Group’s business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience, number of directorship in other
listed/public companies and independent non-executive
Directors, the number of years they have already served. According to the
nomination procedure, the Nomination Committee is responsible for
identifying potential new Directors and recommends to the Board for

in case of

decision. The appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association,
the Main Board Listing Rules and the Nomination Policy.
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Corporate Governance Function

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the corporate governance
practices of the Company with reference to Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. The summary of their work during the Year is as follows:

o developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

o reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and the

Directors; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Emolument Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure the fairness and
competitiveness of total remuneration. The emoluments of executive
Directors are determined based on the skills,
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and
accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration the Company’s
performance and prevailing market conditions. The remuneration policy of
non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors is to
ensure that they are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs including their participation in
respective Board committees. Their emoluments are determined with
reference to their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends.

knowledge, individual

The details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11 of
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The band of
the emoluments of senior management personnel and related number of
members of senior management personnel are as follows:
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
Financial Statements for the Year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group in accordance with the statutory
requirements and accounting standards and other financial disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules. The financial results of the Group are
announced in a timely manner in accordance with statutory and/or
regulatory requirements.

The statement by auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in
the independent auditor’s report on pages 97 to 102.

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

BDO Limited (“BDO") has resigned as the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) with effect from 23 April 2025. Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited (“Asian Alliance”) has been appointed as the Auditor with effect
from 28 April 2025 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
BDO. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by Asian Alliance. The fee in respect of audit
services provided by Asian Alliance for the Year were as follows:
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HK$'000

FHET

Audit services in relation to annual results FHAE2FEENBEZRS 1,850
The audit committee has expressed its views to the Board that the level of TR ZEECREEECR I~ ERALKQFMF

fees paid/payable to the Company to the Company’s external auditor for
annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no major disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the Company during the
Year.
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INTERNAL CONTROL REVIEW IN RESPONSE TO
CONCERNS RAISED BY THE OUTGOING AUDITOR
AS STATED IN THE RESIGNATION LETTER
Background

According to the Company’s announcement dated 23 April 2025, BDO
Limited (“BDO") resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from
23 April 2025 as the Company and BDO could not reach a consensus on
the audit fee for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. As referred to
in BDO's resignation letter, BDO considered the removal of Mr. Lin Jia
Kuang (“Mr. Lin”) as a non-executive Director of the Company and the
news about Ding Yi Feng Holdings Group International Limited (the “Ding
Yi Feng”), the Company's second-largest shareholder during the year
ended 31 March 2025 might indicate increased audit risks and more
extensive significant internal control deficiencies audit work, resulting in an
increase in audit fee significantly. The Company noticed that Ding Yi Feng
reduced its shareholding from approximately 7.71% to approximately
4.57% on 1 April 2025. Following the disposal, this shareholder is no
longer the second-largest shareholder of the Company. It was also noted
that Mr. Sui Guangyi (“Mr. Sui”), a substantial shareholder of Ding Yi
Feng, was allegedly involved in market manipulation of Ding Yi Feng's
shares (Stock Exchange code: 612) between 1 March 2018 and 14
September 2018. Mr. Sui has resigned as Honorary Chairman and non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 28 February 2024.

The Company’s management has affirmed that neither Mr. Lin nor Ding Yi
Feng were involved in the daily operations of the Group during the Year.
To address the concerns raised by BDO and to enhance transparency, the
Company has engaged PRO-WIS Risk Advisory Services Limited in May
2025 as its independent internal control consultant (the “IC Consultant”)
to conduct the following internal control review (the “Internal Control
Review"), covering the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the
“Review Period”)

Scope and Procedures of the Internal Control Review

The Review was conducted with the objective of
assessing: (A) whether Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin were involved in the daily
operations and management of the Group during the Review Period; and

Internal Control

(B) whether any significant internal control deficiencies were identified with
respect to the Group’s financial reporting practices.
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Assessment of Involvement in Daily Operations and
Management

To evaluate the involvement of Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin in the Group’s
day-to-day operations and management during the Review Period,
the IC Consultant performed the following procedures:

o Developed a structured questionnaire to enquire any
participation by Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin in the Group’s operations.
Based on the questionnaire, interviews were conducted with
members of the Company’'s board of directors and selected
department heads of key operational units to assess any
involvement by Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin. The interviews also aimed
to identify whether any transactions had occurred between the
Group and Ding Yi Feng Group (including its principal
subsidiaries).

o Obtained and examined sampling accounting records and
supporting documents related to the Group’s core business
activities in order to evaluate the presence of Mr. Sui and Mr.
Lin in areas such as revenue, procurement, cash management,
and financial reporting processes.

o Selected and reviewed samples of approved contracts and
payment documentation processed during the Review Period to
assess whether Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin were involved in the
approval workflows.

o Reviewed the minutes of board meetings to verify any
participation by Mr. Sui and Mr. Lam in the routine operations
of the Group.

J Reviewed bank account authorization setting of the Company
and selected subsidiaries to assess whether Mr. Sui and Mr.
Lam were involved in any banking activities, including
transaction approvals.
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Evaluation of Financial Reporting Matters

To identify any significant internal control deficiencies concerning
the financial reporting practices of the Company and selected
subsidiaries, the IC Consultant undertook the following procedures:

o Collected and reviewed pertinent sampling documents, such as
the Group’s internal control manual, contractual agreements,
financial statements, internal approval records, and evidence of
payments and receipts.
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. Conducted interviews with the relevant management and . HABEBERVBEBEBETH
finance teams to gain insights into the adequacy and o AR ABR R AN B I E MY B

implementation of the Company and selected subsidiaries’
financial reporting controls.

Summary of Key Findings of the Internal Control Review
Based on the assessment conducted by the IC Reviewer:

(A)

Based on the work conducted, IC Reviewer do not aware there is
evidence indicating that Mr. Sui and Mr. Lin were involved in the
daily operations or management of the Group during the Review
Period. This
contracts, or payments. Furthermore, no transactions were identified

includes, the approval of business transactions,
between the Group and the Ding Yi Feng Group during the review

period.

The review found three internal control deficiencies: (i) inadequate
segregation of controls over the Group’s seals, (ii) the cashier
concurrently performing cost accounting duties, including voucher
review, and (iii) the absence of related-party list and inadequate
policies for controlling related-party transaction. No other material
in the Company and
selected subsidiaries’ financial reporting practices.

internal control deficiencies were noted
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Opinion of the Audit Committee and the Board EZZEEREETENER

The Audit Committee has thoroughly reviewed the Internal Control Review E#XZE S HMEHABEZXER RS (R
Report (the “IC Review Report”). Following careful deliberation, the BFEZIEZERIMHE]) - KBEEEEZ TESHEE
Committee believes that the findings and conclusions set out in the IC AR EEEMREMANBEMERESAEM
Review Report are reasonable and acceptable. As such, the Audit FRIETH -FHAl BEXZZESEEZZESRANR

Committee

recommends that the Board adopt the findings and

recommendations of the Internal Control Review.

The Board has also reviewed the IC Review Report and concurs that the IC

Review Report adequately addresses the concerns raised by BDO in its
resignation letter. The IC Review Report has been submitted to the Asian
Alliance for further consideration, and they have not identified any

material irregularities that need to draw attention of the Company on

hese aspects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and committed to the maintenance
of good corporate governance, practices and procedures of the Group. The
Board also admitted the effectiveness of the existing risk management and
internal control systems during the Year. However, such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve
business objective, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Group has established
its risk management and internal control department to perform the
internal audit function and to conduct an risk assessment and an internal
control review on an annual basis and make recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the risk management and internal
control systems, the scope of review has covered the period from 1 April
2024 to 31 March 2025. The results of the internal control review has
been submitted to the Audit Committee.

Effectiveness

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating, determining,
establishing and maintaining an effective risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness to
safeguard the Company’s assets and the shareholders’ interests. During the
Year, the Board and the audit committee of the Company have conducted
a review on the effectiveness of Group’s risk management and internal

control systems.

The Board has overseen the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
has reviewed the effectiveness on the Group’s certain policies during the
Year.

The Board identified and evaluated the risks and analysed the core risks
within the Group to mitigate related risks arising from the existing
operations after evaluating its risk management and internal controls
systems.

The key risk management and internal control procedures of the Company
are as follows:

1. determine the scope, identify the risks and compile a list of such risks;

2. evaluate and prioritise the risks based on the possible financial loss
and impact on operating efficiency, sustainability and reputation;

3. identify the risk control measures against major risks, conduct internal
control assessments of the design and implementation of such
measures, and formulate measures to improve any defect;
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4. review and evaluate the risk management and internal control systems
on an ongoing basis and ensure the constant improvement of the
risk management system; and

5. report to the Board and Audit Committee on the risks identified
including strategic, operational, financial, ESG, reporting and
compliance risks and its changes during the Year.

The Board confirmed that the Group’s risk management and internal
controls systems were acceptable and there was no material
non-compliance or failures located but various areas for
improvement have been identified during the Year. Certain remedial
measures have been and will be taken to strengthen the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.

issues

The Group reviewed the effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control systems at least annually. The Board and the audit committee also
considered that the key areas of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting are reasonably conducted and implemented.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE-BLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established (i) policy and measures that promote and
support anti-corruption and bribery regulations; (ii)
whistle-blowing policy and measures for those who deal with the Group,
such as its employees, customers and suppliers to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee about possible

laws and and

improprieties in any matter related to the Group. For further details of the
Group's anti-corruption and bribery policy, and whistleblowing policy and/
or measures, please refer to the Company's ESG report for the Year
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy aiming
to provide a general guide to the directors and senior management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information by publication of the
announcement to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on a timely basis to enable the public, namely shareholders, institutional
investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the Company to

~access the latest information of the Group, unless such information fall

ithin the safe harbours under the SFO.
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Briefing and training on the implementation of the disclosure policy have
been provided to Directors and senior management of the Group.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain responsibilities
are delegated to various board committees which have been established by
the Board to deal with different aspects of the Company’s affairs. Unless
otherwise specified in their respective written terms of reference as
approved by the Board, these board committees are governed by the
Company’s articles of association as well as the Board’s policies and
practices (in so far as the same are not in conflict with the provisions
contained in the articles of association).

With the establishment of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee, the independent non-executive Directors will
be able to effectively devote their time to perform the duties required by
the respective board committees.

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing its
strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management of the
Company under the leadership of the Chairman and board of directors.
Clear guidance has been made as to the matters that should be reserved
to the Board for its decision which include matters on, inter alia, capital,
finance and financial reporting, internal controls, communication with
shareholders, Board membership, delegation of authority and corporate
governance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary has been a full time employee who has
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The appointment of the current
Company Secretary was approved by the Board in December 2024. The
Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters. For the year under review,
the Company Secretary has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year pursuant to the
relevant training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The updated version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association (the “M&A") was available on the Company’s website and on
the Stock Exchange’s website respectively and there is no changes made to
the M&A during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way by Which Shareholders Can Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting (“EGM")/Put Forward Proposal

According to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of
one or more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one- tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

reasonable expenses incurred by the

Article 113 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person, other than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or
at the registration office. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting
and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a person
other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at the Company'’s
general meeting, he/she should attend the following:

° Prepare a notice in writing of his/her intention to propose a person
for election as a Director.

o The person proposed for election as a Director shall also prepare a
notice in writing of his/her willingness to be elected.

o Such notices shall be lodged at the head office of the Company at
Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or at the address of Tricor Investor
Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No.
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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J The period for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days.

The relevant procedures are set out in the circular to the shareholders
which is sent together with this annual report and the Company’s website
at http://www.primeworld-china.com.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company at our head office in Hong
Kong at Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or by email through the Company’s website at
http://www.primeworld-china.com.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company endeavors to maintain effective communications with the
shareholders and potential investors of the Company.

The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. The policy will be reviewed regularly to
ensure effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory and
other requirements. A summary of Shareholders’ Communication Policy is
set out as below:

Shareholders’ Communication Policy
The Group has established several
communication with shareholders and potential investors through emails,
conference calls, one-on-one meetings and non-deal roadshows, to ensure
that its shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready, equal

channels and maintained close

and timely access to balanced and understandable information and updates
about the Company for exercising their rights in an informed manner
and engaging actively with the Company. Save as mentioned under the
sub-heading “The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board”
in order to provide more relevant information to our shareholders, the
Company has published all corporate information about the Group on

above,

its website at http://www.primeworld-china.com. It is a channel of the
Company to communicate with the shareholders and potential investors
with our latest corporate development. All our corporate communications,
such as statutory announcement, circular, financial reports are available on
the website for easy access by the shareholders and potential investors. In
addition, the Company meets its shareholders at the annual general meeting
so as to promote the development of the Company through mutual and

efficient communications.
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The Board has conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy of the Company,
and concluded that the policy was implemented effectively during the Year
under review.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company aims to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient
capital to develop and operate the business of the Group and rewarding
the shareholders of the Company. According to the dividend policy of the
Company, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Company shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors:

actual

the Group’s operating results,

performance;

and expected financial
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group;

the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

the Group’s expected working capital requirements,
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

capital

the Group's liquidity position;

general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group;
and

any other factors that the Company may deem appropriate and
relevant.

Such declaration and payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws of the Cayman
Islands, any applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles of
Association of the Company. Any declaration and payment of future
dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board's
determination that the same would be in best interests of the Group and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on 29
August 2025. At the AGM, the chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit
committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees shall attend to answer questions from shareholders at the
annual general meeting. The representatives of the external auditor shall
also present and available to answer questions at the meeting.

The notice of AGM and the necessary information on issues to be

~considered in the AGM will be set out in the circular to be dispatched to

~ the shareholders of the Company in due course.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

/ AR(EB)SHAEEFAERAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
BIKRE (Zk) ARAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Concepts
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 255, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 in the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$80,707,000 during the year ended
31 March 2025 and, as of that date, the Company’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$44,757,000. These events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section,
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

we have

Impairment assessment of trade and retention receivables,
deposits and other receivables, loan receivables and receivables
and contract assets under service concession arrangements
under expected credit loss model

Refer to Notes 18(b), 18(c), 24, 25 and 26 of the consolidated financial
statements and material accounting policy information on Notes 3.2.

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amount of trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan
receivables and receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements was HK$345,646,000 which represented approximately 29%
of the Group’s total assets. An impairment assessment is performed by
management at the end of the reporting period.

The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to the
significance of the carrying amounts as a whole and significant estimates
involved in determining the future cash flows from such deposits and
receivables based on, among others, the ageing of these deposit and
receivable balances, customers’ and debtors’ creditworthiness, past
repayment history and historical write-off experience.
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Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan
receivables and receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements included:

o Assessing the methodologies and inputs adopted by the management
of the Group in estimating the expected credit loss (“ECL") of trade
and receivables, deposits and other receivables,

receivables and contract assets under service

concession arrangements;

retention loan

receivables and

o Considering whether any debtor or group of debtors was experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; and

o Reviewing subsequent settlements of the trade and retention

receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan receivables and

under service concession

receivables and contract assets

arrangements.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 21 June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the

other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other is materially
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit

information inconsistent with the
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chan Mei Mei

Practising Certificate Number: P08148

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AeREaREMEERE R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z
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2025 2024
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B = F#T T T
Revenue A 5 929,235 628,236
Cost of sales $H 6 B AN (870,246) (567,145)
Gross profit £ F 58,989 61,091
Other income and gains, net b Y2 A R W 55 0F BR 7 11,022 81,744
Impairment losses under expected credit  TEE{z B B8 X B TRE
loss model, net of reversal B8 - kR E 10 (35,217) (1,805)
Administrative expenses 1T 2 (110,962) (97,160)
Share of results of associates DG E QAR EE (4,073) (116)
Finance costs B 75 ik AN 9 (12,469) (11,970)
(Loss) profit before tax k&A1 (B E) & 7 8 (92,710) 31,784
Income tax credit Fr 8 T E & 13 2,875 277
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F£ M (E518) & F (89,835) 32,061
(Loss) profit for the year UTALEEER
attributable to: (E518) itz F :
Owners of the Company KATHER A (80,707) 2,863
Non-controlling interests JEHE R #E = (9,128) 29,198
(89,835) 32,061
HK cents # 1l HK cents &1l
(Loss) earnings per share attributable to AA T H A EESR
the owners of the Company: (BE) & : 15
Basic H A (5.02) 0.18
Diluted i (5.02) 0.18
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reBakEMmeEmlak

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#IT F& T
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hih2HEMAX
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently EZ A EH D EEBEFN
to profit or loss HA :
Exchange differences on translation of BMANBEEBNEL =5
foreign operations (1,453) (26,077)
Share of other comprehensive expense of 7 {f Bt & A A] H ft 2 A
associates, net of income tax X MBREAEH (304) =
Other comprehensive expenses for the year, F R E fth & 5 sz © K
net of income tax FTiS®i (1,757) (26,077)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE) FR2E (X)) KREE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (91,592) 5,984
(Loss) profit for the year FREBRLUT (BE)
attributable to: W 25 :
Owners of the Company KAREAB A (82,252) (20,986)
Non-controlling interests I 22 AR A = (9,340) 26,970
(91,592) 5,984
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR &

At 31 March 2025 R202543/31H

2025 2024
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B =% FTET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M HERF 16 97,112 108,082
Investment properties REME 17 163,302 56,413
Operating concessions KRR RE 18(a) 251,586 251,660
Other intangible assets Hih & E 19 1,144 1,783
Receivables under service concession RF ST A E 2 HEFE R IR
arrangements 18(b) 48,384 51,143
Contract assets under service concession  HFFEEELH AN EE
arrangements 18(c) 40,249 40,329
Investments in associates REtERAMRE 21 90,560 91,686
Loan receivables ERER 26 — 9,239
Prepayments, deposits and other TR I ~ e & H b fE IR
receivables IA 25 95,907 131,321
Retention receivables FEWIRE & 24 28,516 11,022
816,760 752,678
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories FE 22 5,013 8,915
Contract assets AEHEE 23 — 54,170
Trade and retention receivables BoREERERERRES 24 151,987 110,960
Receivables under service concession FRET A8 & i e BE R EIR
arrangements 18(b) 10,126 10,153
Prepayments, deposits and other AR FRIE - e R HE At fE U
receivables TRIE 25 102,451 99,963
Loan receivables & W & X 26 9,703 29,876
Tax recoverable A Yz [B] £¢ 18 378 33
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEFEEY 28 115,170 37,321
394,828 351,391
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE
Contract liabilities EHEaE 23 — 9,430
Trade and retention payables BSRNABERENRE S 29 173,582 147,532
Other payables and accruals EMENRELESER 30 180,035 83,251
Lease liabilities HE&E 35 3,563 5,402
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #t 2 817 & H i & & 31 82,405 54,008
Bonds &5 32 — 37,761
439,585 337,384
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (AR EEFHE (44,757) 14,007
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEERRHER
LIABILITIES 772,003 766,685
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B MR R

At 31 March 2025 R2025F3H31H

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Amounts due to related parties JE 1) B8 Bék 5 5RIE 27 206,460 164,891
Retention payables ERIRE & 29 21,911 12,254
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #2817 & H & & 31 150,394 98,226
Provision B 33 5,463 6,076
Lease liabilities HEBRE 35 — 3,855
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFHEEE 34 10,120 14,904
394,348 300,206
NET ASSETS BEEFE 377,655 466,479
EQUITY B
Share capital [N 36 160,613 160,613
Reserves Gk 159,154 238,638
Equity attributable to owners SEBRAREHEEAN
of the Company 1 = 319,767 399,251
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR #E 2 38 57,888 67,228
TOTAL EQUITY EimgE 377,655 466,479

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 255 were approved £ 103ZE 2558 FT & 2 45 & B 15 3 & 1A 202546 A
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and 30B&ES=g# /ARRETZE THUTESE

are signed on its behalf by: REREZ:
Zhu Yongjun Pan Yimin
KEBE BHR

Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

TRRATES HWITES



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025%3H31H 1F F/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

GERARARAA
Share Share  Conversion  Exchange Non-
Share premium Merger option option  fluctuation ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
RE BOEER  ANEE BRERE S0EGRE EIRDRE  2HER & FERER  BEaAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TR
(Note (a))  (Note (b)) (Note ()~ (Note (d))
Bt (a) B3t (b) i) Bt
At 1 April 2023 M2023%54A18 150,719 717,955 14,000 7,068 624 (5919) (525,070) 359,377 46,627 406,004
Profit for the year FREF — — — = = = 2,863 2,863 29,198 32,061
Other comprehensive expense FREMZARS :
for the year:
ltem that may be subsequently RERIEHFFZEm
redassified to profit or loss: FE
Exchange differences arising from BEREHNELZR
translation — — — — — (23,849) — (23,849) (2,228) (26,077)
Total comprehensive income (expense) A2 E N (F%) @8
for the year = = = = - (23,849) 2,863 (20,986) 26,970 5,984
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 42 3EHERRE %5
(Note 38) (FfzE38) - - - - - 140 3,700 3,840 (45687)  (41847)
Capital contribution from other EtFEnREaRRIE
shareholder of non-controlling (Hi&38)
interest (Note 38) — — — — — — — — 39,318 39318
Issue of equity-settled share options ~ ETHEREZRERE
(Note 37) (Bi337) = = = 9,988 = - - 9,988 - 9,988
Issue of shares (Note 36) R (HE36) 5,764 24,512 - - - - - 30,276 - 30276
Lapse of share options (Note 37) SRR R (R a37) = = = (368) = = 368 = = =
Equity component of convertible bonds ~ REAETH TRREH K
issued during the year ERHH - - - - 18,386 - - 18,386 = 18,386
Redemption of convertible bonds BRTARES — - — - (9,193) — — (9,193) — (9,193)
Debt conversion rights exercised i EEERE 3,087 9,912 - - (9,817) - - 3,182 - 3,18
Issue of shares upon exercise of fikBREXETRE
share options (Note 37) (Kizk37) 1,043 5,519 — (2,181) — — — 4,381 = 4,381
At 31 March 2024 2024534318 160,613 757,898 14,000 14,507 — (29,628) (518,139) 399,251 67,228 466,479
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

-~ R
e

B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

GERAATHFA
Share Share  Exchange Non-
Share  premium Merger option  fluctuation Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Bx BRHRER AHEE BRERE EXRBEE  RiBH ax FEREs  BLEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note (a))  (Note (b))  (Note (d))
K () R (b) B & ()
At 1 April 2024 1202454818 160,613 757,898 14,000 14,507 (29,628) (518,139) 399,251 67,228 466,479
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (80,707) (80,707) (9,128) (89,835)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMEZENE:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to ERIEHFEZ Erh)
profit or foss: Bq
Exchange differences arising from translation BEEEMELZE - - - - (1,241) - (1,241) (212) (1,453)
Share of other comprehensive expense of associates, ~ HEBEERFAEM2ERY
net of income tax NBHAEH - - - - (304) - (304) - (304)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year, net of FREBZERY -
income tax NBAEH - - - - (1,545) - (1,545) (212) (1,757)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2EREE - - - - (1,545) (80,707) (82,252) (9,340) (91,592)
Lapse of share options (Note 37) BEREL R (M E37) - - - (4,408) - 4,408 - - -
Forfeited of share options (Note 37) BB R (M 37) - - - (5,530) - 5,530 - - -
Recognition of equity-settled share based payment BANEREEHURA
expenses (Note 37) EEENET
(W3$37)) - - - 2,768 - - 2,768 — 2,768
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3R318 160,613 757,898 14,000 1331 (31,173) (588,908) 319,767 57,888 377,655
Notes: b=
(a) Merger reserve (a) GO
The merger reserve represents the share capital of New Concepts Foundation AP EBIEARRRINR2014F8ARBEBMEHAKE
Limited acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in August BRI E B R QAR o
2014.
(b) Share option reserve (b) HE S A
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which ERERELEERLEERMRITEEREND T
are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for B iR S B % R MY 55320 3 DA AR 19 /5 2 B
share-based payments in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements. The XATEFRIBE A B & 5 BUORE — SRt o ZRIEAS
amount will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related A B IR AT R S B IR s B BR S 4R
options are exercised or be transferred to accumulated loss should the related 7 B AR M R s AR IR R B E BT RSB o
options expire or be forfeited.
() Conversion option reserve (o) I i% W (5
Conversion option reserve represents amount of proceeds on issue of convertible MR EFEEETHERERS BIEEEER AR
bonds notes relating to the equity component (i.e. option to convert the debt into AOBRE) EENATRRESNASRESE -
share capital).
(d) Exchange fluctuation reserve (d) & 5, 5% 8 % 5

Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign currency exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

EXRBFERERENBEEWBRRAES
MMBEMNEER Z8 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025%3H31H 1F F/Z

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F# T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEEE
(Loss) profit before tax B AT (B 18) )& A (92,710) 31,784
Adjustments for: BATEEELAE :
Finance costs B 75 B AR 12,469 11,970
Bank interest income ;AT B M A (7) (142)
Interest income from loan receivables FE W B R F B A — (1,809)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, LEME BEREKED
plant and equipment E1E (Yeas) 32 (367)
Loss on written-off of property, MEEZE - BB RERED
plant and equipment i 1,738 —
Changes in fair value of investment properties WEMERNFEEZS 818 (5,594)
Share of results of associates DIGHEE QR A 4,073 116
Provision of major overhaul NEREAE — 777
Loss (gain) on a lease modification EREE 2 EE (W) 43 (69)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME--REREETE 25,271 24,154
Amortisation of operating concessions 4% N R R B 5,748 5,349
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & E i 924 491
Gain on capital contribution by patented 7 iR B F Al A B = A A
technologies to an associate & K W= — (52,946)
Expected credit loss (“ECL”) on financial TRMREHNEENTEH
and contract assets, net EEEB(EHREE
Bl RE 35,217 1,805
Written-off of retention receivables JE U R B2 & 1 35 4,225 —
Equity-settled share option expense NEREENERERS 2,768 9,988
Written-off of other receivables H b 8 U R TE i 8 4,338 —
Impairment loss on consideration shares RAB IR 10 5k (B /&5 18 3,759 —
Operating cash flows before movements in EESPHANEERS
working capital = 8,706 25,507
Increase in inventories FEEIN (937) (848)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEERDGEM) 55,253 (18,780)
Increase in trade and retention receivables B EBARERERKRE S
90 (67,874) (20,089)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other TR RIE - 2 e K H thEI
receivables FIE 0 (39,466) (35,207)
Decrease in receivables under service T A W 2 BE R I EIR
concession arrangements VL 1,466 2,310
Decrease in contract assets under service B ERTHETHEN
concession arrangements BERD 116 1,662
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BHEECRD) N (9,430) 8,714
Increase in trade and retention payables B ENREREMMRER
el 35,658 36,868
Increase (decrease) in other payables and accruals — E 4 & 1+ 28 & g 51 & F
i ING ) 56,313 (31,857)
Decrease in maintenance provision HAERER D (1,263) (815)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Cash used in operations CEFRANRE 38,542 (32,535)
Income tax paid BB AT (2,402) (1,214)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES HETHANRESER 36,140 (33.749)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Interest received B A 2 7 1,951
Payment for operating concessions 4R T R S 3R (2,632) (16,521)
Purchase of other intangible asset BEAEMELEE (291) (1,049)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BEIEE (13,060) (2,618)
Payments for project cost for Guoyang project SRS IE B MIE B KA
(defined in note (18)) (FE#& R IEE(18)) (634) (5,594)
Decrease for project cost for Yixing project WA EREERIEER KA
(defined in note (7)) (F& RM&E®7)) — 536
Payments for project cost for Shanxi project SATILFEIE B /918 B KA
(defined in note (18)) (% RKIzE(18)) (1,951) —
Acquisition of an associate W g — KBk & A 7 (2,167) —
Payment for construction of acquisition of BHRWEBREMENK
investment properties (40,138) (29,676)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME  BERRZEMS
equipment KIA 5 2,601
Repayment from loan receivables JE W & R 58 3K — 802
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREZHMANRESFERE (60,861) (49,568)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITIRH TS RIA — 42,651
Proceeds from issuance of share options BITHIREMSHRIE — 4,381
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling interests 4 B 3 22 A% 4 &5 1 3% — (3,261)
Proceeds from new bank and other borrowings FZRIT R EMEERE
Q] 134,168 59,462
Repayments of bank and other borrowings EEBRTMEMEES (34,067) (68,352)
Repayments of capital element of lease liabilities (EEAEEBBENE AT H (5.209) (5,143)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEAGENF S (571) (810)
Interest paid 2R E (11,274) (11,125)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITES B KIA — 17,761
Repayment of bonds BEES (21,927) —
Proceeds from (repayments to) amounts due to FE 15 BB 5 BB FT 1S 5K IR
related parties (1832 e 1 FA Bk 5 3R 18) 41,569 (30,536)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T T T

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHRENRLTE 102,689 5,028

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND HE&RBEE£EEMEM

CASH EQUIVALENTS (mD)iFEE 77,968 (78,289)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FYVNREREEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 37,321 134,540

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE

SMEEEEEBHRBFR

CHANGES, NET (119) (18,930)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END f$XKHIRERIFASZEY

OF THE YEAR 115,170 37,321
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRREEBEBYEGIN

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents HeRkREEEY 115,170 37,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3/H31H it F/&

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

New Concepts Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered offices is Windward 3 Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is Office B, 3/F, Kingston International
Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), whose functional currency is
Renminbi (“RMB"), the functional currency of the Group is HK$.

The Group was principally engaged in construction works and
environmental protection.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the

first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual

period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to Hong Kong
Accounting Standards
("HKAS") 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

—REH
BlEEBEER)ERAATARFD R
RHAESHEEMKRINBER QA - &EL
BE b HE AWindward 3 Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands ° 2N R A &) £ 2 & 3£ 0 2h
BEBNEERRIEN S F EREF D
3BE -

B £2025F3H310 It FE MR A 15 R
RBEARARENBAR (GEAIAE
ERANEBABERNR 2 2S5
BB EABIT (BT 25 - BRRF
EARLME ([FRE]DKZHHE QR
HENgeEBRARBE(TARBD N KAE
ERNeEEAEET -

AEEFERERETRIRRES -

ARARBRONRBBBMERZAERRQA
(MB 22 )) ERET ©

FEF#E] R AEEERT HEMIER
HEAIZEA
NAFEERTE R EETEEBUBR
HHER =5 #ER

REAFE AEBERREUGEVBEHREE
BARERAATHEESFMAS([BEE
FRAE]) BHBKEII RS EREE
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REBMBRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of
cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments
to the counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify
that covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the covenants, the
carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying
with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments in
the current year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE WIS R MY A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. FERA#:T REIETE EMER

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued) HEAFTELE
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in E fE (B 5 R E B T REBETEE
issue but not yet effective MEsmEENZHER
The Group has not early applied the following new and REBWARRZEEAUTEEMERRE
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued MO ET R ERT B R B RS L g5t
but are not yet effective: A8
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the BREMBREER SMITESBERE
and HKFRS 7 Classification and FORRBEABTLE =EMBE
Measurement of Financial s R B TR
Instruments? ({&&TA0)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature BERAMBRELER KBEAEREE
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity? FIRREATLE BHHEL3
5 A B B 79%
({BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEAVBREER REFEABRLED
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FIRERBEG AEEREZ
Associate or Joint Venture' TR 2855 fEl B9 & B HH & 3k
({EETA) EBE
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS BREMBREER BEVBHRSEL
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — SEERETAR B EANFE
Volume 113 B — £1186°
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BB ERIFE21 BRZ AN R
55 (B R A)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BAMBRELR BBEBMEOHE R
Financial Statements? F185% 5 B8
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BEEMBMEER FEAKITEML
Accountability: Disclosures 1958 M B A~ 7] B B2 R
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. L REEB R ZERABNFEEHMAER -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 M2025F1A1B sk 2 BB FE B\ EE
e
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. E M20265F 1 A1B sk 2 &R A H F E B A &
B o
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. 8 M2027F1A1B k2 BB FE B EE
e
Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting BRIl REET B A BRESE
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company (the AlgstZASN RARES(EE]) B
“Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other new and FERFTE XM REETRBM B RS
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material RS ERNA] R AR & iR E 5
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable WMEEKEATLE -

future.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

Presentation of Financial

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The Directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group reported
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$80,707,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$44,757,000. These events and conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and thus, the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The Directors have given careful consideration to future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources. Certain measures have been taken to manage its
liquidity needs and to improve its financial position which
includes but not limited to:

o On 20 June 2025, the Group has obtained a standby
facilities of up to HK$40 million from a money lender
company incorporated in Hong Kong. This money lender
company is wholly-owned by a director of a subsidiary
of the Group. The Group has drawn down of HK$20
million on 26 June 2025 and will mature in June 2027.
The standby loan facilities cover a period up to
September 2027;

° The Group continues to implement cost-saving initiatives
and enhance operational efficiency in order to improve
profitability and future operating cash flows;

o The Group will consider raising additional capital through
fundraising activities as necessary to support its
operations;
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

o Active negotiations are ongoing with existing lenders to
renew loan agreements and revise financial covenants as
part of refinancing arrangements. Subsequent to the
reporting date, certain lenders with the loan amounts of
approximately HK$24,273,000 agreed to extend the
repayment period over one year but not exceeding two
years;

o The Group is engaging with creditors to seek extensions
of repayment terms; and

o Efforts are being made to expedite the collection of
outstanding receivables and implement strategies aimed
at improving revenue and overall financial performance.

The Directors have reviewed a cash flow projection prepared
by management, covering a period of not less than twelve
months from 31 March 2025. Having considered the above
plans and measures, the Directors are of the view that the
Group will be able to generate sufficient working capital to
support its operations and meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due in the next twelve months from the
end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors believe
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure of the Group to
obtain sufficient future funding. Should the Group be unable
to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets
of the Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
fact and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtain
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling Total comprehensive
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling if this in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

interests. income of

interests even results

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements under
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates. Changes in net assets of the associates other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

results and assets and liabilities of associate are

investment in associate is initially
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
regarded as initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of

the fair value is its fair value on
the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interest in associates

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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124 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient,
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the
value of the Group's performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

if the Group has a right to

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the expected value method/the most likely
amount, which better predicts the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Variable consideration (continued)

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances present
at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Service concession arrangements

Consideration given by the grantor

A financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the Group
has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor
for the construction services; and (b) the grantor has little, if
any, discretion to avoid payment, usually because the
agreement is enforceable by law. The Group has an
unconditional right to receive cash if the grantor contractually
guarantees to pay the Group (a) specified or determinable
amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between amounts received
from users of the public service and specified or determinable
amounts, even if the payment is contingent on the Group
ensuring that the infrastructure meets the specified quality of
efficiency requirements. The financial asset (receivable under a
service concession arrangement) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for loans and receivables
under “Financial assets” below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the
extent that the Group receives a right to charge users of the
public service, which is not an unconditional right to receive
cash because the amounts are contingent on the extent that
the public uses the service. The intangible asset (operating
concession) is accounted for in accordance with the policy set
out for “Intangible assets” below.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Service concession arrangements (continued)
Consideration given by the grantor (continued)

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, in which
case, each component of the consideration is accounted for
separately and the consideration received or receivable for
both components shall be recognised initially at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable.

Construction or upgrade services

Revenue and costs relating to construction or upgrade services
are accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
“Construction revenue” in Note 5(ii).

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for “Operational income”
in Note 5(ii). Costs for operating services are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Contractual obligations to restore the infrastructure to a
specific level of serviceability

The Group has contractual obligations which it must fulfil as a
condition of its license, that is (a) to maintain the kitchen
waste treatment plants it operates to a specified level of
serviceability; and/or (b) to restore the plants to a specified
condition before they are handed over to the grantor at the
end of the service concession arrangement. These contractual
obligations to maintain or restore the kitchen waste treatment
plants, except for upgrade element, are recognised and
measured in accordance with the policy set out for
“Provisions” below.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the
contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B S AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZSHBHRREHNEERTX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B BERERE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 32 EXEHBEERGE)
Leases (continued) HAE(Z&)
The Group as a lessee KEE EE B AN

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of workshop, stockyard and machinery, that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

PEREREBESNSAKEED
meEs —RESEAKE S R —ANL
A EFEINEESRFFREMAKR D 2
BHME AEBAEEEAKE D
ZHRHBILERMFHEARED
ZEBBIERSEERAHNRE
DEEZHEAKILD

AEBRERBERATEEDE T
RIEHERLBBEERD 2R
B HRAGHEE D KA HEE R
FHELONE-—HELD AR

RHHENMKEEEEMEE
AEBER AR A HEFESRR
TZEAARKATETEEBERN
I35 HESL#HERRAENA
ERRHR - AKENREEEER
ENERRAEAR L BHEER
EEEEEASNHENKINE
HANERES S — RREEER
RFAX -

Right-of-use assets L E
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FTREEENKABLE:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease . HEBBNYHRFTESR
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the . R F 6 B EAsk 2 B B9 1A
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; MEMF  RAEME KEEE
=
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and . RNEBEEENEADHREEK
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dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted

for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment” the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

same line item within which the

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

lease

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date

if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

term

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group.

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a sale,
the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the assets
and accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings within
the scope of HKFRS 9.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange fluctuation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue is recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in
the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

is deducted from the

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,

systematic basis over the periods

construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “Other income, gains and losses,
net”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

For the Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to be
offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a
net basis.
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The estimated amount of future benefit is

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless

are

another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Equity settled share option transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share option to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share option determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously
transferred to accumulated losses.

recognised in share option reserve will be
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134 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Equity settled share option transactions (continued)
Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
liabilities and the
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

requirements to lease related assets
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either: (a) the same
taxable entity; or (b) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
recognised
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where

current and deferred tax are also in other
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the
income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

over their estimated useful

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
income and/or for capital appreciation.

rental

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

lives.

Service concession arrangements

When the Group has a right to charge for usage of
concession infrastructure (as a consideration for providing
construction service in a service concession arrangement), it
recognises an intangible asset at fair value upon
recognition. The intangible asset is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives.

initial

The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Operating concessions

Operating concessions represent the rights to operate kitchen
waste treatment plants are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the operating concessions granted to the
Group of 25 to 30 years.

losses.

Patent Technologies

Purchased patented technologies are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful economic lives of range from 3 to
10 years.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years.
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A reversal of an
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting

investments that are

short-term cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the

Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation,
amount of the obligation.

and a reliable estimate can be made of the

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

3.

FEMBRREREEREX

srBUREH (F)

32 EXEHBREHE)

HERBELFEY
ReRRSFEMNEEMBHMNRR
REY B

(@ He EEREFRREREH
o NEEREREE RS M
BHEBAERTBENTARETE
EWRITHEER K

b)) H=FEBEY HEFREH(GE
FRIPER/R=ZEAXE
) AR ER S E MBR
ReAEEEHARTIANG
MBERE -REFEMRE
wmRREMER e AE  MIEAR
KRESFEHEMLARE -

#E
FERKARAEHFEIRESE
AR - BFERATIFRAEALLZE
BE - AZRFERARTEZME
EEREMB BT TRARKY
HEMBZRAR - ETHEMTLZ
VERABREEERELENEE
RARASERNETHERBEL
B FEBE KA o

#E
EAEEEAX - BEFHMAER
REFLCEEREE)  MAEER
ARARTZEE BEEEZHEE
A SRR BEEREE -

HARBENEBERNBRERRE
THERTMRRENREMT
ERStREEEABEHERRTH
PHEZ EREERETRERE
ERmFREREER  BRE
cHEARSTHERENAE(RSE
BEEENTZEBEX) -

141



142

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of
future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable

estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

assets or financial
liabilities,
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
recognition.

interest income and

initial

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
pattern of short-term

and has a recent actual

profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

asset,

interest income s

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, bills receivables, other receivables and deposits,
restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposit and cash and
cash equivalents) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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146  NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

0) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B S AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMBERRGNEEREX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ERTBRER (F
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 32 EXEHBFRERGE)
Financial assets (continued) EHEE(E)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,

EHEEN T BRE R E (B)

REFEVHHREERNFORAR
XREMENEREEZME
(&)
(i) {56 [ b 5 2 48 0 (AF)

e BHER RAKE

financial or economic conditions that are expected A 5L B9 38 17 =k 78 R A

to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s M EHEB AR

ability to meet its debt obligations; EEEENENBEET
P&

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in . B ARNKEEEER
the operating results of the debtor; HTEMBEEEE

. an actual or expected significant adverse change . BEBEANEE  &EX
in the regulatory, economic, or technological RMERE N BR A
environment of the debtor that results in a HE RN BHE
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet BABITER BT R

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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148  NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

(ii)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZSHBHRREHNEERTX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B BRER (F
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 32 EXEHBEERGE)
Financial assets (continued) EHEE(E)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEN S ERAEGE (B)
assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment R AR E B B 75 5 5 2E Bl S O5% R 2
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) ZBEHH SR EE 2 RE
(#%)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) HBEERENS@MEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more E-BEZEEESmMEEMET
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated REBREREENEELER
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. BAOSHEAER  JIREKESH
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes EEEHREEREBE - 2HE
observable data about the following events: EHREERENZESES

KA F ey A SR BUE -

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) EBEITARBRABIE
borrower; = B B 2

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (by ZEREH G W R E
event; ERE) 1B,

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (0 MERAELERNE
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s AR EE KA
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower MEFBHKENE LD
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not EZE BKTERAEE
otherwise consider; MER T & EEEL

Coj Fak

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d) fEHRABIEHE:SE
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or THME B ESR : 5

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that (e) HAEERHBEHZE

financial asset because of financial difficulties. BERERTISHEX-
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150  NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written-off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade and retention receivables and
receivables and contract assets under concession
arrangement are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting
period. Specifically, for financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘Administrative expenses’ as part of the net foreign exchange
gains and losses.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost,
method.

using the effective interest

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of
each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses

are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the ‘Administrative expenses’ as part of net
foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial liabilities that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the financial performance and financial position of the Group
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the management, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The management considers that the Group has
ability to continue as a going concern and the major conditions that
may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumptions are
set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY 4.
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year:

(a) Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining
the provision for income taxes. Determining income tax
provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions and interpretation of tax rules. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all
changes in tax legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

(b) Construction work and service contracts

The Group recognises revenue for construction work and
service contracts according to the percentage of completion of
the individual contracts of construction work or service. The
Group’s management estimates the percentage of completion
of construction work and service based on output method
which is to recognise revenue on basis of direct measurement
of the value of construction work or service transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining construction works
promised to be completed under the construction contract.
The management’s estimate of revenue and the completion
status of construction works requires significant judgement
and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognised. The Group has qualified surveyors to
periodically measure the value of the construction work
completed for each construction projects and review the
estimated cost to be incurred for the completion of the
project. The Group reviews and revises the estimates for the
progress of contract revenue for each construction contract
and service contract.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c) Classification between operating concessions and
receivables under service concession arrangements
As explained in Note 3.2 to the financial statements, if the
Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial
asset and partly by an intangible asset, it is necessary to
account separately for each component of the consideration.
The consideration received or receivable for both components
shall be recognised initially at their fair values.

The segregation of the consideration for a service concession
arrangement between the financial asset component and the
intangible asset component, if any, requires the Group to
make an estimate of a number of factors, which include, inter
alia, future guaranteed receipts and non-guaranteed receipts,
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(d) Determination of fair value of contract revenue in

respect of the construction services rendered

Revenue from the construction of kitchen waste treatment
plants under the terms of a Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT")
contract is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference to a
prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
agreement applicable to similar construction services rendered
in a similar location, and is recognised on the percentage-of
completion method, measured by reference to the proportion
of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the
relevant contract.

The construction margin is determined based on the gross
profit margins of market comparables by identifying relevant
peer groups, which are listed on various stock exchanges in
the world. Criteria for selection include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the construction of
infrastructure, majoring in kitchen waste treatment
facilities in the PRC; and

(i) information of the peer firm must be available and from
a reliable source.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY 4. EXE5FIER &5 TEAAE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY RHERRR (E

(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

fli st FEABAE R 89 £ B RIR ()

(e) Useful lives and residual values of items of property, (e) H¥ BMERZHEHLIRAM

plant and equipment and other intangible assets HEEER T EHERRFIERE
/-]

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of REEMHE  WE RFENARHA
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, the EREENFERFHRFARER
Group has to consider various factors, such as technical or K-AKEEAEZEZEREZ  flWN
commercial obsolescence arising from changes or RERBNES S LS THEHE
improvements in provision of services, or from a change in the ENEMmIBRBEELNFTREGEMN
market demand for the product or service output of the SIBHBEMREmFERLN EEELH
assets, the expected usage of the assets, the expected physical AE HEHERERE BERER
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the assets, legal HWiE- BERBNEEIEURS
or similar limits on the use of the assets and historical NRBELR - MME - BERK
experience. Adjustment of depreciation/amortisation is made if HA R E B EEEB MG A
the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items ERAFHE SKFHREESR BRI
of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets AIfEET Al AEEeARTE &
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and HeoAEBBEILREREHRER
residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at ERI1E R & B2 B R0 B
least at the end of each reporting period, based on any AFEAFHRFIRER-
changes in circumstances.

(f) Impairment assessment of property, plant and () YE BERRE ZEHTER

equipment, operating concessions and other
intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, operating concessions and
other intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including
right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which the
relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(f) Impairment assessment of property, plant and

equipment, operating concessions and other
intangible assets (continued)
As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
subject to impairment assessment were HK$80,668,000 and
HK$888,000, respectively, after taking into account the
impairment losses of HK$Nil and HK$Nil in respect of
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets that
have been recognised respectively.

Details of the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets are disclosed in Note
20.

(g) Fair value measurement of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group
considers valuation of the Group's investment properties are
the best estimates, the worldwide economic uncertainties and
the fluctuation of capital and stock market have resulted in
greater market volatility, which may lead to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or
other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international trade
tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties is HK$163,302,000 (2024:
HK$56,413,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY 4. EXE:HHEr R&sTAEAE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(h)

(i)

Provision of ECL for trade and retention receivables,
and receivables and contract assets under service
concession arrangements

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
and retention receivables, and receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates are
based on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group's historical default rates
and forward-looking reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

information that is

observed default rates are

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables
are disclosed in Notes 44(b), 24, 18(b) and 18(c) respectively.

Provision of ECL for loan receivables and other
receivables and deposits

The Group calculates the ECL for loan receivables and other
receivables and deposits by grouping the counterparties with
similar nature under general approach. The provision rates are
based on internal credit ratings and taking into consideration
forward-looking reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every

reporting date, changes in the forward-looking information are

information that is

considered. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s loan
receivables and other receivables and deposits are disclosed in
Notes 44(b), 25 and 26 respectively.
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5.

REVENUE 5 WA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) REEESYHMWBAZTE
customers
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T T T
Revenue from contracts with customers REZE &M
Construction works BETE 832,123 511,281
Environmental protection IRIR
— operational income — ZEUWA 85,296 56,987
— construction revenue — BERE 5,723 14,235
— new energy materials — e R M K 3,080 42,626
Subtotal /et 926,222 625,129
Revenue from other sources H R E U AN
Environmental protection RIR
— financial income — BB A 3,013 3,107
929,235 628,236
Timing of revenue recognition W \ B 52 B
A point in time 3 — 2 88,376 99,613
Over time W& B [ 837,846 525,516
926,222 625,129
The following table provides information about trade and TERREEEREEFEANES
retention receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities BRFERERRBE AHEE
from contracts with customers: REHNBENER
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHE T
Trade and retention receivables (Note 24) & 5 & U 3k T8 & & i
RE & (H5E24) 180,503 121,982
Contract assets (Note 23) & % B E (K1 #E23) — 54,170
Contract liabilities (Note 23) & #a R K E23) — 9,430




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed but not billed at the
reporting date on revenue related to the provisions of
infrastructure construction. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional. This
usually occurs when the Group provides the invoices to the
customers.
The contract relate to the advance
consideration
approximately HK$9,430,000 of the contract liabilities as of
31 March 2024 has been recognised as revenue during the
year ended 31 March 2025 due to completion of some
construction works.

liabilities mainly
received from customers out of which

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies

Construction works

The Group's performance in respect of construction services
creates or enhances an asset or work in progress that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced, thus
the Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’ assessment
of work performed. A certain percentage of payment is
retained by customers until the end of the retention period as
the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
the period stipulated in the contracts.

Environmental protection

(i) Operation income
The performance obligation in respect of operation
income in kitchen waste treatment related business is
satisfied at the point in time when the service is
rendered.

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

5. WA (&)

()

(i)

REEFSHNHBAZRE(E)

AHEETERASERIR AR
HERERHREBPETITEM R
= TREERKRED
BRBEERZEFKA
IR REREEIETE - LER

HBAFHRER
EANAR -

%Wﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ% SR T A o

AHEABEERRE S KM EN
REAER  HEHPR2024F3A3184A
498 {5#99,430,000/%8 LA & F 2 £
SELiME MR AR 2202563 A

T2
3TBILEFERNKA

EFRSHNBHOEEREZ KA

B3R
BETE
REERBMS

i

E) BEFRB—ELAIMMERK:
ERBHE i%'l§$ﬁlm
EERNROEFNNAREFES RRE
HETEHEREAREEZ BIEG -
RERE

() EERA

SRR IR RIS
BRABBNBENRTERER

AR5 B B AT °

CAREEZ BT
REERBRTEFPEEERAE
KA RBFEEFHNEERERZT
Rt A EBEETELNEEREE
BREEBEEINE ARKEER
RS ERER 5 2 EHRER (R
A2 AP 3L B # 1 ZIE%EW%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MR RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

5. REVENUE (continued) 5.

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Environmental protection (continued)

(i)~ Construction revenue
Revenue from construction services under service
concession arrangements is recognised over time as the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset or
work in progress that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies a
performance obligation over time, by reference to
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the
basis of the actual costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each contract. In determining the transaction
price, the Group adjusts the amount of consideration for
the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

(i) New energy materials
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the new energy materials.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31 March and the expected time of recognising revenue are as
follows:

WA (&)

(i)

(iii)

Amounts expected to be recognised as TEET 1S MR AU AR
revenue: £ %
Within one year —FR
After one year —F iz

EESHHMBEHEEREDRIA

BUK (&)

IRIERE (&)

(i) BRI A
AR S AT e HE IR T 2 R RS
WABEAREE B AR 2SR
BEIERIR(RETEESK
FRIEREIES R ERAR
B R ) B R RERR o B UL
REEBK2ZEREBETNHE LR
EXHHTHIBN - REE R
%EQXEV%EEE’UEZZMEH%

AR B A 9 L BE R SR K B

f\’]f& EERSEREER
MERS > ZEEKN  A5EE
HHRESHETHE-

(i) FEEIR M
HERMARMNE  BHEK
BN & BT °

SEEEFSHNBRTENERE
B3 5 E%

HE3A318 R ERWA K TE B &
M oBRERTBOBET(REITH
MBOARBIT)NRSERLT ¢

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TATT

1,044,447 496,307
140,627 9,989

1,185,074 506,296




2025 RIEEEH(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and each of which is
considered as a separate reportable operating segment by the
executive Directors,
("CODM") as follows:

being the chief operating decision maker

o Construction works segment engages in the provision of
foundation works, civil engineering works and general building
works in Hong Kong; and

o Environmental protection segment engages in: (i) harmless

waste treatment covering construction and operation of

kitchen waste treatment related business; (ii) development and
management of environmental protection industrial park; and

(iii) new energy materials in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment’s profit (loss),
which is a measure of adjusted profit (loss) before tax. The adjusted
profit (loss) before tax with certain other income is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit (loss) before tax except that
interest income, certain other income, finance costs, as well as head
such

office and corporate expenses are excluded from

measurements.

Segment assets mainly exclude cash and cash equivalents and head
office’s rental deposit as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Included in corporate and unallocated assets are cash and cash
equivalents of HK$422,000 (2024: HK$5,895,000) and head office’s
rental deposit including air-conditioning and management charges
and government rent and rates of HK$812,000 (2024: HK$796,000).

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

6.

B 5 8B AR
REEME KEI&EW&HW’@H’ H
EBEML SEMRATES(RTEZ

BARANEE gLB&ﬁ/\J))ﬁ%*ﬂ
BYMNA2REETH

. BETIRERDINBEAREHET
B tARIBE—REFIE: K

e BESBRAENMEESEE:
()8 22 0 4 22 1 B 32 0 3 R 5 0 A
BERRER AW ()F T
BERBRTEE  Ri)H RN
B o

EEEENRERAEEKLE D MOHE
B UREBERD EE&%E%%V?&B&E e
DERBIDRBEAZH D 8% M (B R)
(Eﬂ%%d&*éﬁﬂﬁffdﬁumﬂ(%Tﬁ)iafzﬁiﬁ)
A o RABBRBAEAN (B8 RETH
ftb Y A B 5t 8 73 0A B 5 B B A AT i A
(BE)E -2 HEMNBRA - BETHMK
A BIISRCAR  A R PR R R X
AT BRNZES -

PHEELTZITEBRASTRESEEYNU
R#EREREERS REARZETEET
BREBEEETR -

STALERADEEEAR S RRCEE
#1422,0007% 7T (20244 : 5,895,000/ 7T) &
RNERAEZR: (BEEAREREEMN
N BRORT #b R K 2= f11) 812,0007% T (2024
£ 1 796,000/8 L) °

DEBETBEEENIAS G KEMR
iEpERRkAREE REARZEA
BNREEEEEE -

DHEEERLBRN2ERERFRTD
BRE=ZTETHESERNEBET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. FEEQWBER (E)
(continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results () SHEPEERELS
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and NTAREERZEATEHREED HE
results by reportable operating segments: DEW R REE SN
For the year ended 31 March 2025 &t F2025F3H31H IEFE

Construction
Works Environmental protection
BETRE BR

(ii) Development

and

management of

(i) Kitchen waste  environmental

treatment protection (iii) New energy

related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(VEFNUREE (IAEREE

HEXH RERIXE (iR INgt &&

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET FET FET FET FET

Disaggregated by timing of RRAEREEHS :
revenue recognition:

A point in time 5 ) 2 — 85,296 — 3,080 88,376 88,376
Qver time & 5 832,123 5,723 — — 5,723 837,846
Revenue from other sources E ft JOR YA — 3,013 — — 3,013 3,013

Revenue and sales to mANDE P {E )

external customers WAREER 832,123 94,032 - 3,080 97,112 929,235
Reconciliation: H%
Segment results DIEE (10,230) (33,651) 326 (13,911) (47,236) (57,466)
Reconciliation: -
Interest income FIEHA 7
Corporate and unallocated 72 & R &k 2 B M A K

income and gains e &% 1,971
Corporate and unallocated A8 kA E X

expenses (20,680)
Share of results of EibEERNRZEE

associates (4,073)
Finance costs BB A (12,469)

Loss before tax BRE AT R (92,710)




6.

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

Construction

Works
BEIR

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 20253 H31H 1F F/&

6. EESEBEHR (&)

(a) NBKERELS(E)
& FE2024F3H31H IF FEE

Environmental protection
RR

(i) Kitchen waste

(ii) Development
and
management of
environmental

treatment protection  (iii) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(BEFNREE (AEREE
eSS BRIEE (i) R E NgE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TR TET FAET TR TR
Disaggregated by timing of RRABREEHS :
revenue recognition:
A point in time 5 - 56,987 - 42,626 99,613 99,613
Over time B& i 511,281 14,235 — — 14,235 525,516
Revenue from other sources £ ft JOR YA — 3,107 — — 3,107 3,107
Revenue and sales to N fE I &
external customers WARHER 511,281 74,329 — 42,626 116,955 628,236
Reconciliation: #E
Segment results HiBLE (15,451) 6,315 13,849 57,138 77,302 61,851
Reconciliation: Hh
Interest income FIEWA 142
Corporate and unallocated 28 RAS & RA K
income and gains Wz 6,735
Corporate and unallocated AR R ADEAX
expenses (24,858)
Share of result of an ERHE AR FE
associate (116)
Finance costs B 75 AR (11,970)
Profit before tax F& ¢ A1 i A 31,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. FEEFWER (F
(continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) HBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and NTAREERZEATEHREED HE
liabilities by reportable operating segments: PHEERBES
As at 31 March 2025 #2025%#3H31H

Construction
Works Environmental protection

BEIE Rix

(i) Development
and
management of

(i) Kitchen waste  environmental

treatment protection (iii) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(VEFNUREE (IAEREE

HEXH BRIXE (iHEREMH NGt 58

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TERT TET TERT TERT TET

Segment assets PiEE 347,225 441,451 223,991 197,687 863,129 1,210,354
Corporate and unallocated RBERADEEE

assets 1,234

Total assets BERE 1,211,588

Segment liabilities FE R 385,230 307,894 96,254 34,057 438,205 823,435
Corporate and unallocated AR RADEE E

liabilities 10,498

Total liabilities AERE 833,933

Other segment information: Efth 7 S E#
Addition of property, plant RENE - BERRE

and equipment 11,885 272 — 4,585 4,857 16,742
Addition of investment RERENE

properties - - 105,860 - 105,860 105,860
Addition of operating RELEETE

concession - 2,632 — — 2,632 2,632
Addition of other Intangible R E £ fth E & E

assets - — — 291 291 291
Loss on written-of property, M#EME - BE k& fE

plant and equipment ol 53 2| 1,738 - - - - 1,738
Loss on disposal of HEME  BE K&

property, plant and o) g}

equipment - - - 32 32 32
Government grants BB - (1,019 (3,813) (159) (4,991) (4,991)
Change in fair value of BRENEATEED

investment properties - - 818 - 818 818
Depreciation nE 10,367 3,411 125 11,368 14,904 25,271
Amortisation of operating 4% & k5 5T 85

concessions - 5,748 — — 5,748 5,748
ECL on financial and SRMRENEERSE

contract assets EER 4,560 31,373 - (716) 30,657 35,217
Written-off of retention FEWARE € 35

receivables 4,225 - — - - 4,225
Written-off of other H fh 8 W KR M 5

receivables — 4,338 — — 4,338 4,338




6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

6. EESEBEHR (&)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) (b) PBWEEREEE)
As at 31 March 2024 202453531
Construction
Works Environmental protection
BETR BR
(ii) Development
and
management of
(i) Kitchen waste environmental
treatment protection  (iii) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(BEFNREE (AEREE
=S RRIZE  (i)#seR7E N Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TR TET FAET TR TR
Segment assets PREE 267,569 472,629 144,380 212,800 829,809 1,097,378
Corporate and unallocated R B RADEAE
assets 6,691
Total assets BERE 1,104,069
Segment liabilities b3t 286,091 285,911 16,304 34,350 336,565 622,656
Corporate and unallocated 2 RADEEE
liabilities 14,934
Total liabilities BERE 637,590
Other segment information: it 7 B E#
Addition of property, plant REWE - BERHEE
and equipment 201 7,029 477 70,715 78,221 78,422
Addition of investment REREME
properties — — 29,676 — 29,676 29,676
Addition of operating NEREETE
concession — 16,521 — — 16,521 16,521
Addition of other intangible HRE E i EF & E
assets — — — 1,049 1,049 1,049
Gain on disposal of HEME  BE KX
property, plant and ol g
equipment (367) — — — — (367)
Government grants T 468 B = (1,000) (8,450) = (9,450) (9,450)
Change in fair value of RENERATEED
investment properties — — (5,594) — (5,594) (5,594)
Gain on capital BREFI R EE
contributions by RADEE M fa
patented technologies to
an associate — — — (52,946) (52,946) (52,946)
Depreciation Gl 15,423 3,665 92 4,974 8,731 24,154
Amortisation of operating  £% & 5 FF 4k 45
concessions — 5,349 — — 5,349 5,349
ECL on financial and ERMRENEERS
contract assets =EB#E 693 396 — 716 1,112 1,805
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers of the Group who
contributed over 10% of the Group's revenue as follows:

BESBER (&

() EEEZFR&EH
MAEEKRAERAI0%M A S B
INERRFERIM AT ¢

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FABT

Client A (construction works) REAGEETR) 740,028 424,926
(d) Geographical information (d) HEHHE

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIEBEFHIKA

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHEIT FBT

Hong Kong BB 854,283 511,281

Mainland China A A 74,952 116,955

929,235 628,236

The aforesaid information for revenue is based on the FHREABERARPUE BE

locations of the customers. T o

(b) Non-current assets

(b) HEEEE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FE T

Hong Kong BA 16,578 15,150
Mainland China eRETNAp:f 587,126 494,474
603,704 509,624

The aforesaid information for non-current assets is
based on the location of the assets and excludes
financial assets.

ERFRBEEEHIABEN
ERER TEEEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

AR e MR RR M

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. HtbW AR iEE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Bank interest income AT H B A 7 142
Plant and machinery rental income 55 Rt 28 FH & Uk A 800 —
Rental income from sublease HHEEESKA 1,233 1,446
Government grants (Note i) T #8 Bh (BT 3Ei) 4,991 9,450
Sales of construction materials BEYREE — 1,790
Consultancy service fee BRI E 6,462 5,640
(Loss) gain on a lease modification HEEBHz (BE) ks (43) 69
Licensing income from an intangible asset B EEMSRERA — 2,073
Gain on capital contribution by patented 7 i B I BT 5 = [ B
technologies to an associate N AEEE B &=
(Note ii) (Bt &Eii) — 52,946
Change in fair value of investment properties & %) % A F(H & (818) 5,594
Interest income from loan receivables FE U E SR A B WA — 1,809
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and &Y% - BE M & EHH
equipment (E18) Y= (32) 367
Loss on written-off of property, plant and M - BERERED
equipment &5 18 (1,738) —
Others H 160 418
11,022 81,744
Notes: Bt 5 -

(ii)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, various government grants have been
received by certain PRC subsidiaries for their research and development
activities in Mainland China. Included in government grants, approximately
HK$3,813,000 (2024: HK$8,450,000) and HK$738,000 (2024:
HK$1,000,000) are granted as investment incentives for Yisheng (Yixing)
Environmental Technology Limited* B & (B ®) RE £ iT AR A 8 (“Yixing
Plant”) and Yisheng (Tianjin) Environmental Technology Limited* B & (X
E)VRERM AR AR (“Tianjin Yisheng”) operation, respectively. The
Group does not have unfulfilled obligations relating to these grants.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into an agreement
with Shanxi Hantang Senyuan Development Group Co., Ltd. (“Hantang
Senyuan”) to form an associate, Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Hantang Mingsheng"”) by injecting of patented technologies with the
carrying values of RMB36,173,000 (equivalent to HK$39,318,000).

Since the fair value of the 30% interest in the associate was
RMB105,000,000, the difference of RMB68,827,000 was considered as a
non-cash gain. However, as the Group with 30% shareholding in the
associate, the transaction is considered as a downstream sale of an asset
and 30% of the non-cash gain shall be eliminated. The Group recognised a
non-cash gain of RMB48,179,000 (equivalent to HK$52,946,000) accordingly
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

(ii)

REZ2025F3A3MBLEFEER  HBHF
Bt B 2 B gk H A FP B R St Y A 3K OE B EX
ZHEBTHA - B8 (B8 RIEHMARA
A(EREBEDREA(RE)RERMA
RAR(TRZEEFA]D 5 Bl ## £3,813,000
7 7€ (20244 : 8,450,000/ 7T) % 738,000/
7€ (20244 : 1,000,000/ 7T) HY B T 4 BY 1E
BIRE BB o AN B % S B R FRRE R
TEREME -

REE2024F3A318IEFER AL EHE
BRAEERREEEREEAREEAR
(FERERIRL) ST ek - LU A B FI R AT
VHEAR(BAREERBEREERAQ A
(ZEMED EEHEABRARK
36,173,0007T (48 & 739,318,000 7T) °

HAMKE REB30%EEHNRAFEAARKE
105,000,0007T * % %8 A R #68,827,0007T 4
RAEFREKE - A BERAEBERF BB
ERRB0%MRE  AUHZXIERAREE
B TRBF S+ JEIR & UL ES M30% A5 1 K 8 o
B E2024F3A31H L FE - A& B E#ER
® A EIEIR & ik A A R #48,179,0007T
(¥8% 752,946,000 TT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

8. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

8.

The Group's (loss) profit before tax, from continuing operations, is

arrived at after charging:

B i ml (B518) im F
A o R R 7 A BT A0 BT (A5 1)
2R TSR FRIE B 4

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET F# T
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA 2,404 35,806
Cost of construction works BETREKA 800,132 502,384
Cost of engineering, procurement and RETRE RBREE
construction services rendered PR 75 pX, A< 3,264 9,692
Cost of kitchen waste treatment services T 2 BT 3 R 1B AR A%
rendered BN 56,652 19,263
Auditor’s remuneration % 25 RN B < 1,850 1,857
Depreciation e
— Owned property, plant and equipment — BEWE BER
& 19,819 18,600
— Right-of-use-assets included within — AR REMEN
— office premises EREEE 5,452 5,554
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & E i 924 491
Amortisation of operating concessions A R T R 4R 5,748 5,349
Provision of major overhaul NEREAE — 777
Written-off of retention receivables FE U AR B8 & i 48 4,225 —
Written-off of other receivables H b 8 U 3R TE i 8 4,338 —
Impairment loss on consideration shares RER O IR EEE 3,759 —
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) E=ME (FFE11) 6,039 7,256
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERINAX(TEEES
directors’ remuneration (Note 11)): S (P sE11))
Wages, salaries, bonuses, allowances I% %< 64 28
and benefits in kind & B = 123,744 115,700
Equity-settled share option expense VATE 25 45 B 00 BB AR 4
X 2,310 8,993
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R KGR F 5t 81 4 3K 2,535 2,420
128,589 127,113
Total staff costs (Note) B TR (M) 134,628 134,369
Note: Bt 5

Included in staff costs, approximately HK$79,324,000 and HK$55,304,000 are
recognised in cost of sales and administrative expenses during the year ended

31 March 2025,
HK$69,090,000).

respectively (2024:

approximately HK$65,279,000 and

B E20253A3MHIEFE sFABEIKRANEE
A KT B M X D B £79,324,000% T K&
55,304,000/ JT (20244 : #965,279,000% T K&
69,090,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 20253 H31H 1F F/&

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MBAE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#xT FH&T

Interest on: &
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ BE Bk 5 3R 0B 4,864 5,205
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 10,916 9,724
Convertible bonds Al AR E — 51
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENFBHS 571 810
Bonds/other payables &%, H b & 15 ZUE 1,555 1,350
Others Hft 49 —
Total interest expense B R %8 17,955 17,140

Increase in discounted amount of provision for [& & &7 # M &= & 2 K&
major overhauls arising from the passage of BB S5

time (Note 33) (BF5E33) 669 —
Total finance costs B 75 K A 48 R 18,624 17,140

Less: Interest capitalised (Note 17 & B BRI S (M 5217 %
Note 18(a)) fg5E18(a)) (6,155) (5,170)

12,469 11,970
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 10. EHEEHEREX T ZREREB
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL 18- ORI O
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Reversal of) recognised impairment BT SIE (BE) S %2
losses on: KB EEE :
— Receivables under service concession — R FFETRE R B
arrangements (Note 18(b)) T 9 FE YR IE
(MF5£18(b) ) 1,315 117
— Contract assets under service concession — RIS L
arrangements (Note 18(c)) THEAHEE
(B 3E18(c)) (43) 293
— Contract assets (Note 23) — BHEE (:E23) (1,083) 358
— Trade and retention receivables (Note 24) — & 5 fE Y 718 K JE Ut
RE 2 (ffzF24) 5,128 1,037
— Other receivables (Note 25) — H fth jE 5k IE
(Hf 5£25) 2,161 —
— Loan receivables (Note 26) — R E K (M sE26) 27,739 —
35,217 1,805
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 18(b), 18(c), AR BRI EE18(b) ~ 18(c) ~ 23

23, 24, 25 and 26. 24 - 2526 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

11. EEMNE
RIEEAG ETRARES DTG RE

applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is WERNEEHMAT :
as follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Equity-settled benefits
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration
e EER UESSHD BkEH
ik EYfE BRERX =t Bl HMaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FHET FAT FET
2025 20254
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (chairman) KBELE(FE) - 1,800 65 18 1,883
Mr. Pan Yimin BHRRLE — 900 198 — 1,098
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (Note f) % 15 8) % & (BFEEf) — 1,131 — 14 1,145
Non-executive directors: FRITES
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (Note d) BRaE T (MiEd) 135 — — — 135
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (Note e) MR E 5t £ (M e) 83 - - - 83
Independent non-executive directors: BUFNTES:
Ms. Du Yun (Note b) =%+ (ff5Eb) 240 — — — 240
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, Jp  ERBHR KL
REPE K FHL 420 — 65 — 485
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BEBEE 420 — 65 — 485
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ERLEL 420 - 65 - 485
1,718 3,831 458 32 6,039
2024 20244
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (chairman) RBELELE (FE) — 1,800 95 18 1,913
Mr. Pan Yimin BRERE - 900 290 — 1,190
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (Note f) Z 85 8) 7t £ (B Ef) — 1,440 290 18 1,748
Non-executive directors: FRITES
Dr. Ge Xiaolin (Note d) Birsis+ (ad) 360 — 80 — 440
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (Note e) MR E 54 (M sFe) 55 — — — 55
Mr. Sui Guangyi (Note c) F& & & & & (M sEc) 220 — — — 220
Dr. Zhang Lihui (Note a) SR EE L (K sFa) 50 — - - 50
Independent non-executive directors: BUFMTES:
Ms. Du Yun (Note b) =2+t (KHfitb) 140 — — — 140
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MK, P ZREBRFEE » £82ps «Fa+ 420 — 80 — 500
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BERBEE 420 — 80 = 500
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ERfEL 420 — 80 — 500
2,085 4,140 995 36 7,256
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

11. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Dr. Zhang Lihui resigned as an non-executive director of the Company on
31 August 2023

Ms. Du Yun who acts as the independent non-executive director of the
Company was appointed on 1 September 2023.

Mr. Sui Guangyi resigned as an non-executive director and honorary chairman
of the Company on 28 February 2024.

Dr. Ge Xiaolin retired as an non-executive director of the Company on
16 August 2024.

Mr. Lin Jiakuang appointed as an non-executive director of the Company on
17 October 2023 and has been removed as an non-executive director of the
Company on 11 December 2024.

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas resigned as an executive director of the Company
on 31 December 2024.

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services
as Directors.

(i) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as Directors.

There were no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss for office.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain directors were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the share
option scheme are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial

statements.

1. EEME(E)

GEE

(a)

3R B E T A2023F8A31H B AR A IF
HITES -

MHELZLTR2023F9A1BEZTHRITEARQF
BN IFRITES -

P8 & & 5t £ 1A2024F2 A28 H BT A A 7] 3F
HITEEREEBER -

BB #18 £ 02024F8 A 16 H R EAR R A
WITESE -

MK E &£ R2023F10A17H EZE AR
NEIZEMITESE - WHR2024F 12411 A8
BRAABENTES -

Z 5 8h % £ 2024512 A31B B XA QA A
HITES -

ERATEEME IREEERARARAE
SEEBRE/OREM M -
LT EEHE R EREESORS

ERBIRRTEETHERAERETESED
R E -

B £2025%F K2024F3A31H IEF & @ #
BEEN R TRASRENXRBMEML
o] B <& /9 %2 B ©

R B 220255 X%202443A8318 It F &
N AEBITEENEZTWE  EAIA
AEBSIRNMBEERN RS KIESRER

fg e

REE2024F3A31MHIEFER  HETE
ERBEARFBZEREAEREETRALAE
B He 2 RS IE X BE AR A - BERR M AT &5

IR

MR & B 75 R MY RE37 ©
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12.

The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31 March
2025 included 2 (2024: 3) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining 3 (2024: 2) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

TzmmiFHES

RE E2025F3A831B IEFE RN &
mEEERBE2E (2024F 3R ES -
BENFHFBEHR EXHE - RER
H 434 (20244 1 282)BEEA R B E SN
IEETBABNESHEENTHFS

follows: W
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FHE T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEEREYH = 3,797 2,404
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R ORAE F EHEIH 3R 54 36
3,851 2,440

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

FMNFATHERNFFEZHERITHA

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as EESHEENAZKET :
follows:
2025 2024
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %= 1,000,000 7T — -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 7t &
1,500,000/ 7T 3 2
3 2
13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 13. FEH(K%R)HEX
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREBEIR
— Hong Kong — BB 27 —
— PRC — M 2,030 8
Deferred tax (Note 34) iR E 75 T8 (K 5E34) (4,932) (285)

(2,875) (277)
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13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued) 13. BB (WR)AX (&
The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to FRMEH (KL A EES ER RE
the (loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit 2 W AR 3R B9 BR B AT (B5 18) /& ) ¥ AR 40
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ™
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FA T
(Loss) profit before tax BB Rl (B518) it 7 (92,710) 31,784
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of BREBEEHE165%
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) (20244 : 16.5% )
FTE MR IE (15,297) 5,244
Different tax rates enacted by specific countries/ #FFB R GARE R
jurisdictions or local authorities 75 #% 8 78 5 1 A
e 1,199 6,419
Tax effect on income not taxable for tax purpose 7B :E U A 2 T 7§
Ze (7.612) (16,595)
Tax effect on expense not deductible for tax EENE ok
purpose e 2,825 4,183
Tax effect of share of results of associates DG EEE QB AT
TB 611 29
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not ) F 4t Al 7k #& 52 #) ¢ 18
recognised EEORBEE (653) (1,280)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not K i =2 &) A] #0173 & i
recognised EENB G E 4,161 =
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences &) A %5 Al R FE R A
previously not recognised A R = 2R (1,323) =
Under provision in respect of prior years BEFEREDTRE 2,057 —
Tax effect on tax losses not recognised AN AR Y T 1E 1R Y
W% 5 & 11,157 1,723
Income tax credit for the year KEEFRBBER (2,875) (277)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which entities of the
Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the British Virgin Islands and Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the British Virgin Islands
and Cayman Islands.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

AEENZEERALELANRAARE
BERMERKEMENRAERNFE
BATEN REBERBEZESEMASE
EMRAFIER  REBEBAREAE
BEZEERFASESHNMER -

BREEBHNEROFSHERET  &E%K
EEEEE2E S5 T E M A5 1%8.25%
i HBiB2E &8I KR A5 1E16.5%
BB TRAFEGHMABHERNEEE
B2 (R % M 4 B 1216 5% 1) 2] — B R H -
it - A EREEEBONEEFEH AR
ST PERR TR M B2/ &8 T iR8.25% At
H o MBA2E S T bt e iR BOR T
16.5%5T &

REFPECEMESRE(TREMEHZE])
REEABBORERES - - B EAQ A
KM EFEA TR R25% °
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ARE B S AR MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)  13. Fifg#i (&%) (&
Hefei Feifan Bio Technology Co., Ltd.* (&REIER EMEHHER A ) SEENEDEEER 2B ((GEIEE D
("Hefei Plant”) and Yisheng (Tianjin) Environmental Protection HEA(KE)RERMER QA (TXKZE])
Technology Co. Ltd* Bt (K32) REEMBR AF (“Tianjin”) were 20205 R 15 R B BB AR ERRBRER S
accredited as high and new technology enterprises in 2020 under A Bg - RIITERBRRE
relevant PRC laws and regulations, followed by Shenzhen R E] (RINZE B RS 1) 7220244 BR 45 46 79
Huamingsheng Technology Limited* R3II T ZEHBERZ AR A 7 RE B ZEMNBARESERE
(“Shenzhen Huamingsheng”) obtaining its certification in 2024. 7 # £20264F HifH - FI = H15% @) 1 ZEFT
Accordingly, these subsidiaries are entitled to a preferential SREERD X -
Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15% from their respective
accreditation years through 2026.
* For identification purpose only
14. DIVIDENDS 14. k2
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the B £2025F3A318 IEFE - AR AW &
Company during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any MEBBRBRFRGXEZRGRE B3R
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2024: HEHERAR IS & 23 K E AR E
Nil). (20245 : £&) »
15. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. Bk (58 & F
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share RATRHE AEGERERREE (B1B)
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following B THIR T SETE
data:
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to RABHERANEBREE
owners of the Company (E18) & 7 (80,707) 2,863
Number of shares i3 8B
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for =& & & A (E518) 2 7
the purpose of basic (loss) earnings s £ B A 3 38 AR n i
per share B 1,606,132,134 1,558,890,364

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options

B

BEECEERABRNYE:

4,185,481

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of diluted (loss) earnings
per share

19 81

AREESREE(ER) AT
7 5% A O B A AN #E

1,606,132,134 1,563,075,845

Diluted earnings per share was presented for the year ended 31
March 2024 as the impact of certain batches of share options were
dilutive. No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the year ended 31 March 2025 as the Group
had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the year.

8=

HRETHANBERELESTEE w2
I E E2024F3A31BH L EERNETRES
B A o 1 A 2202553318 IFEE
E2INEREASEBSHEELAZE 24
RASEBRAFE N EBESRED BT
LTRAR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. W%  -BERRIE

Furniture,

Fixtures and

Office Plant and office Motor
premises machinery equipment vehicles Total
R RER
BAEYE RBERBSE HAZRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TER TER
At 31 March 2025 2025%3H31H
At 31 March 2024 and R2024F3A318 &
at 1 April 2024; 202454718 :
Cost AR 14,702 270,348 18,529 5,273 308,852
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (5,760) (180,315) (11,202) (3,493) (200,770)
At 1 April 2024, R2024F4R18 Bk
net of accumulated depreciation 25t E 8,942 90,033 7,327 1,780 108,082
Additions NE — 11,000 4,882 860 16,742
Disposal HE — — 37 — (37
Written-off g — (1,738) — — (1,738)
Lease modification HEB (374) — — - (374)
Depreciation provided during the year & R & # & (5,452) (16,261) (3,020) (538) (25,271)
Exchange realignment B 5 5 B (44) (224) (20) (4) (292)
At 31 March 2025, 72025437318 - Bk
net of accumulated depreciation ESiN- 3,072 82,810 9,132 2,098 97,112
At 31 March 2025: R2025%3A318 :
Cost A 12,317 118,134 23,336 6,127 159,914
Accumulated depreciation ZEtE (9,245) (35,324) (14,204) (4,029) (62,802)
Net carrying amounts REFE 3,072 82,810 9,132 2,098 97,112
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fRE WIS R MY A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

16. Y% - BERRIE(E)

(continued)
Furniture,
Fixtures and
Office Plant and office Motor
premises machinery equipment vehicles Total
BRIt RER
BRENZE  HEREE BLZRE b FoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEL TET TET
At 31 March 2024 2024%3A31H
At 31 March 2023 and M2023F3A318 &
at 1 April 2023: M2023F4 718 :
Cost B AR 17,030 208,390 11,930 8,376 245,726
Accumulated depreciation i E (3,513) (164,305) (10,372) 4,712) (182,902)
At 1 April 2023, R2023F4A18 - EMK
net of accumulated depreciation 2EME 13,517 44,085 1,558 3,664 62,824
Additions NE 6,341 64,320 6,725 1,036 78,422
Disposal & - — — (2,234) (2,234)
Lease modification HEBET (5,156) = — = (5,156)
Depreciation provided during the year & R E# & (5,554) (17,067) (867) (666) (24,154)
Exchange realignment R (206) (1,305) (89) (20) (1,620
At 31 March 2024, 7202463A318 - B bk
net of accumulated depreciation BEAME 8,942 90,033 7,327 1,780 108,082
At 31 March 2024: ®202443A31A :
Cost % 2 14,702 270,348 18,529 5,273 308,852
Accumulated depreciation Z2imE (5,760) (180,315) (11,202) (3,493) (200,770)
Net carrying amounts REFE 8,942 90,033 7,327 1,780 108,082

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write-off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used

for this purpose are as follows:

Office premises

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles

Over the shorter
or useful life

10% to 33%

10% to 33%

of lease terms

10% to 25% or over the shorter

of lease terms

or useful life

Details of the Group’s pledge of property, plant and equipment are

set out in Note 31.

FEDRE G A ERFRAEREME
BEWE HBELREERB ZKAZE KT
BE -AENEMANIZFEMNT :

MAEYE REAFEASFERE -
&R A
B K i 25 10% £33%
B EER 10%233%
PNERAME
B 10% Z=25% sk 2 0 £ F H3

HERY  MBREE

AREBEFYE  BERIBHEOHFHBEHL
ff5E31 °
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
Right-of-use assets included in the Group’s property, plant
and equipment

16.

- BERREE)

AFARKENYE BRERREHER
HEE

At 1 April 2023 202344818 13,517
Additions NE 6,341
Lease modification HEER] (5,156)
Depreciation (Note 8) #r & (Hf7E8) (5,554)
Exchange realignment M 3, 78 B (206)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 M2024F3H31H &2024F4H1H 8,942
Lease modification HEER] (374)
Depreciation (Note 8) 1 & (Mf7E8) (5,452)
Exchange realignment M 5, 78 B (44)
At 31 March 2025 1202543 A31H 3,072
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
T F#E T
Expense relating to short-term leases EEEEMRERE X b 2,114 4,955
Expense relating to low value leases EEEHE R 76 85
Total cash outflow for leases HER ML 7,970 10,993
Additions to right-of-use assets M REEE — 6,341

For both years, the Group leased office and premises for its
operations. Lease contracts of office and premises are entered into
for fixed term of 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

lease term and assessing the

The Group regularly entered into a short-term lease for office for its
operations. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

RMEFEARN  AKERERIERIGH
ETTERBRE -MAERSMEES
#)8 [B F HAMR /22 34F o M S R IR [E Bl
EEGEHABE TRGRRGEE - REE
MHRFEITHDBENRER K&
BEASAHNERLETE A KA &G T
B HARE o

AEBEFTHREEE AT LG AHE
& o FR20254F K2024%3A31H @ % B A
ERAHE Y HERHRAERS 2R HH
EHEMEE -
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fRE WIS R MY A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REYME

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T
At 1 April R4p18 56,413 22,167
Additions NBE 105,860 29,676
Interest capitalised (Note 9) &AL FE (M 5E9) 2,343 =

Net (decrease) increase in fair value RIETERN QA FEF
recognised in profit or loss R >) 38 0 (818) 5,594
Exchange realignment PE & 3 & (496) (1,024)
At 31 March M3A318 163,302 56,413

Unrealised (loss) gain on property valuation AABRAYEME

included in profit or loss RER (FE) kwm (818) 5,594
The Group's investment properties consist of a land use right in the REERIREYE BB B A Tk
PRC. P
The Group acquired such land use right in the PRC for a ANEBERE E2023F3A318EFEUA
consideration of RMB19,507,000 (equivalent to HK$22,422,000) R %#19,507,0007T (¥ & 422,422,000/
during the year end 31 March 2023. The purpose of this acquisition TR EWRBECRTRBEANE R A
is to construct industrial buildings with the intention of earning o RREBHENDAERTERE
rental income upon completion of the construction. The investment EEEZTHERDNESWA - HEWE
properties are located at West Honggao Road, North Xingbang Road MR TERE BT B IRAT i R P ] - I
intersection, Gaocheng Town, Yixing, Jiangsu. BEAL A -

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March NE B E Y ER2025F3A31H K2024
2025 and 31 March 2024 has been arrived at on the basis of a FI3IA3MBM R FETDREEAS B I &
valuation carried out at the end of the reporting date by an BENBEYEXEERMEMNRSE A H
independent professional qualified valuer not connected to the HEREFETHMMEETE

Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors REETBBRMENATER ESEEA
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair FEFAENEZHERMERBASE - &
value measurements. The Directors work closely with the qualified SHEERIBEEMBERESIE  NEY
external valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and T E Al B R R AR A A SR o

inputs to the model.

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value ATFEFERFGEREIRAFLERE -
hierarchy.
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year B E2025F3A3MA IEFEA - T EE A

ended 31 March 2025. S8 B3P E o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REME(E)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was a transfer RE E2024F3A318 L FE - mREE
between level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy due to the TERSZHUR N BER M5 ERE
changes in valuation method from reference to observable market BBREE ATEREMNE2EREIEZ
prices of similar transactions to residual method. The reasons for FMERER - HEFEZEETIHRE KK
transition of valuation method are due to the method adopted is ReERAEBELRE  FIERNAEDNA
considered as most appropriate in the construction stages of a HAMIBEREEEN  MAKEEBRR
project when the future cash flows have yet to be quantified in ZIER -
detail which is the case of the Group.
Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the AT &8 E2025F3A31B IR EMEHE
valuation of investment properties together with a quantitative MEATAEZRGASBERTEHHE
sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2025: AITFE
Significant
Valuation unobservable Relationship between
technique input Range fair value and the input
EXFIHE AFEEERA
EERA i\ B8R giE iR 2B %
Industrial property Residual method Market price 5,100-8,400 6,458-7,949  The higher the market

units located in (RMB/square price, the higher in fair
PRC — under metre) value, and vice versa
construction
R TEYE REE T35 B 1% mEERYR A FEY
By — £ (ANR¥ T/ = RZ A
F75K)
As at 31 March 2025, the investment properties with carrying 7202543 H318 + BR [ B /163,302,000

amount of HK$163,302,000 (2024: HK$56,413,000) have been
pledged to secure a syndicated facility amounting to
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$108,362,000) (2024:
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$108,696,000)). As at 31 March
2025, the Group has utilised RMB88,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$95,359,000) (2024: RMB15,000,000 (equivalent

HK$16,304,000)) of such facility.

to

Details of the Group’s pledge of investment properties are set out in
Note 31.

7 7T (20244F : 56,413,000/ 7T) & & ¥
X¥XEER UER—BE2EAARE
100,000,0007T (2 & 7108,362,0007% Jt)
(20244 : A R #100,000,0007T (18 & 7
108,696,000/ 7T ) ) IR B B 5k - 1820254
3A31B AKBEFRZERBEEAR
#£88,000,0007T (18 & 795,359,000/ JT)
(20244 : A R #15,000,0007T (18 & R
16,304,0005% 7)) °

AEEBEFREMEOFBHRME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with
certain governmental authorities in Mainland China on a BOT basis
in respect of the construction and operation of its kitchen waste
treatment business. These service concession arrangements generally
involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing kitchen waste
treatment plants (the “Facilities”) for those arrangement on a BOT
basis; and (ii) operating and maintaining the Facilities at a specified
level of serviceability on behalf of the relevant governmental
authorities for periods ranging from 25 to 35 years (2024: 25 to 30
years) (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the Group will be
paid for its services over the relevant periods of the service
concession arrangements at prices stipulated through a pricing
mechanism. The Group is generally entitled to use all the property,
the
retain the beneficial

plant and equipment of the Facilities, however, relevant
governmental authorities as grantors will
entitlement to any residual interest in the Facilities at the end of the
Service Concession Periods. Each of these service concession
arrangements is governed by a contract and, where applicable,
supplementary agreements entered into between the Group and the
relevant governmental authority in Mainland China that set out, inter
alia, performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting prices for the
services rendered by the Group, specific obligations imposed on the
Group to restore the Facilities to a specified level of serviceability at
the end of the Service Concession Periods, and arrangements for

arbitrating disputes.

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

18.

BTG EERH

AEECEREERKEERPRERS
ABOTH A S ih Bl A E T BR T # B 5T 32
FrafRa ot 2 ERFRERL—
P RBAREEREER  ()ABOTH
ARZERFEEEFUREIER ([ZF
&i)) - R(i)IR IR E RFBKFR KA
BT HERE R EEZFTRIE  SH25%
354F (20244 : 25 30%F ) ([ 7T 4¢ & #E 57
R MAKRESREFFELERLHNNA
B HAIR 4% 335 18 TE (B4 Il 51| B By (B AR 5 B
RBFBEKIE - AEE—RAEEERAZE
RIENFABEME  BELRRE AW A
BAERFEEESKE T ARRNEFRERY
PR 45 2R B R 2R L TR 5% 55 ARG ) R e 2
MEDREN BZEHALERLHZA
SHEERBERNBARBTRER AL
RnER) M HBEMRE & A
(ERBR)NTHRE  AKERERRS
MTERS  AEBERFACERBRE
REF B ZERMEIREE1EE R KF
EENREEE  RRFABMDOZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE TS R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
A summary of the major terms of the principal
arrangements is set out as follows:

18. WETREEHERH (&

TEBRFEERTHNT B ERESH
m :

service concession

Type of service

Name of company as concession Service concession
operator Location Name of grantor arrangement periods
EBEEMMATERE B By ANEGHE WRTEEETHED AT B EHR
Hefei Plant Hefei, Anhui province, the &M M ARBEEEEB BOT on kitchen waste 25 years from 2013 to
PRC treatment 2038
AEEE REZEE AT AETHAREFLERER BB KEEBOT F12013%F 8 220384 IF
25%F
Xuancheng Xichong Xuancheng, Anhui province, B MM E B S HEF BOT on kitchen waste 30 years from the day
Biological Technology the PRC treatment after the project is
Co. Ltd.* (B A completed with
EYRIERER R E) qualification accepted
("Xuancheng Plant”)*
EMMAAENREER PRZHEEHT SRMBTERERRER BB REEFIBOT BHEEXRIRKESKRAR
RE(TEMIER D REET305F
Hancheng Jiemu Hencheng, Shanxi province, ¥ TIH#t85A fE4LEE A4 BOT on kitchen waste 35 years after commercial
Environmental the PRC treatment operation
Technology Co. Ltd*
(BRRBRRAMRE
REERR)
(“Hancheng Plant”)*
BHZRBERMEERE HEREEENT BHTWHESELBAE  BENREEMNBOT PR EERM35F

AR ([BEER D
Yisheng (Guoyang)
Environmental
Protection Technology
Co. Ltd.* (EF CA)
RIRBMER A )
("Guoyang Plant”)*
BACARG) RRRMER
ral(DRBEE D
Jilin Yisheng
Environmental
Protection Technology
Co. Ltd* (BEMEER
RRKMERAR)
("Dunhua Plant”)*
EMEERRRREMAER
~El([BLEE D+
Shanxi Tianhe
BioTechnology Co.,
Ltd* (L P8R A0 A& #
RABERA A
(“Shanxi Plant”)*
WERMENREBRRA
a(AmEE D"

Guoyang, Anhui province,
the PRC

REZEERE S

Dunhua, lilin Province, the
PRC

REEME BT

Huozhou Shanxi Province,
the PRC

R ILEE BN

REHEATEER

REHEATEER

™ ARBAT

™ ARBAT

ENTREENR

ENTEREENB

BOT on kitchen waste
treatment

E R R R 32 KBOT

BOT on kitchen waste
treatment

ZRBH R R FBOT

Build-Own-Operate
("BOO") on diseased
livestock and poultry
treatment

RAEBREN
BR—HE—8%
(FBOO ) #E =,

25 years from 2022 to
2047

20224 8 20474 I
254

30 years after commercial
operation

X 2 E R 305

25 years after commercial
operation

%2 ERM25F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

# Newly established during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
construction was principally completed during the year ended 31 March
2023. The plant commenced trial commercial operation during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025. Management anticipated the
relevant governmental bureau should complete its inspection over the
plant’s construction.

+ Hancheng Plant, Guoyang Plant, Dunhua Plant and Shanxi Plant are yet to
commence construction as of 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025.

* For identification purpose only

Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by the
Group, the Group are granted the rights to use the property, plant
and equipment of the Facilities and the related land, which are
generally registered under the names of the relevant subsidiaries of
the Group, during the Service Concession Periods. The Group is
generally required to surrender these assets to the grantors at a
specified level of serviceability at the end of the respective Service
Concession Periods.

Details of the Group’s pledge of operations concession and
receivables under service concession arrangements are set out in
Note 31.

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

18. WETREEERH (&

# REE2022F3A8318 L FERFKYL * W
REZE2023F3A31H L FERABEGEKE
R o %8 B N E E2024%F3A318 K%2025%
B3A3MBIEFERBHAEE BEEHEHE
R REETSKYEEERNRSE -

+ E £2024%3H318 K202543A318 @ &
WIBE  RBEER - BYETEEB RILFEIEE M
REARER -

REAEEFT ISR ERDE I8
BERNFFRERIRAERZFRE
W BERREARBBE (R
UAREERBERB AR RZEERL) OE
Mo REB-RANREFAKERBRE
REFLEERBKFEZEFEERDRT
Ac

AEBERBFRERLTHTRESTELE
Yo R IR O AR R B B M RE3 o
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service concession
arrangements” set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the consideration received by the Group for a service
concession arrangement is accounted for as an intangible asset
(operating concession) or a financial asset (receivable under service
concession arrangement) or a combination of both, as appropriate.
The following is the summarised information of the intangible asset
component (operating concessions)
component (receivables under service concession arrangements) with

and the financial asset

respect to the Group’s service concession arrangements, as set out
in Note 18(a) and Note 18(b) respectively.

18.

FETEEERH (7

MANAR & BF T R MY FE3. 2P L [ A A
SRR E— Sl KE
B AR R E R BE B R EARSR
BVEE(KREFTAE) NS REE KT
RERHBRWRIB) S MEEa (NE
R = AN B 5 B & 0 M aE18(a) & MY 5
18(b)E AR EE ST ERLTHNELE
EAKE D (KEETHE) R EEAK
B (R AR & 2 BE R RIA) 80 & BHR
&=

(a) Operating Concessions (a) BEYFETHE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FE T
Operating Concession AEE AT
At 1 April R4H1H 251,660 246,519
Additions NE 2,632 16,521
Interest capitalised (Note 9) & e F) B (i 5£9) 3,812 5,170
Amortisation provided during the year FERNEERE (5,748) (5,349)
Exchange realignment E R (770) (11,201)
At 31 March M3A31H 251,586 251,660
At 31 March: M3A318 :
Cost X AR 309,921 304,413
Accumulated impairment loss RETRE R B (25,200) (25,277)
Accumulated amortisation E g (33,135) (27,476)
Net carrying amount AR F 58 251,586 251,660
Impairment assessment W EFFE

Year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025

During the year 31 March 2024, Xuancheng Plant commenced
trial operation, and sustained during the year ended 31 March
2025. both Hefei the
management considered that there is no impairment indicator

For Plant and Xuancheng Plant,
on both operation and financial performance for the year. In
addition, the management has assessed internal, external and
other factors, none of the impairment indicators is noted.

B 220243 A31H FK202543 4
31HIFFEF

REE2024563A318 LFE ©
BB MR EE  REE2025F3A
BTHEFEEREES -HERER
REHEEMS EEERAANSF
ERELRIEEEN ERER
Z o poh - EEE I EAEE - SNEB
REMEZ  HEZRBERZE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(b) Receivables under service concession arrangements

18. WETREEERH (&

(b) HWEFEEHTHRKNRIE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& T

Receivables under service concession B E T RER
arrangements E QL] 58,510 61,296
Portion classified as current assets DEAERDEEN D (10,126) (10,153)
Non-current portion ERB D 48,384 51,143

Movements in the provision for expected credit loss of
receivables under service concession arrangements are as

follows:

TR e LR RESER
BRBEGNEEHMT

2025 2024

HK$’'000 HK$'000

Fi#T FHE T

At beginning of year R EA]) 1,526 1,442
Expected credit loss, net of reversal FEHEE B (kR E) 1,315 117
Exchange realignment ME N 3 B (7) (33)
At end of year RER 2,834 1,526

For receivables under service concession arrangements, the
Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, that
is to recognise a loss allowance based on the lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. The Group has applied the loss-rate
method for calculating the ECL of receivables from service
concession arrangements. Under this method, impairment is
calculated using an estimated loss rate and multiplying it by
the outstanding balance at the end of the reporting period.

MR E R ERRFIEMS
AEBERBEN D AFERBRE
EER TAREHREAHERR
HEREEEREIABEREGE A
SECRABRRTAAERHR
ERZFBRUFIENEREES
BeRBUWTE REDRRES
KRB B R EFRUREESER
st -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

(b) Receivables under service concession arrangements

(continued)

18. HETESHRH (B)

(b)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s receivables under service concession

arrangements:

As at 31 March 2025

Gross carrying amount

FRE AR (TET)

Loss rate
— current

portion
E5E %
— REES

AT EE R RIE (F)

TXEINBRAASEFHFRERT
BrRMRERRBRIER

F2025F3H31H

Loss rate

— Non-current
portion

i

— ¥RV

(HK$'000) 10,092 51,252 61,344
Expected credit losses EHEEBEHE
allowance (HK$'000) (F#&x) (99) (2,735) (2.834)
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEE X 0.98% 5.34%
As at 31 March 2024 2024453531
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion Total
B 18 = BB =
— mEEh o — FEmEFH #Et
Gross carrying amount BRE AR (TAT)
(HK$'000) 10,255 52,567 62,822
Expected credit losses BHEEEEEE
allowance (HK$'000) (F#ET) (102) (1,424) (1,526)
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEEX 0.99% 2.71%
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(c) Contract assets under service concession arrangements
Xuancheng Plant

Contract assets under service concession BHTrCERETHESN

18. WETREEERH (&

FCEHETHENEE
ERIEH

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TATT

arrangements &E 42,573 42,703
Less: Expected credit loss W TEHEEER (2,324) (2,374)
40,249 40,329

Movements in the provision for expected credit loss of
contract assets under service concession arrangements are as

FAEERRHANEERBEER
ERBENEHBERWT

follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET T
At beginning of year R E A 2,374 2,179
Expected credit loss, net of reversal BHEEEE (HRER) (43) 293
Exchange realignment FE i 37 2 (7) (98)
At end of year RE R 2,324 2,374

For contract assets under service concession arrangements, the
Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, which
is to recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date. The Group has applied the loss-rate method
for calculating the ECL of contract assets from service
concession arrangements. Under this method, impairment is
calculated using an estimated loss rate and multiplying it by
the outstanding balance at the end of the reporting period.

Contract assets under service concession arrangements will
transfer to receivables under service concession arrangements
when formal commercial operation is granted for Xuancheng
Plant.

HENBHAREERTHFANEE K
SERFERHREEBRKRAG
fe7% AIREREAREEZHE
HEEBRERERAR - A8H
ERAEBERXAFERFEERR
BHTHANEENTRBEERSE-
RIB T3 - BETIR R EHREK
R BERERRAREEGRTH

FAEERRHBATHNANEER
RERBREEIARELEERER
Fap iR 2 LR HFIA T R B URIR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

18. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

(c) Contract assets under service concession arrangements

(continued)

Xuancheng Plant (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's contract assets under service

concession arrangements:

As at 31 March 2025

18. HETESHRH (B)

HITEERRESHERE (&)

EHIFEH (&)
DA 5] S 2 [ A R S A A 2
EHNEEMERERERAR

F2025F3H31H

Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion
BSiE® BSiEE
— REE S — FEREE
Gross carrying amount ARE AR (T L)
(HK$'000) — 42,573 42,573
Expected credit losses BHEEEBREHE
allowance (HK$'000) (F#%&T) — (2,324) (2,324)
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREEX N/A FiEH 5.46%
As at 31 March 2024 $£2024%3H31H
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
Portion portion Total
[EEEES E =
— mEE S — EREE D 4t
Gross carrying amount BRME AR (T T
(HK$'000) — 42,703 42,703
Expected credit losses BHEEEEEE
allowance (HK$'000) (F&mT) — (2,374) (2,374)
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREX N/A 13 A 5.56%
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

4= A

AR

7 7% ¥R MY o

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

19. Hh B\ EE

Patents
Technologies
BARHE
HK$’'000
T T
At 31 March 2025 2025%3H318
Cost at 1 April 2024, net of accumulated amortisation 20244 A1H KK A - EHK 25t
55 1,783
Additions NE 291
Amortisation provided during the year (Note 8) G 8 5 B 4 (Y 5E8) (924)
Exchange realignment E N A B (6)
At 31 March 2025 7202543 A31H 1,144
At 31 March 2025: #2025%3A31H :
Cost (DN 3,692
Accumulated amortisation R 3 (2,548)
Net carrying amount AR 3 58 1,144
At 31 March 2024 2024%3A31H
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of accumulated amortisation ~ $2023F4 418 MK A - E Kk 25t
3 1,288
Injection from a non-controlling shareholder of a BB AREERRREE
subsidiary 39,318
Additions = 1,049
Amortisation provided during the year (Note 8) G A GE B A (T FE8) (491)
Contribution to an associate (Note 21) [ — S A RDESE (BT aE21) (39,318)
Exchange realignment bE 5 & (63)
At 31 March 2024 120243 H31H 1,783
At 31 March 2024: #2024%3A318 :
Cost (DN 3,411
Accumulated amortisation R 5T 5 (1,628)
Net carrying amount R ¥ 7 1,783
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

19.

20.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following
periods:

Patent Technologies 3-10 years

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF TANGIBLE AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, as the construction business in
Hong Kong and new energy material business in Mainland China
incurred operating loss, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on certain property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets with carrying amounts of approximately HK$15,012,000, to
which belong to construction business included in New Concepts
Foundation Limited and approximately HK$65,656,000 and
approximately HK$888,000 respectively, to which belong to new
energy materials business included in Shenzhen Huamingsheng.

Cash generating unit (“CGU"”) of Shenzhen Huamingsheng

The recoverable amount of CGU of Shenzhen Huamingsheng has
been determined based on the value-in-use calculation by reference
to a valuation carried out by Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer. The calculation uses a
discounted cash flow projection for the period covered by the
forecast and a calculated terminal value at the end of a five-year
forecast period. The cash flow beyond the five-year period are using
2% growth rate. The selling price per ton of graphite-based related
anode materials used for the cashflow projection is ranged from
RMB23,081 (equivalent to HK$25,011) to RMB27,044 (equivalent to
HK$29,306). The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projection is 18.62%. Management determined the budgeted sales
and gross margins based on past performance, expectation for the
market development and planned business strategy. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
business.

CGU of New Concepts Foundation Limited

As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amount of CGU of New
Concepts Foundation Limited has been determined based on
depreciated replacement cost method. That calculation use the
current cost of reproduction or replacement of an asset less
deductions of physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation.

As at 31 March 2025, based on the result of the assessment,
management of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of those CGU exceeded their carrying amount. Accordingly, no
impairment loss would be recognised against the carrying amount of
those CGU.

19.

20.

Em"“ﬁjéé (”/\)
LBV EEABEERERFY - ZFE
REERNKTHEAEREEH

ESIE 3104
B R R & E R EFT G

B E2025F3A31BLEFE HREBE
SRZE T T P B O b 3T BE TR MR SE TS L B A
EEE AEETEERAGTERED
R WHEBREIZFMERRARIZER
7% BR T {8 4915,012,0007%8 7T LA & & HIl #£ B
B RMBEEBEERED B D
65,656,000/% 7T & 47888,000/8 SLHI & T
¥ HBELXEBEMELEEEITREFG -

RYFEHBMIREELBNM((REELE
““ﬁJ)
RIZERBHNREEEEN 2 Al KBS
Eﬁwﬁj BB EMHEMSENEE
ANEMEHREEMELHERBERTE
%Eo@%%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%%m%ﬁ
RemETEA - AR AFEABBLERRER
EMRE - AR ATFHERSTEN
BREERE2% - BRESREEAMNAE
EEEEBMEBEEBEENTARE
23,0817t (48 & 250118 L) =2 A R &
27,0447t (F8 & 129,306/8 JT) ° FE R 3R
enETRAMNTAITIRER18.62% - B
EBREBTHEE migEEEARGEZE
BRBETHEEHEBERENE - 1FEA
BTN BRI ATITER X - I R BR EE 754
BHEERR -

B EFRATINIREELEEMN
H E202593A318 - Bl ¥ EFR A

RIREELES MZTWEi%E%%EE
RAPFTEEMEBE - Lt BEEHAEENE
MESENEERA  BEEAYEEAR

Fir B 8 BE 72 =\ &0 3R BE A0 B b M 0 BR
o

0K

2025638318 BREBEFHER A&
EEEERTXSHSELEMNATKE
CHeNHEEmE - At T2RHZER
CELEBNMEEDERRREBEEIE -
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

21. REtZEATMEKRE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FA T
Cost of investments in associates AN RN = VR & =i N 94,473 91,222
Share of post-acquisition losses DGR % B 1R (4,191) (118)
Share of other comprehensive expense AMEEMEERX (345) —
Exchange realignment P 5 & 623 582
90,560 91,686

Loan from an associate — within a year e —HEERAZER
(Note 31(d)) — —F R (M FE31(d)) (4,800) —

Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Hantang Senyuan agreed to establish
a company, Hantang Mingsheng with a registered capital of
RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$380,435,000).
Such company, Hantang Mingsheng is owned as to 30% and 70%
by Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Hantang Senyuan, respectively.
Shenzhen Huamingsheng made its capital contribution by injection of
patented technologies into Hantang Mingsheng, details of which are
set out in Note 7 (ii).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Hantang Minsheng establish
a wholly owned subsidiary, Hantang Mingsheng New Materials (Alxa
League) Co., Ltd. (Hantang Alxa League) (collectively referred to as
the “Hantang Mingsheng Group”), a company with a registered
capital of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$217,291,000).

On 29 August 2024, Shenzhen Huamingsheng, Shanghai Bakusi
Superconducting New Materials Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Bakusi”), and
Zaozhuang High Energy New Materials Co., Ltd.* 223 = 88 57+ &
BBRAFA ("Zaozhuang”) entered into an acquisition agreement
pursuant to which Shenzhen Huamingsheng acquired 30% equity
interest in Zaozhuang from Shanghai Bakusi at a consideration of
RMB1.0 million and inherit Shanghai Bakusi's obligation to
contribute to Zaozhuang capital of RMB2.0 million in cash and
RMB6.0 million through provision of technology management.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, such acquisition was
completed. Zaozhuang is owned as to 30% by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng and the Group accounted for Zaozhuang as an
associate.

AR Y1152 AR s B2 R AR R B DA sl B AR A
R #350,000,0007T (8 & 7 #£7380,435,000
BN ARIEFERARE - x AR (BNERE
B SRR RIYERABREERRES
30% K70% ° FIIZER BB iBE A B F K
MREEREEE @ BN W7 -

H £2024F3A31B IEFE - ZFEBRBK
2 E M B A R E R B R (B =
B)ERAFREEMNER)(RBANZ
EHBEE) TMERAAEARE
200,000,0007T (48 & 7 #9217,291,0007%
JL) °

R2024F8H29H8 RN EBRE - L8 E
EifREHMAERAR ([ LB EHD
REZASEFTMBBERAR (R
Wi Bt RYNERBEURBEAR
#51,000,0007¢ [A]_E /8 B EHT IR B ZE £30%
i WAEELSEERTHEFHERS
AR #2,000,0007T & A 8 8 1 (1 B g & 12
73 H & A R #6,000,0007T 1) 7% ©

B £2025F3A31B L FE 2 WEFE
Bk o Z 5 iR ZERR B A 30% F) 1
w= BASEBERIEABE R AFAR-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REtEATINT/E (Z)
Details of the Group’s associate as at the end of the REBEHRER FHAFTEEBRZEATNE
reporting period are as follows: #F :
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Proportion of Proportion of
registration registered share ownership interest voting rights
Name and business capital held by the Group held by the Group  Principal activities
ML BETLE FREHEN FREFAH
& RS E R EMEE  EEEESL BRERELL B TEER

2024 2024

Hantang Mingsheng** The PRC RMB350,000,000 30% 30% 30% 30% Production and sales
paid-up registered of graphite-based
capital related anode
materials
EERE [ AR AREEBE BME
350,000,0007T B EEMEE
R E AR
Hantang Alxa League** The PRC RMB200,000,000 30% 30% 30% 30% Production and sales
paid-up registered of graphite-based
capital related anode
materials
EER N E B [ AR AREEBE BME
200,000,0007T B EEMEE
R E AR
Zaozhuang** The PRC RMB23,400,000 30% — 13%* —  Production and sales
paid-up and of graphite-based
RMB6,600,000 related anode
unpaid registered materials
capital
Bt Y AR AREEBE BME
23,400,0007T B EEMEE
EHRARE
6,600,0007T
REREE AR
Notes: B 5E
* For identification purpose only S EHE R
# A limited liability company operating in the PRC. § —ERPBEEENFREERA -
" A wholly-owned subsidiary of Hantang Mingsheng. " EERABNZENB AR -
* Proportion of voting rights held by the Group is according to the proportion i AR B R A FRORKE B B & b BIAR TR -

of capital contribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REtZEATINIRE (E)
Summarised financial information of the associates BEATHMBEEHBE
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's BRASESHE ARNYBERBER
associates is set out below. The summarised financial information PR o LT ERBEERREE QR
below represents amounts in associates’ financial statements RIBIRBE AW B REEA S ERRED
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards. MBE|MERFINREEHE -
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method in FrEzZEEE AR ARAER AN Z SR
these consolidated financial statements. EMBHRER ALK -

Hantang Mingsheng Group Zaozhuang
EERBERE B

2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT FTERT TAT

Current assets mENE E 71,545 267,444 21,290 —
Non-current assets EmEEE 297,659 175,484 2,852 —
Current liabilities mEAE (2,935) (63,644) (497) —
Non-current liabilities B UN=E — — — =
Net assets A E 366,269 379,284 23,645 —
Revenue A — — — —
Loss for the year FAEE (11,862) (394) (1,714) —
Other comprehensive (expense) 4F A H th 2 & (5 s7)

income for the year I &= (1,153) — 3 =

Total comprehensive expense for & A& E [ 2 42 58

the year (13,015) (394) (1,711) —
Dividend received from the FRHEEE QT
associate during the year W ER &9 A% B — — — —
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) . REBEATHRE (F)
Summarised financial information of the associates BEATINUBEREE (&)
(continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the Ll s B R E R AR A B R R R TR
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the MRS R RN REESRAT

consolidated financial statements:

Hantang Mingsheng Group Zaozhuang
EERABEER £

2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAET FERT TAET

Net assets HEE 366,269 379,284 23,645 —
Unpaid registered capital KRBT eEM & A — — 7,152 —
366,269 379,284 30,797 —
Proportion of the Group's N & B 1) BT A R L
ownership 30% 30% 30% —
Group's share of net assets of ZAR&EE S (HEL A T
the associate ZHFREE 109,881 113,785 9,239 —
Exchange realignment T 5, 58 B 623 582 — —
Less: Unpaid registered capital & : 7~ & B R &4
by the Group FEf & A — — (6,502) —
Less: Unrealised gain on capital & : & 18 & F B 41 [A)
contribution by patented R /N ael =y
technologies to the ZAEE W=
associate (22,681) (22,681) — —
Carrying amount of the BENR RS
associate 87,823 91,686 2,737 —
22. INVENTORIES 22. 8
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFHET FH T
Goods arising in environmental protection FIRIRETSE LB Y m
business, at net realisable values: (R #HFEAE) :
Raw materials JR AR 1,541 943
Work in progress TR 1,357 1,035
Finished goods B i 2,115 6,937

5,013 8,915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a)

Contract assets

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

23. SNEAERSHAR

BHAEE

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH T

Related to construction contracts HEESEANRA — 55,253
Less: Expected credit loss B TBEEEER — (1,083)
— 54,170

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to
approximately HK$35,748,000 (net of allowance for credit
losses of approximately HK$725,000).

Contract assets represent the Group’s right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because
the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the
customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the
customers. The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is
typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the
completed construction work from the customers.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in normal
operating cycle.

The movements in provision for expected credit loss of
contract assets are as follows:

H E2023F4R81H  AHNEEN A
35,748,000/ 7T (M k= E B 18 B /B
#9725,0007 7T) °

BRHEERAKEREZTITERKR
MAZZENTRPIMAENER
RASHBAENAGEFPHARE
PRoE2ETRR T MBR T A E
E MZIBEGEFPRA - E%
TE AR A R (5 1 B CRB AN 5 B X
BEPHMAEREETRENRAN
BE) aHEEBRZEZRKX
Ig o

REBEBZEANEESNBRERD
BERT DRAKEEBEHABR —
RELZBMNEREHEE -

AWEERBEEFAREYD
m

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET T T

At beginning of year RE A 1,083 725
(Reversal of) provision of expected credit EEREHEEEIE

loss recognised (BEE) & (1,083) 358

At end of the year R E R — 1,083

The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance of contract assets at lifetime ECL.

AEBERBTAMBHELERFIR
M ZRE2HEREEBEG
EANBEENBEEHE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(a) Contract assets (continued)
A summary of the Group's exposure to credit risk for contract

23. SHEERSHAR(E

(a) EWEEE)
AEERANEERARNEER

assets is as follows: LA A
As at 31 March 2024 $£2024%3H31H
Non credit-
impaired Credit-impaired Total
7 H 3R [Ehast::)
EERE FEERE 4t
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI 42% (T8 T) 55,253 — 55,253
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{ZEEE (THT) (1,083) — (1,083)
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEBEX 1.96%

(b) Contract liabilities

(b) &HER

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Contract liabilities arising from: BT IEEELRE R

BE -

Construction works BETRE — 9,430
Current portion B E o — (9,430)
Non-current portion ERB D — =

As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$716,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities are as follows:

Construction works
Where discrepancies arise between the progress payments and
the Group’s assessment of the stage of completion, contract
liabilities can be arisen.

The decrease of contract liabilities was mainly attributable to
the decrease in progress billing for a number of sizable
projects undertaken by the Group during the year.

HE2023F4A18 A 0WEBEBH A
716,0005% 7T, ©

HENAESEBRLENMRE N
PR T -

BREITE

#E FE AT R B R &2 (B 3 55 TR B AY R
fMeM—BEHREZ BAELS
MBIE-

AEEAMNBERDIDEIEARA
SEAKNETARBENERS
BRD e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

23. BHEBERESHAR(E)

(b) EHEMBE)

Movements in contract liabilities BHEEZE
HK$'000
FH T
At 1 April 2023 R2023F481H 716
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFERNBERARFEVFAEGNEEDN
recognising revenue during the year that was WAMERE DA BERD
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (716)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in 7 2 5E T 52 B 44 51 78 5t Uk 7k i &
advance for construction works BMEHNBEEM 9,430
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 9,430
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFERNERARFEVNTFAGDEEDN
recognising revenue during the year that was WAMER & DA BERD
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (9,430)

At 31 March 2025

®2025%F3H31H —
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

2. ESEWREREKERES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#IT FH&E T

Trade receivables B 5 EIFE 146,709 98,954
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBEER (7,309) (2,990)
139,400 95,964

Retention receivables EUWRE 2 42,555 26,664
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEER (1,452) (646)
41,103 26,018

180,503 121,982

Portion classified as current assets DEAERE =i (151,987) (110,960)
Non-current portion JEmENEB 28,516 11,022

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables and retention receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$76,105,000 and HK$26,825,000, net of allowance for credit
losses of approximately HK$1,932,000 and HK$653,000 respectively.

The Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 90 days
for its customers. Interim applications for progress payments on
construction contracts are normally submitted on a monthly basis
and are normally settled within 1 month. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade and retention receivable balances. Trade

and retention receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Retention receivables held by customers arising from the Group’s
construction works are settled within a period ranging from 1 to 2
years after the completion of the construction work, as stipulated in

the construction contracts.

Details of the Group’s pledge of trade receivables is set out in

Note 31.

HE2023F4A10  RERFEHNES
BHZREEREKRBESDAINDN A
76,105,000/ 7T }.26,825,00078 7T (% Bl 40
Bz B B B # F 491,932,000 © &
653,000/ 7T) °

AEE—RAFTFRETBBIORNEE
Hl- BRARESON T HERNREBF—
RIZARXEMBEARNGEE - AKE 7
SRR U 3 Y R MERR R A S ERAR PR ) - 75
LHEERRAERE SREEESE
Hidaign ~5ETERE SRR
RERERRE AR E TR RK
HEEIEREE - B 5 - RHIE KRR
REBEERTFR -

EEAFAERAAEENEZETEANEK
REBGTIZEESYFFIARERETRE R
REIE2ERNESE -

AEFBZESRUREBNEBABHR
Mf5E31 °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 24. BESEWREREKRES
(continued) (42
Ageing analysis of trade receivables (excluding retention receivables) REEARNE Z ERRIE (T BEER
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and RBS)EREZAHRMNKREEEER
net of allowance for credit losses, is as follows: HENERRTWOT :
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FA T
Within 30 days 30K A 87,273 60,269
31 to 60 days 31E60K 17,594 12,056
61 to 90 days 61290K 8,907 12,234
Over 90 days i 390K 25,626 11,405
139,400 95,964
The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting ANEERIBEWNFEI 2P NS R ER
policy stated in Note 3.2. HIEEE -
Movements in provision for impairment of trade and retention BB RIERERGRESRERENE
receivables are as follows: RN

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET F# T

At beginning of year REA 3,636 2,585
Provision on impairment losses Rl (B S 18 B 5,128 1,037
Exchange realignment ME 5 o & (3) 14

At end of the year RER 8,761 3,636
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N

=

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Ageing analysis of the trade and retention receivables (net of credit
loss allowance) that are not individually nor collectively considered to
be in default is as follows:

EOEUREREKFRES
(&)

3 JE1E B ok 2L F AR B iR K B R 5 FE Uk 2K
HREMIRE S (NG BB BRE) NE
#

DT ¢

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FH T

Not past due K 48 HA 145,656 70,948
1 to 30 days past due #HI1E30K 8,670 12,056
31 to 90 days past due i1 Bi315290K 19,549 27,573
Over 90 days past due i HA R 390K 6,628 11,405
180,503 121,982

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's trade and retention
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$34,847,000 (2024: HK$51,034,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balance of HK$6,628,000 (2024:
HK$11,405,000) has been past due 90 days and is not considered as
in default based on previous repayment history. Furthermore,
counterparties in Hong Kong have made partial settlement regularly
and counterparties in the PRC are mainly government units and have
good repayment history.

For trade receivables and retention receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in measuring ECL, that is to recognise a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group
has applied the probability of default based on that of
counterparties with similar credit ratings, with adjustment to reflect
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions
through the use of financial market analysis. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are estimated by grouping the receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account the service type, customer type and its
geographical location. The ECL rates are applied to the respective
gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

R20256F3A310 A& BB 5 . WK IE
REKRE ESRBERRE B HE aH
/) BR T 42 58 &34,847,0007 7T (20244F
51,034,0007% 7T ) B9 FE YR BR 3K o 78 180 HR 45 642
H - 6,628,000/ JT (20244 : 11,405,000
B IT) B B HI90K - B 1R 15 B 1F 8 A 8k
PR BEL - LI BEENRSHFA
EEH#ETHSIEE MARNRZEF
FEZABNEN - BERIFERGCEE

RESEERBERERREESMS @ A&
BIER MDA ERMERREE T
BIREHmEAMERE2BRREEERE
REEGEE ARERBEREARRIN
HFELAERNEAOME  AHNAHSET
BOW T IABE  ARKRE FTOR R YR
RAR A S TER © 5 & 770K RBRAE R 10
BER EE¥EREERN®RE B HE
EEM B ROIROR KR R AEEA M # TR
BATRGEHAIE R AEEXFEER -

AEBEREBEERURANRKEEERRE T

HEDME BAGFTEREEBR L5
Yo Bl FRIZE) AT B M 7T SR B8 AT Al - E P AT

ERGER FRPEMNREMWIENLE - B
HEEBBEXEARNEBRFESBNKRE

HEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 2. BHRWAREREBRRES
(continued) (&
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TXEF B BEAEEE S EWGRIE & EWY

the Group’s trade receivables and retention receivables: RBCEERRKRNER :
As at 31 March 2025 $2025%3H31H
(i)  Construction sector (i) ZEZEDE

91 days to Over
Trade receivables B o EKRIE 365 days 365 days
by invoice date BREEAH 91X E365K  #Bifi365K
Average ECL rate % T EHEE AR 1.40% 11.17% 100%
K%
Gross carrying amount BRE A% (T4 T) 105,012 11,708 4,040 120,760
(HK$'000)
Expected credit losses BHEEEE (1,466) (1,308) (4,040) (6,814)
(HK$'000) (F#&T)
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion
Retention receivables by FElREB£ BieE i
invoice date BREZEAH — ENEAER S — FEEDEIE S
Average ECL rate % T EAEEEE 1.38% 4.28%
%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FRE %58 (T4 7T) 12,763 29,792 42,555
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{EEEE (176) (1,276) (1,452)
(FHT)

(ii) Environmental sector — Kitchen waste treatment

(i) RERSE — BT REE

91 days to Over
Trade receivables ESEKRIE 365 days 365 days
by invoice date BREZAH 91X E365K #8i8365K
Average ECL rate % TR B EE 0.68% 1.44% 3.96%
E %
Gross carrying amount R A% (T T) 10,298 8,519 6,901 25,718
(HK$'000)
Expected credit losses BHEEEE (70) (123) (273) (466)
(HK$'000) (FET)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 2. BHRWREREBRRES
(continued) (&
As at 31 March 2025 (continued)

(iii) Environmental sector — New energy materials

2025%3H318 (#&)
(iii) IRIRD BB — FFEEIRH ¥

Within 91 days to (0}V/Y
Trade receivables B S ERRIE 90 days 365 days 365 days
by invoice date BRBEEAHY 90K A 91X E365K #B3i8365K
Average ECL rate % FHEHREEEBE N/A 12.55% N/A
= % TER TER
Gross carrying amount ARE 45 (T8 7T) N/A 231 N/A 231
(HK$'000) FER FER
Expected credit losses EEEEEE N/A (29) N/A (29)
(HK$'000) (FHT) FER ER
As at 31 March 2024 20245%3H31H
(i)  Construction sector (i) ZBEHE
Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables ESEKRIE 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
by invoice date BREEZEAH 90K 91K £365K FB 365K Bt
Average ECL rate % FHEHEEBEREEY 1.96% 7.89% N/A
38 A
Gross carrying amount BRE AR (T T 53,855 11,710 N/A 65,565
(HK$'000) i A
Expected credit losses EHEEEBE(FTAT) (1,056) (924) N/A (1,980)
(HK$'000) & A
Loss rate Loss rate
— current  — Non-current
portion portion Total
Retention receivables Bl iR B £ EiE X BEx
by invoice date BREZEAH — BEAE sy — FERIEIEE D HBEt
Average ECL rate % FHBHEEBEEEY% 2.01% 2.98%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) /& [ A8 %8 (T8 7T) 15,303 11,361 26,664

Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEBHIEEEE (FHT) (307) (339) (646)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

24. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 24. BEERWRERERERES
(continued) (%)
As at 31 March 2024 (continued) $2024%3H8318 (&)
(i) Environmental sector — Kitchen waste treatment (i) BRDE — BEEFIREE
Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables B S ERRIE 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
by invoice date REBEZEH 90K AN 91KE365K  HiB365K Bt
Average ECL rate % FHEHAEEEEEY% 0.93% N/A 100%
NiE A
Gross carrying amount AR 4% (T 7T) 11,080 N/A 174 11,254
(HK$'000) 3 A
Expected credit losses EEEEEE(TFAT) (103) N/A (174) (277)
(HK$'000) 38 A
(iii) Environmental sector — New energy materials (iii) BR7 BB — FFEEIR##}
Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables B S EWRRIE 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
by invoice date REZEH 90AAN 91 KE365K  HRIB365K st
Average ECL rate % FHEHREEEBEY 3.17% 7.75% N/A
T iE A
Gross carrying amount BRE AR (AT 21,464 671 N/A 22,135
(HK$'000) i A
Expected credit losses BHEEEE(FHT) (681) (52) N/A (733)
(HK$'000) 38 B
25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ERRIE - ZRERHEKR
RECEIVABLES ]
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT F&T
Prepayments SEENE 109,745 25,566
Deposits and other receivables & & H b fE U R 92,720 207,670
Less: Accumulated impairment recognised B EERRGRE (4,107) (1,952)
198,358 231,284
Portion classified as current portion DERREE D E S (102,451) (99,963)

Non-current portion EmBE D 95,907 131,321
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ERRIE - RERH b EKR
RECEIVABLES (continued) I8 (&)
(a) Particulars of prepayment, deposits and other receivables are (a) TENZE -2 RHEMEWKIEY
as follows: SEMT
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH T
Non-current Ik i Eh
Prepayment of Dunhua Plant project — F{tI8 B #9185 B Bk AN T8 7 5018
costs 14,679 9,776
Prepayment of Guoyang Plant project AFZTE B #9E B B ANTE [ HUA
costs 6,907 11,276
Prepayment for plant and machineries* [& 5 & # 25 78 1+ 30 E 9,184 4,514
Prepayment of Yixing Plant project HAEHKHIEA ﬁizﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁi\
costs 48,810 85,208
Pledged deposits (Note 31(a)) B HF L e (H5E31()) 4,443 7,173
Rental deposits Heke — 1,541
Prepayment of Hancheng Plant project #&4%18 B #918 B B ANTE S FUA
costs 13,830 13,785
Non-current portion, gross JEm BB o 48R 97,853 133,273
Less: Accumulated impairment/ Vo Eﬁﬁwﬁf%u‘l'/}ﬁﬂﬁ/
expected credit loss recognised EHEEEE (1,946) (1,952)
Non-current portion, net EmB L F R 95,907 131,321
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Current TE
Receivables of Hanzhong project costs & FR T8 B Fk 7N fiE Ye 3 78 3,695 3,707
Deposits to relevant government LS IE B A48 B I &6 P 2
authority for Xuancheng Plant TH R € — 1,087
Other construction projects deposits HEMEEIBERE S 24,100 11,806
Cash advances to the subcontractors [ BEEHNIE S BN 8,801 22,523
PRC VAT receivables, net JE Ui B AR A % AR 33,878 27,024
Rental and utility deposits HeRKEERSE 1,721 523
Tendering deposits BEEe 5,503 3,560
Receivables from other income = Nl L — 12,165
Receivable from consideration share ﬁ ERERGH FEJ%Z FRIE*
sales* 4,480 4,480
Receivable from disposal of a subsidiary H & — &K B A & & f& W5 E 2,161 2,182
Prepayment for materials M EFTE R IE 11,667 59
Prepayment of Guoyang Plant project AFTE B &9 E B B AN T8 5 HUA
costs 4,334 —
Others Hh 8,031 10,847
Current portion, gross mENE D BT 108,371 99,963
Less: Accumulated impairment/ bk Eﬁ@w%.ﬁrﬁifﬁ/
expected credit loss recognised TEHEEEE (5,920) =

okt

Current portion, net B E D F R 102,451 99,963
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

(b)

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

25. E?#ﬂﬁ iRE R H B

Particulars of prepayment, deposits and other receivables are (a) BNNRIE 2 REMEKKIER

as follows: (continued) BT - (&)

e The Group held 18,982,992 shares of the Company maintained by ki 7N 55 B 4% 55 18,982,9920% AN A A] %
an agent who is an independent third party to the Group, details of P ZEROMBASEBIE=FH
which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated RERE -EFBHERALRAH
23 November 2023. Due to a decline in the Company’s share price A2023F11A238 B 2 o AR A
to HK$0.038 per share at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amount NARER2025F3A31A THES
of this receivable was reassessed at HK$721,000. As this recoverable [%0.038/8 7T » 7% & W R IH Y AT Yz 1B
amount was lower than the carrying amount of HK$4,480,000, an & R85 B #1714 /721,000 7T © A
impairment loss of HK$3,759,000 million was recognised for the RZA e £ EEREKRHEIE
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). 4,480,000/ 7T + i P & £2025%3 A

310 L [Z #7308 {8 /&5 83,759,000
77T (20244 « &)

# Balance as at 31 March 2025 included deposits for acquisition of @ 202543 A31 A M &R B IE AR
machines and materials amounting to approximately HK$7,812,000 ERBLEEGBEUERMBNERS
and HK$11,667,000, respectively (2024: approximately 7 Al 477,812,000 7T % 11,667,000
HK$3,358,000 and HK$59,000) for Shenzhen Huamingsheng’s 78 7L (2024 4F : #93,358,00078 7t &
production lines. 59,0007 7T ©

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each (b) EEABAT REREBHEB

reporting date by considering the probability of default and ERBENTREEETRED T RE

expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate BEBXREAGAFEHEEER &
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the FREREBABITEEL- Eﬁ

Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current BEReEDFAENRBBRERR X

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as HARGCERSOEAN(WEA) -

appropriate. The financial assets included in the above balance REREHR LRERANN 2 F

were categorised in stage 1 to stage 3 (2024: stage 1 and BES D HFIBEEEFE3MRE (2024

stage 2) at the end of the reporting period. In calculating the F:BIBBRRE2MEER) - 5T ETEH

expected credit loss rate, the Group considers the historical FEEEBEXR AKEZEATH
loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. BEREBATEGE 2B SESEED

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding RNEE ) MR R R EE RN

receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are TH /) B R 15l LA 2 R AEE R

reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not S RRBERNESRBEAEERE

hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its EHEN AEBEVEFRAERES R

deposits and other receivable balances. H A W IB & AT B EME R R

_Xﬁi\ﬁ*ﬂ*ﬁﬁi“ 58 1 1B
The movements in provision for impairment loss of other E b JE LS 50 TR R (B 85 18 B e B &)
receivables are as follows: N
Impairment Expected

loss credit loss Total
BEEE BHEEEBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FH& T
At 1 April 2023 202354 71H 2,041 — 2,041
Exchange realignment b N AR (89) = (89)
At 31 March 2024 202443 HA318 1,952 — 1,952
Provision during the year FREE 3,759 2,161 5,920
Exchange realignment fE B (6) — (6)
At 31 March 2025 72025434318 5,705 2,161 7,866
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

26. LOAN RECEIVABLES

26. FEW &=

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#IT FH&E T

Loan receivables EWRE R 38,292 39,967
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EE BB RE (28,589) (852)
9,703 39,115

Portion classified as current portion DEEREBHDHED (9,703) (29,876)
Non-current portion ERE D — 9,239

Notes:

(a)

Included in loan receivables of approximately HK$18,245,000 (approximately
RMB16,837,000) at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$19,859,000 (approximately
RMB18,270,000)) was granted to an independent third party, and is
unsecured, bearing interest at 10% per annum which has been past due
more than 90 days and considered as in default (2024: maturity date not
exceeding 12 months after the reporting period). Another loan receivable of
approximately HK$10,836,000 (approximately RMB10,000,000) at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$10,869,000 (approximately RMB10,000,000)) was granted
to a proposed investee company who is an independent third party and is
unsecured, bearing interest at 10% per annum which has been past due
more than 90 days and considered as in default (2024: maturity period not
exceeding 12 months after the reporting period).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has assessed the recoverability and the
loss allowance based on stage 3 (2024: stage 1) of general approach.

The remaining loans receivable of approximately HK$9,211,000
(approximately RMB8,500,000) at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$9,239,000
(approximately RMB8,500,000)) was granted to a potential supplier of
used-cooking oil who is an independent third party; such an amount is
interest free, unsecured with contractual maturity period not exceeding 12
months after the reporting period (2024: Contractual maturity date
exceeding 12 months after the reporting period).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has assessed the recoverability
and the loss allowance based on stage 1 of general approach.

R2025%3A318 © 4918,245,0005% 7t (49 A
K #16,837,0007T) (20244 : 19,859,000/
7T (49 A R #618,270,0007T) ) ) FE I & 2% Ty
BY—2BYHE=F AEKH . REFX
10%5 B+ B8 B B08 I 4 % & & £
(20244 : BIEAR B EEAZI12(A) -
R2025%3A318 © 4910,836,0005% 7T (49 A
K #10,000,0007T) (20244 : 10,869,000/
7t (49 A R #10,000,0007T)) B B — £ fE IR
ERNDBETFT-—HMBUE=EZREHR
DA REER  RFFNEI0%TE  BE
HA R 3BO0K I 4 4R A 32 49 (20244 - ZIH1 B
THBBREHZI2EA) -

M20255F3A318 - AEBERE —R A5
) 5530 BX (20244 : 1R B) 5T fl A U [E]
1 R E5 1B A o

M2025F3A318 B TRERKERLD
9,211,000/ 7t (# A R ¥8,500,0007T)
(20244 : 9,239,000 T () AR ¥
8,500,0007T)) i T — 2B E =77 BIERE
ERBMMEN  ZeBEARE - EIEKE -
BEME BB ABARSEHE121E A (2024
F:ANIBABAREHEI2EA) -

R2025%F K2024F3A318 * A& EH B R E
— & 77 5 B9 55 1 B BR AT ik AT UK [e] 1 K% 5 48 B
& -
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2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRE WIS R MY A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z
LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 26. EWERR (&
Movements in provision for expected credit loss of loan receivables BREREHREEEEREBENESHNT
are as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAET
At beginning of year R 1 852 839
Provision on expected credit loss TEHEESEREE 27,739 =
Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 & (2) 13
At end of the year RER 28,589 852
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 27. FEfTREAEE A RIE
At 31 March 2025, the amounts due to related parties included (a) B £202593A310 - EN @B RIER
an amount of HK$63,000,000 (2024: HK$30,000,000) due to a % (a) FE 1< — 4 B8 Bk 75 X 1H63,000,00078 7T
related party is unsecured, interest-free and repayable after one year (20244F : 30,000,000/ ) & & K 17 - &
(2024: repayable after one year), and (b) an amount of BRAR-—FHRER(20245F : AR —F
HK$143,460,000 (2024: HK$134,891,000) due to another related ‘ER) ROER S — & @5 HIA
party which is unsecured, repayable after one year (2024: repayable 143,460,0007% 7T (20244 : 134,891,000/
after one year) and carried interest rate at 3% per annum. T0) R AR —F1R(E R (20245 :
AR —FRER) RIZ3%FENETE -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. MERFEEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term ReRReFEMBRERMEASEREH
deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term cash WEAPERN T TR REBEFER R
commitments, which carry interest at market rates ranging from 7 F0.05% %£0.35% (20244 : 0.1% =
0.05% to 0.35% (2024: 0.1% to 0.2%). 02%) 2 MH KB o
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following amounts RITHE R R IR © BIE L T EXINEE &
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations and not BIEBR R T EEBELRNEE :
freely transferable:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FH T
Amounts denominated in RMB NARKFEZERE 13,266 6,710
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Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in
Note 44.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

29. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

29. BEOBAREREMRESR

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFET FAT

Trade payables 2 5 N RIE 168,286 144,157
Retention payables ERRE S 27,207 15,629
195,493 159,786

Classified as current portion DER/MEE S (173,582) (147,532)
Non-current portion FEMBE D 21,911 12,254

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on terms ranging from 30 to 180 days.

Retention payables held by the Group arise from the Group's
construction work which are settled with subcontractors within a
period which range from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the
contract work by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the
subcontracting contracts.

Retention payables held by the Group arise from the construction of
plant operated under BOT are settled with constructors within a
period which range from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the
construction work.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables (excluding retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

BSREMNKBLETE  —BRN F302
180K K BABR M 45058 ©

AEEFRBAERBEASERZETRENEN
REBE TR H A KMRTAR D HETEK
BHNIRRIZ2FAESHHEE -

AEBEMFFAR B BZRIEBOTA & KRR
FHENRBSDREETIREKEKIE
QENEAEEER -

RBEHRRNE S ENRBA(TEEEN
RE)ERBRAMOKREITAT

Within 30 days 30K A

31 to 60 days 31£60K
61 to 90 days 61£290K
Over 90 days {8 #B90K

2024

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER T
83,283 38,595
25,945 19,889
6,806 15,046
52,252 70,627

168,286 144,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HihFEftRIAE R FEEt & H

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Other payables (Note i) H b B A 508 (M=) 141,486 70,787
Accruals EEtE R 2,400 2,113
Amount due to related companies (Note ii) & B8 B 2 7] &9 2 38 (M =Eii ) 8,847 10,351
Amount due to a director (Note ii) e~ — %2 = = 59 k38 (e =%ii) 27,302 —
180,035 83,251

Note:

(i)

As at 31 March 2025, the amount (HK$2,100,000) of loan from independent
third parties and amounts (HK$7,300,000 and approximately HK$8,534,000)
of matured bonds included in other payable are bear interest at 6%, 6%
and 5% per annum, respectively.

Due to related parties as follows:

B &L :

(i) R202563A318 st AEMEMNKIBEHNE
N B =HEHEE(2,100,000% 5T) K& E H#
& % & %8 (7,300,000 7T K& #98,534,000/%
7)) 2 BRI R6% ~ 6% M5%Et B -

(ii) FEA BB 7 B FRIRAATE -

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Interest bearing at following rates per annum: BT F R =TS

Amount due to related companies JE 1 B B A R 3R IE

6% 6% 8,649 5,250
non-interest bearing TEH & 198 5,101
8,847 10,351

BN —REERE

Amount due to a director

6% 6% 26,693 —
non-interest bearing a2 609 —
27,302 —

These balances are unsecured and repayable within 1 year.

ZEEBRAREEMEAMENEE -



212  NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. stBRMRIT R A MEES
BORROWINGS
2024
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity HKS'000 (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERAE (%) H%A TET GES) s FATL
Current id )|
Bank borrowings — RITEE — BHER October 2025- July 2024 -
unsecured (note b) (K &b) 3%-4%  March 2026 20,589 3.6-3.85% March 2025 5,435
2025108 E 01UFTRZE
2026%3R 202543A
Other borrowing — secured ~ EfifEE — H#HH#
(notes a & b) (K zEakb) 6% April 2025 19,743 5.79-6% April 2024 34,073
2025%4A 202454R
Other borrowings — AfEE — BEA April 2025-
unsecured (notes b & ¢ & d)  (Fff3Eh  czd) Free-8%  March 2026 42,073 6-8% December 2024 14,500
2025F4R E
55-8% 2026%3R 204%128
82,405 54,008
Non-current Ed |
Bank borrowings — secured  $1TfEE — AHHA February
(notes a & b) (M&Fakb) 2027-February
3.9%-4.5% 2032 95,359 4.5%  February 2027 16,304
20272 E
2032521 202742
Other borrowing — secured ~ Efti & — A
(notes a & b) (MizFakb) 6%  October 2027 37,414 5.79-6%  October 2027 81,922
2027410 20274107
Other borrowing — unsecured  EftifEE — &I 1
(note ¢ (M3Ec) Free April 2026 17,621 N/A /A =
%8 2026%4A TER TER
150,394 98,226

232,799 152,234




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are analysed based

31.

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

HBSRITR MG (F)

LfEEREERBEANEER NN

on contractual repayment date as follows: TS ¢
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FH T
The carrying amounts of the borrowings 7B A T HIREEREE
are repayable BRE B
Within one year —FR 82,405 54,008
Within a period of more than one year i — FETBBAME
but not exceeding two years 49,374 32,103
Within a period of more than two years iR i@ 418 BB A F
but not exceeding five years 70,679 66,123
For period of more than five years hFE 30,341 —
232,799 152,234

Notes:

(a)

(o)

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings totalling HK$95,359,000 (2024:
HK$16,304,000) and other borrowings totalling HK$57,157,000 (2024:
HK$115,995,000) of the Group were secured by the following assets and
the 100% equity interest, property, plant and equipment, pledged deposit
and BOT operating rights of Xuancheng Plant (2024: 100% equity interest,
property, plant and equipment, pledged deposit and BOT operating rights
of Xuancheng Plant and the 40% equity interest, trade receivables and BOT
operating rights of Hefei Plant):

B 5

M2025F3A318 - AEBEMRITIEEREE
/395,359,000 7T (20244 : 16,304,0007%
TL) R E M S E %8 A57,157,00078 7T (2024
£ : 115,995,000 7T) - AATEENAKRE

WA B M100% S - W% BB k&
B K12 & RBOTE /& # {F K 17 (20244 :

T IE B M100%Em -  ME BE KK
% BEFBRSE BOTLER  URARE
2 5 FE W 3K 1E RBOT% &

B M40% 4 25

1)
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT F& T
Carrying values: BRE (A :
Investment properties (Note 17) ®E W (HEE17) 163,302 56,413
163,032 56,413

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings amounted to HK$106,195,000 (2024:
HK$18,478,000) and other borrowings amounted to HK$13,000,000 (2024:
HK$54,470,000) are guaranteed by certain Group’s subsidiaries and the
executive director of the Company, Mr. Zhu Yongjun.

As at 31 March 2025, other borrowings of HK$41,895,000 (2024: HK$Nil)
are unsecured and interest-free within the loan period with overdue
amounts subject to 3.5%-12% interest charge within two years.

7202543 A318 + R 17 & B 106,195,000/
7T (20244F : 18,478,000/ JT) & £ b ff &
13,000,000 7T (20244 : 54,470,000 7T)
HETALEEANBARIRARAGRITES

KBERERER-

202538318 - H fib & & /41,895,000
BIT (20245 - TE L) REEAREER
HRE S @S EMNFE AN A RER3.5%-

12%EF 8
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d) As at 31 March 2025, loans from an associate amounted to HK$4,800,000
(2024: HK$Nil) are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year.

TRRITREMESE ()
MisE : (88)
(d) MR202563A31H - RE—MHE AR MNE

X 54,800,0007 JT (2024%F : B L) © A
B 2B RAR—FREE-

(e) The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following (e) AEEMRITREMEEATIEEE :
currencies:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHE T
Hong Kong dollars BT 13,000 14,500
Renminbi AR E 219,799 137,734
232,799 152,234
=
32. BONDS 32. &%

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2 bonds are unsecured, bear
interest at 5% per annum and matured during the year ended
31 March 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, matured bonds of
approximately HK$21,927,000 is settled, the unsettled matured
bonds of HK$15,834,000 is reclassified to other payables.

REBE2024F3A31MHIEFEARN MERE
5 R EER FFEKE%  WRES
20253 A31H IEFEEH -

B Z=202593A318 IEFE - £21,927,000
BT B E S B EER - 15,834,000
THAREBEMNIBAESFEN S BEEHME
ERE -
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

PROVISION 33. #1s
Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by the BIBEAEB T UNETECEEBZE A%
Group, the Group has contractual obligations to maintain kitchen BEEENRTHERESCENE T RER
waste treatment under its operation to a specified level of REERRBEKTE kRS FHEE
serviceability and/or to restore the Facilities to a specified condition BHRARE  ERRRXHETET ARS
before they are handed over to the grantors at the end of the BREEEERERE BREMARLD
respective Service Concession Period. These contractual obligations to Oh - EESRBERBNENEENIRRE
maintain or restore the Facilities, except for any upgrade element, e ERAFEI7RER R E - BE R W
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 37, i.e., the EHRBETRERGANST B ORER
best estimate of the expenditure that would be required to settle Bt o BRAZ S HEE RISERA KRR H
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The future HERIKNE] AEBESRBERSLNE
expenditure on these maintenance and restoration costs is B RHR S FT Z (h At A -
collectively referred to as “major overhaul”. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
At 1 April R4F1H 6,076 6,352
Utilised during the year FRNEFHHA (1,263) (815)
Increase in discounted amount of provision for ik BE B [ 7R A4 T 1T K
major overhauls arising from the passage of BIEH 2 BB 2R
time T FLE AN 669 —
Provision for the year FRNEE — 777
Exchange realignment E N 3 B (19) (238)
At 31 March M3A31H 5,463 6,076
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities (assets) during the year are
as follows:

34, BEHIEE R

FA BEEHRERE(EE)NEHNT :

Temporary
Depreciation differences Fair value Losses
allowances in related to adjustment Expected  available for
excess of service  Provision for arising from  credit loss of offsetting
related concession major Deemed investment financial against future
depreciation revenue overhauls interest properties assets taxable profits Total
ARRHE REMEFR MEBERR
BERERE  EHEEAN EEZATE SHEEN ERHEAN
W ERE TRES XEEE iR #E BHEEER B @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THL TET TET THL TET TET THL TET
At 1 April 2023 ®202354A18 5276 13,610 (1,587) = = (1,487) (24) 15,788
(Credited) charged to profitor ~ FR(;IABH) B EH
loss during the year gl (2,851) 2,610 - (770) 1314 (385) (203) (285)
Exchange realignment 3T ES - (333) 69 — 85 (420) — (599)
At 31 March 2024 and M2024%3A318 2024
1 April 2024 F4A18 2,425 15,887 (1,518) (770) 1,399 (2,292) (227) 14,904
(Credited) charged to profitor ~ FR(;f AB%) BB
loss during the year Mk (1,224) (4,099) 695 — (204) 175 (275) (4,932)
Exchange realignment B AR - (163) 4 - (20) 327 - 148
At 31 March 2025 ®202563A318 1,201 11,625 (819) (770) 1,175 (1,790) (502) 10,120

At 31 March 2025, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of HK$41,829,000 (2024: HK$1,375,000), subject to the agreement
by the respective taxation authorities, that were available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. The Group also had tax losses arising in
Mainland China of HK$74,040,000 (2024: HK$53,736,000) that will
expire in five or ten years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets had not been recognised in respect of
the losses of HK$74,040,000 (2024: HK$53,736,000) due to
unpredictability of future taxable profit streams.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$104,174,000 (2024: HK$76,419,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

MR2025F3831H * K & na&BE
4 B S B 1841,829,0000% JT (20244 ¢
1,375,000% 7T) - AL ER AR X B
BRI RABRRRERT A - EEFES]
BREHEEE ASBETRFRHAME
4 B & 1874,040,0007 T (20244 :
53,736,000/ 70) + A {3 85 oK 2R fE SR A
F o B A FRER o B A TE R
KRR FER B & A R IR - I & B
74,040,0007% 7T (20244 : 53,736,000
TOREBEERECHEEE -

RIBFBECEMSTE R BEHE QA
E 20084 13 1H 8 B EUAY )& 7 5k /9 i B
BUTEINHL - MR ERE B mEx P 5t H
BlMtERaE Ratm M EEN T RERE
104,174,0007% 7T (20244 : 76,419,000/
TL)RTRIEERIE - REZ AL BT
TR =M BEOREEEREENT R
ReJge T E M -



35. LEASE LIABILITIES

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

35. HEAE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F# T
Lease liabilities payable: ENEESE:
Within one year —F R 3,563 5,402
Within a period of more than one year but iR — B TR E
not exceeding two years — 3,855
3,563 9,257
Less: Amount due for settlement within B R21E A R B R &5 0F
12 months shown under current ZHRIEGIRTREE
liabilities BIET) (3.563) (5,402)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months #1218 B 18 B B 455 2 3%
shown under non-current liabilities HGIRFERSDAE
BT) — 3,855

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is range

from 6.5%-9.83% (2024: 6.5%-11.15%).

36. SHARE CAPITAL

HRAREERENEEERFENT6.5%
%9.83% (2024%F : 6.5% =11.15% ) °

36. g &

217

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FET
Shares % 15
Authorised: ERE
4,000,000,000 (2024: 2,000,000,000) 4,000,000,0000% (2024
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (Note (c)) £ : 2,000,000,0000%)
TR EE. 1S T I
B (B 5E(C)) 400,000 200,000
Issued and fully: BEETRHAR:
1,606,132,134 ordinary shares of 1,606,132, 1340% & i%
HK$0.1 each E0. 178 T E @B 160,613 160,613
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

36

. BRE(E)

Number of Nominal value of

ordinary shares ordinary shares

TEREE LTEBREE
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A81H 1,507,194,134 150,719
Employee share options exercised EEEITE 2 ERE 10,430,000 1,043
Debt conversion rights exercised (Note (a)) BATR z B ERE

(B 7E(a)) 30,872,000 3,087

Other issues at cash during the year (Note (b)) FAHMR BT
GEIOY 57,636,000 5,764

At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 R2024F3A31H &
20253 H31H 1,606,132,134 160,613

Notes:

(a) On 12 July 2023 and 30 November 2023, the convertible bonds holders
converted 15,000,000 and 15,872,000 shares at prices of HK$0.20 per
share and HK$0.63 per share, respectively.

(b) On 5 October 2023, the Company issued 57,636,000 shares at a price of
HK$0.53 per share.

(0) On 16 August 2024, the shareholders of the Company approved the increase
in authorised share capital of the Company from HK$200,000,000 divided
into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$400,000,000 divided
into 4,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each by the creation of additional
2,000,000,000 new unissued shares at the annual general meeting.

(d) The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B &E :

(d)

M20234F7H128 Kk2023411HA308 « 7] #
BB A2 5lIA §A%0.20% 7T %0.6378
T K {8 1% 2 #215,000,0008% & 15,872,000/%
B fn o

2023610858 * AN 2 7] LA & i%0.537% 7T
9 B % % 1757,636,0008% fZ 19 ©

MR2024F8A16H A QX Al Bl B KA IR &
B F Kg kit S i\ 1 5%2,000,000,000
BREFABETRG  BARAEERAS
200,000,000/ 7t (5 £2,000,000,000/% & ik
E{E0.107% 7T /9 X 1% ) 3% A Z400,000,000/%
7T (% /%4,000,000,0008% & % & {H0.105% 7T
HIRR1A) ©

MBRNESETEERERNZE RS

RN R BB R AT 8] MR IR AT BB ITHY
BRENFBEHN G M HRRMET7 -
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, consultants of the Group, suppliers

incentives and rewards to eligible

include the

of goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group, the
Company’s shareholders, and any non-controlling shareholder in the
Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 26 August
2014 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company is issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the

shareholder or an

date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 7
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted
commences after a vesting period and ends on a date which is not

later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options.

is determinable by the directors,

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average of
the closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares on the date of offer.

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

37.

fE B #E 5t B
ARREWR—IARERET S (81
EERMBAKBEKRNZEFLAERNAE
RBLEERHBEHROER - ZAEWEE
R2EEBEARNANESR (RIEBILIFHR
TEE) AEEEMWES FAEEXN
A BAKEREEMIRBOKERS -
REBEPR  ARARERARRMNE R
B0 7] SE BRI IR © 3% 5T 81 M 2014F8
H26H &% BRIFWBUEHERT - BRI
REZBBFFI0FAER -

B A FFIRBZE R LA R RITEBR
RETERURBOROEE  RZTF
BBEERARRREMEMNHEBETR
MI0%H R - ZAtENBEREERZHE
BRI 218 A B R A 1T (6 B A B m 2
BTN RSBRNEE  ERNARBNE
AERNEETRODMNI% - M —FK
HEBBZRBNBRE  JARKRKE
EEGRRERALAE -

MARRESE BERTBRABREEZRE
Y EO A AR L ERE ARG
BYIERITEEOELRBE - o MR
EfAI121E B i A M A A 7] & B AR R 5k 7B
VFERITESHIHENEWHEAR LD
BREBAAR R MMEAEMNE TR
MHI0.1% * HBRE (ERARQ ARG RE
i B Hi &9 Y T (B 5t &) # 85,000,000
7T BIZER IR RS FESIRER B HbE -

REBRENZHANEELN B -7
RN - B AR A BN S 1B
THRHEARE EREBRENTESR
MEFETE RNE-—BBHEFAR BT
ENBBREZNBEBHRI0FH R T4
= o

BERENTEERESEE  BETELRN
NTHEFM&ESE  (RBREZQAE
Hl X P A RE R T RA R B B 14
miE: (NVREZ2H BB EER S A
R B MIER AR R R B H) T 5
MmE: RN EH BB A QA RO E
-

219



220  NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 37. BB #ERTEI (&)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to FERR RN A T R R A MCER AR B A AR R
vote at shareholders’ meetings. ARG ERROEF -
The following share options under the Scheme were outstanding FA - ZTETRITENBREDT :

during the year:

2025 2024
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
o F nEFH
TEE BREXE TEE BREHAE
per share ‘000 per share '000
=1 T Tk T
At beginning of year R E ) 0.62 156,100 0.44 40,248
Granted during the year FAKH N/A
ER — 0.65 135,500
Exercised during the year FANTTEE N/A
REH — 0.42 (10,430)
Lapsed during the year FAKRMK 0.54 (38,972) 0.51 (9,218)
Forfeit during the year F AR I N/A
0.65 (75,900) 1 3E A =

At end of year RER 0.65 41,228 0.62 156,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2025

Number of options

Exercise price*

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

37. B HESTEI (&)
RIBEBHRATENERENITEERT
EEREN T ¢
20255

Exercise period

ERESE TIEE* {THEH
5 (2023) 950 0.50 Note a
5(2023%) Ffsta
7 (2024) 21,456 0.65 17 August 2024 to 16 August 2027
7(20244F) 20248H 178 £2027%8H16H
9 (2024) 18,822 0.65 Note d
9(2024%) Pt s£d

41,228
2024 20245

Batch Number of options Exercise price*  Exercise period
#tx B AR 2 B TEEr T
2 (2022) 6,250 0.42 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2024
2(20224) 20224F4 7198 £2024F4718H
3 (2022) 10,500 0.42 19 April 2023 to 18 April 2024
3(20224F) 2023F4H19H £2024F4 A 18H
4 (2023) 2,500 0.50 13 December 2022 to 12 December 2024
4(20234) 20229128138 202412 A 128
5 (2023) 1,150 0.50 Note a
5(20234) BifsEa
6 (2023) 700 0.50 Note b
6(2023%) E=s)
7 (2024) 47,584 0.65 17 August 2024 to 16 August 2027
7(2024%) 202458178 202798 A16H
8 (2024) 43,708 0.65 Note c
8(2024%) {iNzde
9 (2024) 43,708 0.65 Note d
9(2024%) B 5Ed

156,100
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
2024 (continued)

Notes:

(a)

()

(a)

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2023
with validity period for 2 years from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 July 2024 with
validity period for 2 years from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2024
with validity period for 3 years from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2025
with validity period for 3 years from vesting date.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of share options exercisable is 22,406,000
shares (2024: 20,400,000 shares).

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

2022 Share option

On 19 April 2021, the Company granted share options to
certain directors, employees and consultants to subscribe for a
total of 46,492,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
share capital of the Company under the Scheme. The exercise
price of each option is HK$0.42 per share. 16,892,000 options
will vest immediately on the 19 April 2021 with validity period
of 2 years from vesting date (“Batch 1”); 14,800,000 options
will vest 1 year after the date of grant with validity period of
2 years from vesting date (“Batch 2”) and remaining
14,800,000 options will vest 2 years after such date of grant
("Batch 3").

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$3,080,000 (approximately HK$0.18 per option),
HK$3,230,000 (HK$0.22 per option)) and HK$3,550,000
(HK$0.24 per option) respectively, of which the Group has not
recognised any share option expense (2024: HK$Nil) during the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no (2024: 10,430,000)
share options for Batches 1, 2 and 3 with no fair value (2024:
approximately HK$2,181,000) have been exercised, and no
share options for both Batch 1, Batch 2 and Batch 3 (2024:
no share options for Batch 1, Batch 2 and Batch 3) with no
fair value (2024: HK$Nil) have been forfeited.

37. BBiRHERTEI (&)

20245 (&)

B &E -

(a)

(a)

5 B HIRE - MR N B R 2023F 12
A31B BRHAFEBHEMFE -

55 R B B - HE MR AR 0 ] T B 7R 20244F 7
A31B BRHAFEEHERFE -

MR B - M E R A N ER2024512
A31B  BRAAREEBHE=F -

5T B HIRE - ME SR A0 ] TE P020254F 12
A31B  BRHAREEBHE=F-

20253318 - AI{TEMEBREHE R
22,406,0000% f% {5 (20244 © 20,400,0000% I&
3) e

BRENITEER R E R BT
EARBBRAHBEMBEUE SR HE -

20224F BB B HE

MR2021F48198 » KR A REZ T
ZEmMETEE EEABHERLE
BE UARBARARAF S K
46,492,000 & fx E1E0.107% 7T &) &
AR -ENERENTEERASR
0.427% Jt ° 16,892,0001) B A% #E 7
2021F4 819 B 5RE  WERR
B A HEBETR2FE AR ([51#8E]):
14,800,00017 B IR #E g R & B #
B—FRNEB TAARSFEBEABHRE
FFEWE B R ([5280]) R &% T
14,800,00017 i A% #& 1A 3% 5 H B 18
M E N5 ([5E34]) -

EHERENRFED A
3,080,0007% 7T (& 10 B AR A £90.1878
JT) ~ 3,230,000/ T (& 1o B & &
0.227% Jt) &3,550,000/ 7t (& 1) &
BE 402478 TL) AEBRAFE L
ERERTMBRERS (2024F : T
EIL) °

i E202563A31B IEEE » F1 2
X348t #F 42 (20244 : 10,430,00017)
BREDRFEEAZTQ024F : 4
2,181,000/ JT)) B 1T F + & &1
#e - ZE240 & 55340 B A BB IR AE (2024
ML B2 & B3 B E B AR
E)(RAFEBZ (20245 : TE L))
B8 UK o
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

2022 Share option (continued)

The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

37. BEiRtEsHEI (&)

on 19 April 2021

(a)

Options granted
Options granted on 19 April 2021

20225 RERRHE (&)

B B A FET R -8 B
EEEATE - ZEANEH AED
—|T:

Options granted
on 1 April 2021

(vest 1 year (vest 2 year

(vest after grant date) after grant date)

immediately) (Note) (Note)

2021548198  122021%4R1H

$22021%4H19H 1% H B9 B B 4 1% HH B B R

12 H B RS R HE (BEBHE (EHAEH2EE

(ENES 2R B) BB (M) 5% 8 (P aE)

Grant date share price £ A HR G5 E S HK$0.42 HK$0.42 HK$0.42
0.42% 7T 0.427 7T 0.42% 7T

Exercise price TE(E HK$0.42 HK$0.42 HK$0.42
0.4278 7T 0.42%8 7T 0.42% 7T

Expected life TRt H 2 years 3 years 3 years
26 3F 3%

Expected volatility T8 B 18 103.41% 100.10% 100.10%
Expected dividend yield (%) 78 #13% B R (%) 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) %% &l K& Tl & (%) 0.95% 0.283% 0.283%

Note:

Share options are exercisable when the grantees retain employment in the
Group until the end of the vesting period.

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by
reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair

value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value

3

BRETNBBHTHEMARADAR
BRAEENIER TITE -

TE HOR 0 DA R SR 08 (48 22 R IB A
METFHFGER) BER - WRIE
X AT S B R LR SOR 1R B 1E ] TR
HBBELAE - HHRBIABE
BRERER TBHBARRKNE
AHAFEGEAELEERATE -

BEEREFHDT —EBKRE A5
H R Y 1T R o T8 H1 K fR < bR R
SLREARTBRESOER
AURREBRER -

AEQATERYTEZEREDRILEKR
ROEMEE -
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2023 Share option

On 13 December 2022, the Company granted share options to
certain Directors and employees to subscribe for a total of
10,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company under the Scheme. The exercise price
of each option is HK$0.50 per share. 2,700,000 options will
vest immediately on 13 December 2022 with validity period of
2 years from vesting date (“Batch 4"); 6,700,000 options will
vest upon achieving the relevant performance targets but in
any case not later than 31 December 2023 with validity period
of 2 years from vesting date (“Batch 5”) and remaining
1,400,000 options will vest upon achieving the relevant
performance targets but in any case not later than 31 July
2024 with validity period of 2 years from vesting date (“Batch
6").

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$519,000 (approximately HK$0.19 per option),
HK$1,666,000 (HK$0.25 per option) and HK$413,000
(HK$0.30 per option) respectively, of which the Group has not
recognised share option expense (2024: HK$119,000) during
the year.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024,
no share options for 2023 Share Option have been exercised
or forfeited.

37. BBiRHERTEI (&)

(b)

2023 FE BB B

2022128138 * AR AR & %
FEmMETEEREERLBER
U RBEARARAFR A H
10,800,0004% & A% FI{E0.107% 7T &) &
BR - BNERENTEERER
0.5078 7T 2,700,00017 & AL 4 122022
FNRABELIEEB TEHFB
B H# AR 5T #9249 B AR ([ 5B44t])
6,700,00017 i A% 7 & 7 1= SUAE FE %
48 B 121 (&R A TER2023F
12A318) %8 WARBBS A HE
2 B R E (T #5850 & 82 T
1,400,00017 f& % # 1§ 70 2 B4R 78 2
48 B IR 1& (MM s 0] DB 7202448
7TANR)EE W ARFEH R
AT A R A B R ([ SBeidtt ) o

ZHLEE A HER A F{E S B A519,000
B (8 fh B8 IR # 490.19% )
1,666,000% 7t (& 10 88 A% #0.257%
JT) }&413,0007% 7T (5 17 8 A% #0.30
BIL) ANEBRANFEEL EERE
A% % B 2 (20244 : 119,000/ 7T) °

#H £2025%3A31H K2024%3H31
B IEFZ - 84 (T {a]20234F B8 A% 4
W ATIE S B8 IR ©



37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2025 RIEEEH(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

2023 Share option (continued) (b)
The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as

37. BEiRtEsHEI (&)

2023FRERRHE (2)
B B A FET R -8 B
EEBNGE - ZEMNGAED

follows: 3
Options granted Options granted Options granted
on 13 December on 13 December on 31 December
2022 (Batch 4) 2022 (Batch 5) 2022 (Batch 6)
#2022 124 20225124 20225124
138 R H B FE 13 RHE MR
% HE (554dt) % 4 (554t) B% #E (5561t)
Grant date share price BB RGO ER HK$0.50 HK$0.50 HK$0.50
0.50% 7T 0.50% 7T 0.50%% 7T
Exercise price TE(E HK$0.50 HK$0.50 HK$0.50
0.507% 7T 0.50% 7T 0.50/% 7T
Expected life TEETEH 2 years 3.05 years 3.63 years
2% 3.05%F 3.634F
Expected volatility 8 B R 18 91.25% 89.85% 99.12%
Expected dividend yield (%) J&HAR B = (%) 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ %2 F) 2R (%) 4.344% 3.899% 3.762%

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by
reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

TE HOR 0 DA R SR 08 (48 22 R IB A
METFHFGER) BER - WRIE
X AT S B R LR SOR 1R B 1E ] TR
HBBELAE - HHRBIABE
BRERER TEHBARRKNE
AHAFEGAELEERATE -

HEBEREFHDT —EBKRE A5
H R Y 1T R o T8 K 1R < bR R
SLREARTBRESOER
AURREBRER -

AEQATERYEZERDREEKR
BOEMEE -
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

2024 Share option

On 17 August 2023, the Company granted share options to
certain Directors, employees, and 3 service providers of the
group to subscribe for a total of 135,500,000 ordinary shares
in the share capital of the Company under the Scheme. The
exercise price of each option is HK$0.65 per share.
48,084,000 options with vesting period of 1 year; and will vest
on 17 August 2024 with validity period of 3 years from
vesting date (“Batch 7"); 43,708,000 options will vest upon
achieving the relevant performance targets but in any case not
later than 31 December 2024 with validity period of 3 years
and remaining 43,708,000
options will vest upon achieving the relevant performance
targets but in any case not later than 31 December 2025 with
validity period of 3 years from vesting date (“Batch 9”).

from vesting date (“Batch 8");

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$16,374,000 (approximately HK$0.34 per option),
HK$15,925,000 (HK$0.36 per option) and HK$17,775,000
(HK$0.41 per option) respectively, of which the Group has
recognised share option expense of HK$2,768,000 (2024:
HK$9,869,000) during the year ended 31 March 2025.

During the year, no (2024: Nil) share options for 2024 Share
Option have been exercised. However, 75,900,000 (2024:
500,000) share options were forfeited due to the resignation
of an executive director, employees, consultants and the
retirement of a non-executive director (2024: resignation of a
non-executive director).

37. BERRHESTEI (&)

(o)

20244F BE RE HE

R2023F8/17H * AN A A B & %
ERMASEEETES: EE K3
RIS EE A L B - LR
ARRA FIRE AR & $£135,500,0000% &
ARk -FHERENTEERER
0.6578 JT ° 48,084,0001) f& A% #& -
5B B R1F W 202458 /17
B WYEEHRFEBHHRERTH
3F B K H(TE74E]) 5 43,708,000
MERESRESHABEEERZE
(ME £ 5 20 ] 71 48 7R2024F12 A31
RSB YEBHLRERBHE
3F B ([5E8ft]) : U ER&HT
43,708,00017 B8 % # 15 7 2= BUAE 4
¥4 B iR% (M Em e T IERR2025
F12A310) BB  EEHEERH
FEETAI3E B BUHA ([ 5ot ]) o

EMHERENAFTED A
16,374,000/ 7t (& 17 8 f% # £90.34
7 JC) ~ 15,925,000/ JT (& 19 B B%
#0.36/87T) &17,775,0007 7T (515
B #0418 L) - & R R B E=2025
FIANBULEFE - ASKBECDHRE
B% #E B 522,768,000/ JT (20244 :
9,869,000/ JT) °

RAFE - B8 (20244F « ) F
2024 BERBE AT - AT - BB AR
—ZHTEE -EE EMEHBRK
—HAIEMITERMT (2024F : — 3k
¥ 17T & = B L) 75,900,00013
(20244 : 500,0001) B8 A% # % %
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

2024 Share option (continued)

The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

Options

el BHRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

37. BEiRtEsHEI (&)

granted

on 17 August
2023 (Batch 7)

(c)

Options granted

2024 RERRHE ()

B B A FET R -8 B
EEEATE - ZEANEH AED
—|T:

Options granted
on 17 August
2023 (Batch 9)

on 17 August
2023 (Batch 8)

#2023%FE8A17H R2023%FE8H17H 122023%F8H17H

2 H RS HE BHBERE 1% H B RE AR

(5574#L) (558#t) (5E9%t)

Grant date share price BB RGO ER HK$0.65 HK$0.65 HK$0.65

0.65% 7T 0.65% 7T 0.65/% 7T

Exercise price TE(E HK$0.65 HK$0.65 HK$0.65

0.6578 7T 0.65/8 7T 0.65/% 7T

Expected life TEETEH 4.0 years 4.37 years 5.38 years

4.0 4.374F 5.384F

Expected volatility 8 B R 18 97.066% 95.797% 90.332%

Expected dividend yield (%) J&HAR B = (%) 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ %2 F) 2R (%) 4.025% 4.012% 3.985%
The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by T8 HA R 1 DA SE R i (A8 2 BRI AR 4

reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair

value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

METFHFGER) BER - WRIE
X AT S B R LR SOR 1R B 1E ] TR
HBBELAE - HHRBIABE
BRERER TEHBARRKNE
AHAFEGAELEERATE -

HEBEREFHDT —EBKRE A5
H R Y 1T R o T8 K 1R < bR R
SLREARTBRESOER
ARURRERAE

AEQATERYEZERDREEKR
BOEMEE -

227



228 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

g = —
37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 37. BIRHESTEI (&)
Share option movement tables BREEHR
The following table disclose details of movements of the Company’s TRIFERE 2025438318 EFEH
2022 Share Options held by directors and employees during the year EEZREEFEARRQR022F AR E L F)
ended 31 March 2025: Z B
Vested and
Subscription Outstanding Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited Outstanding exercisable
price per  at 1 April  during the during the  during the during the  during the at 31 March at 31 March
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2024 year year year year year 2025 2025
120245 R2025%  12025%
4A1H 3A31H 3A318E
R BH SR TiEs SRAWE HATHE FEEERL FEEEAE FEECHY FERCKY FERERE  HAOE BRERITE
Directors
s
19/4/2021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 0.42 3,000,000 - - —  (3,000,000) - - -
19/412021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (%24t 19/4/2022-18/4/2024
19/412023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/412023-18/4/2024 0.42 3,000,000 - - —  (3,000,000) - — -
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (5534#) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
6,000,000 - - —  (6,000,000) - - -
Employees
&8
19/4/2021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 0.42 2,250,000 — - —  (2,250,000) — - —
19/4/2021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (%24t) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024
19/412023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 0.42 5,500,000 - - — (5,500,000 - — -
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (5534) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
7,750,000 - - — (7,750,000 - - -
Consultants
i
19/4/2021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 0.42 1,000,000 — - — (1,000,000 - - —
19/4/2021 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (£24t) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 2,000,000 - - — (2,000,000 - - -
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 ($34t) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
3,000,000 - - —  (3,000,000) - - -
16,750,000 - - — (16,750,000 - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share option movement tables (continued)
The following table disclose details of movements of the Company’s

2022 Share Options held by directors and employees during the year

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

37. BRAESHEI (&)
TERBEERBE2024F3A31A LFE i
EZREERBEARF202FERES

ended 31 March 2024: Z g
Vested and
Outstanding ~ exercisable
Subscription  Outstanding at at
price per at 1 April 31 March 31 March
Date of grant ~ Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited 2024 2024
#2023 20245 20245
4R1B 3A318  3A31BE
RLAH GBH (i3 SRABE  HAOE BRI BiTfE B BAH Bl EAOE BEBRUAE
HK$
BT
Directors
s
19/4/2021 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 1) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 042 3,000,000 —  (2,000,000) —  (1,000,000) = = =
19/412021 WL RSB E (F14) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 3,000,000 - - - - — 3,000,000 3,000,000
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (5624) 19/42022-18/4/2024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 3,000,000 - - - - — 3,000,000 3,000,000
19/42023-18/4/2024 (%:34t) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
9,000,000 —  (2,000,000) —  (1,000,000) — 6,000,000 6,000,000
Employees
&8
19/412021 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 1) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 042 1,748,000 —  (1,700,000) - (48,000) - - -
19/4/2021 RELEBSE (F14) 19/42021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 7,100,000 —  (4,490,000) —  (360,000) — 2,250,000 2,250,000
19/412022-18/4/2024 (%:24t) 19/412022-18/4/2024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 7,100,000 —  (1,240,000) —  (360,000) — 5500000 5,500,000
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (55341) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
15,948,000 —  (7,430,000) —  (768,000) — 7,750,000 7,750,000
Consultants
R
19/412021 Vest upon date of grant 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 042 500,000 - - —  (500,000) - - -
(Note €) (Batch 1)
19/4/2021 RELBBHSE (Wire)(F11) 19/42021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 2,000,000 —  (1,000,000) - - — 1,000,000 1,000,000
19/412022-18/4/2024 (5524%) 19/4/2022-18/412024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 2,000,000 — — — — — 2,000,000 2,000,000
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (5534) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
4,500,000 —  (1,000,000) —  (500,000) — 3,000,000 3,000,000
29,448,000 —  (10,430,000) —  (2,268,000) — 16,750,000 16,750,000
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: = =
37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 37. BB #ERTEI (&)
Share option movement tables (continued) BRE2HR(E)
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2023 B 2025438318 It & E - 1B 520234
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set BREEREMBRESESFEHIW
out as follows: T ¢
Vested and
Subscription Outstanding Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited Outstanding exercisable
price per  at 1 April  during the during the  during the during the  during the at 31 March at 31 March
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2024 year year year year year 2025 2025
120245 R2025%  12025%F
4A1H 3A31H 3A318E
R BH SR TiEs SRAWE HATHE FEEERL FEREAR FEECHY FERCKY FEEERE  HAOE BERITE
Directors
s
13/12/2022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 13/12/2022- 0.50 1,100,000 - - —  (1,100,000) - - -
1211212024
1312202 REHEHEE(E4d) 1312/2022-
121212024
1,100,000 - - —  (1,100,000) - - -
Employees
&8
13/12/2022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 13/12/2022- 0.50 1,600,000 — - — (1,600,000 — - —
1211212024
1312202 REHEHEE(SE4d) 131122022~
121212024
Note c (Batch 5) 0.50 950,000 - - - - - 950,000 950,000
Wi (%58t)
Note d (Batch 6) 0.50 300,000 — - - (300,000) - - —
Wi std (£64t)
2,850,000 - - —  (1,900,000) — 950,000 950,000
Consultants
&
13/12/2022 Notes d & e (Batch 6) 31/7/2024-30/7/2026 0.50 400,000 — — — (400,000) — — —
13/12/2022 Hizkd Re (%6#t) 31/712024-30/7/2026
400,000 - - —  (400,000) - - -

4,350,000 - - — (3,400,000 - 950,000 950,000
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 37. BIxHESTEI (&)
Share option movement tables (continued) BREZHR(Z
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2023 H £2024F3A318 It F [E © B H2023F
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set BRETERENBRESSFEHIW
out as follows: T ¢
Vested and
Subscription  Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Forfeited  Outstanding  exercisable
price per at 1 April  during the  during the  during the Lapsed during ~ During the ~ at 31 March  at 31 March
Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Year Year Year the Year Year 2024 2024
120235 20245 120245
4A18 3A31A 3A31HE
Rt AH SEH TR BRABE  WAOE AEEERY AFEROR AFEEHH AFEEAM AFEERM  HAGR BERIAE
HKS
AL
Directors
s
13122022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 1312/2022- 0.50 1,100,000 = = = = = 1,100,000 1,100,000
1211212024
1312/2022 W A 5B (Fa8t) 1311212022
121212024
1,100,000 — — — — — 1,100,000 1,100,000
Employees
&8
131212022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 13112/2022- 0.50 1,600,000 = = = = = 1,600,000 1,600,000
121212024
1312/2022 RE BB E (F48t) 131212022~
121212024
Note c (Batch 5) 0.50 5,900,000 — — — (4,950,000 — 950,000 950,000
Wi e (%58t)
Note d (Batch 6) 0.50 600,000 = = = (300,000) = 300,000 =
WisEd (56%t)
8,100,000 — — — (5,250,000 — 2,850,000 2,550,000
Consultants
i
13/12/2022 Notes ¢ & e (Batch 5) 3112/2023- 0.50 800,000 = = = (800,000) — — —
30/12/2025
131212022 HizEcRe (£58) 31/12/2023-
30/12/2025
Notes d & e (Batch 6) 31/712024-30/7/2026 0.50 800,000 — — — (400,000) — 400,000 —
HizEdRe (%6#t) 31/712024-30/7/2026
1,600,000 = = —  (1,200,000) = 400,000 =

10,800,000 = = — (6,450,000 — 4,350,000 3,650,000
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 37. BB #ERTEI (&)
Share option movement tables (continued) BREZHR(E)
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2024 B £202543A318 It & F - 1B 1520244
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set BREERENBRESESFEHIIW
out as follows: T ¢
Vested and
Subscription Outstanding Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited Outstanding exercisable
price per  at 1 April  during the during the  during the during the  during the at 31 March at 31 March
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2024 year year year year year 2025 2025
120245 R2025%  12025%
4A1H 3A31H 3A318E
RiLEH GEH TiEs SRAWE HATHE FEEERL FEEEAE FEECHY FERCKY FERERE  HAOE BRERITE
Directors
s
17/8/2023 Vest upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 5,564,000 - - - —  (2,032,000) 3,532,000 3,532,000

of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 BRRLAMATHR (£74) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027

Note a (Batch 8) 0.65 2,968,000 - - —  (1,484,000)  (1,484,000) - -
GETIE )
Note b (Batch 9) 0.65 2,968,000 - - - —  (1,484,0000 1,484,000 -
M &b (594t)
11,500,000 - - —  (1,484,000)  (5,000,000) 5,016,000 3,532,000
Employees
&8
17/8/2023 Vest upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 38,104,000 — - — — (20,524,000) 17,580,000 17,580,000

of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 BRELAIAFER (F74) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027

Note a (Batch 8) 0.65 36,948,000 — - — (17,010,000) (19,938,000) - —
Hista (%84)
Note b (Batch 9) 0.65 36,948,000 - - - — (19,938,000) 17,010,000 -
Wi &Eb (59%t)
112,000,000 — - — (17,010,000) (60,400,000) (34,590,000) 17,580,000
Consultants
i
17/8/2023 Vest upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 3,916,000 - - - — (3,572,000 344,000 344,000

of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 ERBLAHAERE (574) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027

Note a (Batch 8) 065 3,792,000 - - — (3280000 (3,464,000) - -
Mizta (%84t)
Note b (Batch 9) 065 3,792,000 - - - (3.464,000) 328,000 -
Wi &Eb (598t)

11,500,000 - - — (3280000 (105000000 672,000 344,000

135,000,000 — — — (18,822,000 (75,900,000) 40,278,000 21,456,000
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share option movement tables (continued)
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2024

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

37. B HESTEI (&)
H Z=2024%3A318 It F Z - 1B H2024%F

Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set BRETERENBRESSFEHIW
out as follows: T ¢
Vested and
Subscription  Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Forfeited ~ Outstanding exercisable at
price per at 1 April  during the  during the ~ during the Lapsed during ~ During the  at 31 March 31 March
Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Year Year Year the Year Year 2024 2024
20235 20245 120245
4A18 3A31A 3A31HE
Rt AH SEH (i3 SHRABE HATE AFERRE AFERAR AFEEHH FEEEAN AEEDRK AR BBRAITE
HKS
AL
Directors
%
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 — 6,064,000 = = = (500,000 5,564,000 —
of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 ERBLAHAEEE (£74) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 8) 0.65 — 2,968,000 - — - — 2,968,000 —
Mizta (E8it)
Note b (Batch 9) 0.65 — 2,968,000 — — — — 2,968,000 —
M &b (594t
— 12,000,000 — — — (500,000) 11,500,000 —
Employees
ER
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 — 38,104,000 — — — — 38,104,000 —
of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 ERBLAHIAFSE (£74) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 8) 0.65 — 36,948,000 - — - — 36,948,000 —
Mizta (E8kt)
Note b (Batch 9) 0.65 — 36,948,000 - — - — 36,948,000 —
Wi &b (594t
— 112,000,000 — — — — 112,000,000 —
Consultants
B
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 — 3,916,000 — — — — 3,916,000 —
of grant (Batch 7)
17/8/2023 ERBYASHIAFSE (£74) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 8) 0.65 — 3,792,000 — — - — 3,792,000 —
Wizta (E8kt)
Note b (Batch 9) 0.65 — 3,792,000 — — — — 3,792,000 —
&b (E9#t)
— 11,500,000 - — - — 11,500,000 —
— 135,500,000 — — — (500,000) 135,000,000 —
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share option movement tables (continued)
Notes:

a. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 December 2024
with a validity period of 3 years from the respective vesting dates.

b. The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 December 2025 with a validity period of 3 years from the
respective vesting dates.

C The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 December 2023 with a validity period of 2 years from the
respective vesting dates. The Performance Targets referred in Notes 2 and 3
above include (i) fulfillment of various performance targets in relation to the
performance of Hefei Plant and Xuancheng Plants; and obtain the
Construction Licence and Business Registration License for Guoyang and
Dunhua Plants within the time periods as determined by the Board; or (ii)
performance appraisal of the grantees, taking into account certain
qualitative and quantitative performance indicators. If (i) a grantee’s
performance targets/appraisals result before a vesting period (the
“Performance Grading”) is graded as level A, the portion of options
granted to such grantee will be fully vested during the relevant vesting
period; (ii) if the Performance Grading is level B, C or D, a portion of the
options will be vested during the relevant vesting period; and (iii) if the
Performance Grading is below level D, no options will be vested during the
relevant vesting period.

d. The exercise of the options is subject to certain conditions that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 July 2024 with a validity period of 2 years from the respective
vesting dates.

e. These are options previously granted to employees but were re-appointed as
consultants upon their retirements during the year.

37.
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 38. AEXIIERESIIEZM
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BAT
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling REBEHESRIFEEREROME QT
interests are set out below: BT

Percentage of equity interest held by non- IF 128 IR 4 55 T 45 AR A
controlling interests: Ao
Hefei Plant (note (b)) & HEIE B (5 (b)) — —
Shenzhen Huamingsheng (note (a)) 7112 B B (FfY 5E(a) ) 49% 49%
Hanzhong Yisheng Biological Technology ERTMESEME R
Limited* CER M E S EME KGR A A) BRAR(NEHRIEE D
(“Hanzhong Plant”) 20% 20%
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information TR BN _El b B A 7 B UHE B S LA PR
of the above subsidiaries since the acquisition/establishment. W B ERE -
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH& T
(Loss) profit for the year allocated to non- 7 Be = FE AR 7 2 ) G A
controlling interests: (E18) @ Fl :
Hefei Plant SRIER — 1,263
Shenzhen Huamingsheng I ZE B s (9,117) 27,940
Hanzhong Plant EFRIER (11) (5)
(9,128) 29,198
Accumulated balances of non-controlling JEfERRE S N TR E HHEA
interests at the reporting date: ES o
Shenzhen Huamingsheng I ZE R s 53,630 62,946
Hanzhong Plant EHIEE 4,258 4,282

57,888 67,228
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 38. HAEKXFIERERIEZH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BT (&
(continued)

Shenzhen Huamingsheng

o= 31| 2 BA B
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue N 3,080 42,626
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (10,199) (27,419)
Other income H Al A 6,605 58,815
Total expenses, net BH X F R (18,093) (17,001)

FRN(EE) & (18,607) 57,021
FRE2HE(FEX) WEBE

(Loss) profit for the year
Total comprehensive (expense) income

for the year (19,013) 54,726
Current assets MEEE 36,459 46,539
Non-current assets EmEBEE 157,104 166,261
Current liabilities mEERE (84,115) (81,595)
Non-current liabilities ErEaE — (2,744)
Net cash flows used in operating activities L EHMARERE

R (7,388) (9,703)

Net cash flows (used in) from HEFS(FMA)MSHEE
investing activities mE (4,824) 3,037
Net cash flows from financing activities MESTHAERERE

F R 16,245 5,036
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash e RIReFEBEWIE N
equivalent Rt ) # 58 4,033 (1,630)
Notes: Bt 3T -
a) Shenzhen Huamingsheng was established pursuant to an agreement entered a) AR ZEBR B T AR 4R — 19 202211 B T 3L
into in November 2022. Total registered capital of Shenzhen Huamingsheng B  RYIERABNEEFMERRA

was RMB68,600,000 where the Group and another shareholder of
Shenzhen Huamingsheng agreed to make capital contribution to Shenzhen
Huamingsheng of RMB34,986,000 and RMB33,614,000, respectively.

R 68,600,000t * A~ 5 & & 5 — & 7
ERHBERERBEFRRINEZRABESEEA
K %34,986,0007T & A K #33,614,0007T °

Shenzhen Huamingsheng is owned as to 51% and 49% by the Group and
another shareholder, respectively. Pursuant to such an agreement, the
Group and other shareholder shall contribute its relevant capital in full
within 18 months upon the completion of the business registration of
Shenzhen Huamingsheng. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group completed its capital contribution of RMB34,986,000 while another
shareholder has made its capital contribution to Shenzhen Huamingsheng
by providing patented technologies.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired the remaining
40% shares from the non-controlling shareholder at the consideration of
HK$41,847,000 (approximately RMB38,500,000). Therefore, the Hefei Plant
became the wholly owned subsidiary of the Group during the year ended
31 March 2024.

AYNERB S BAAREEEFN%R S —
ZREEEGA9% - RIFABHE  A5EER
F—BRRERNRYIZERABEXEEEST
#ISEAANEREEAMEES - REIE2023
FIAMAULEFEAR AEEETKEEA
R #34,986,0007T * 5 — & MR R Bl :@ B 12
M EF AR RN ZE B EE -

R E E2024F3A831A L FE A K B
41,847,000/ 7t (#) A R #38,500,0007T ) E@
B 1) FE 12 AR AR BR UL B #R T 40% I AR 15 ©
it - é%ﬁamﬁimmimmamig
RAREENZEN B R
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities:

20255 FH AIXKEE(ER)ARAA

E CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

39. MEGTHEAMBRHEER

TRFAVNAEERETHELNAEES
FE ERASRFRSEY -BRELY
EENBEERASEESHERERD
BRI BELSRETHASHRSRENS
BREREIARAKAERE

Amounts Interest-
due to bearing bank
related and other Lease
parties borrowings liabilities Bond Total
FE £ B Bk 5 st RRITR
RIE Hih & HESRK &% st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT TET TFEXT TFEXT
At 1 April 2024 R20245F4 718 164,891 152,234 9,257 37,761 364,143
Changes from cash flows: RenEg :
Repayment of bonds BEES — — — (21,927) (21,927)
New bank and other HESROREMBEE
borrowings raised — 134,168 — — 134,168
Repayment of bank and ERFIREMEE
other borrowings — (34,067) — — (34,067)
Repayment of capital EREEABEARL D
element of lease
liabilities - - (5,209) — (5,209)
Repayment of interest EREEABNEHD
element of lease
liabilities — — (571) — (571)
Interest paid BAHME — (10,667) — (607) (11,274)
Increase in amount due to JE 15 B B 5 SR IA S8
related parties 41,569 — — — 41,569
Total changes from financing BIERESREZHHEEHE
cash flows 41,569 89,434 (5,780) (22,534) 102,689
Non-cash changes: FHRLEH:
Finance cost BB A 4,864 10,916 571 607 16,958
Transfer to other payable EREHMEMNRE (4,864) (19,294) — (15,834) (39,992)
Decrease due to the lease HBE & T MR
modification — — (418) — (418)
Foreign exchange S EE £ B
movements — (491) (67) — (558)
Total other changes Hih 25 @eE — (8,869) 86 (15,227) (24,010)
At 31 March 2025 #202543HA31H 206,460 232,799 3,563 - 442,822
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

39.

METHEEMAFEYHER (&

Amounts Interest-
due to bearing bank
related and other Lease Convertible
parties borrowings liabilities Bond bonds Total
BT  SERITR
FHE Hifg & HEGRE &% ARRKRES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHET T FHET T
At 1 April 2023 "2023F4818 190,222 166,990 13,609 20,000 2,376 393,197
Changes from financing cash flows: AL HRELH :
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BIIEHFMERE — — — 17,761 — 17,761
New bank and other borrowings MEETREMES — 59,462 — — — 59,462
Repayment of bank and other BERTREMEE
borrowings — (68,352) — — — (68,352)
Repayment of capital element of BEHEAENERNS
lease liabilities — — (5,143) — — (5,143)
Repayment of interest element of ~ ERBEEBHF L H
lease liabilities — — (810) — — (810)
Interest paid BAF A — (9,724) — (1,350) (51) (11,125)
Repayment for in amounts due to {58 FE {3 B Bk 5 A
related parties (25,331) — — — — (25,331)
Total changes from financing cash BEREREL B EE
flows (25,331) (18,614) (5,953) 16,411 (51) (33,538)
Non-cash changes: FREER:
Finance cost ISR A 5,205 9,724 810 1,350 51 17,140
Transfer to other payable 8 H B OB (5,205) — — — — (5,205)
Gain on a lease modification HEEYS — — (69) = = (69)
Decrease due to the EHE & Bom >
lease modification — — (5,156) — — (5,156)
Inception of new leases MMEERSR — — 6,417 — — 6,417
Liability component on MR E 152 5
initial recognition — — — — 1,612 1,612
Redemption of convertible bonds 8 o] iJ 2 % B 5 — — — — (806) (806)
Debt conversion rights exercised TEERERE — — — — (3,182) (3,182)
Foreign exchange movements GNE £ B — (5,866) (401) — — (6,267)
Total other changes HihBR@E — 3,858 1,601 1,350 (2,325) 4,484
At 31 March 2024 20249F3/318 164,891 152,234 9,257 37,761 = 364,143
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. HAE K
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not REME AR - WERALGRE WK A
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as REEHOIABEOT :
follows:

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TATT

Indemnities given to a financial institution for AL EEAEMNEEES L

performance bonds issued in relation to B B A9 4R B [R) B 765 A

construction contracts undertaken by the BREMNBERE

Group 85,569 44,649
Based on the assessment of the management, the chance of EREBENME EEBER/ -

reimbursement is limited.

41. COMMITMENTS 41. % iE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the REERBEAREUTEREE:
reporting period:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&xT THTT

Capital commitments for the Guoyang BOT A5 8BOTIHE & K

project HE 1,733 1,792
Capital commitments for the Yixing project HAIEEB KB RFE 25,124 124,191
26,857 125,983
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. BB AR5
(a) In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BZEREMBHERHEMIBHFil
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the MEBRER SN REBRFRE
following material transactions with related parties during the BT ETUTEARS ¢
year:
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Related companies: [zl
Revenue® W AH 22,160 —
Interest expenses* MEFREZ # 4,255 5,205
Director, Mr. Zhu Yongjun EERBELLE

Interest expenses FERXZ 609 —
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

43.

(a) In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the
year: (continued)

* The related companies are controlled by Mr. Chu Shu Cheong, a key
management personnel of the Company.

# A director of the Company, Mr. Zhu Yongjun, is the common director
of the related company.

The above transactions were entered into based on terms
mutually agreed between the relevant parties.
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group
Remuneration of key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

42. BBt B RS (&)

(a) KRZEFHEAMBHMEREME O
MERERZH REBRFRE
MBI ETATEARS : (B)

* ZERBARMARBEZEEA
R S ST o

=

# ARAEFRBELEERBEH QA
HRESE-

LR 5 TR BRI AT EE R E
YRR ET 3L

(b) FREFEEEASHFHM

AEETEERABHFH (RES
AMBREMENREOEEFH)
mF :

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Short term employee benefits RHESRA 8,282 9,154
Post-employment benefits B 12 18 73 72
Equity-settled share option expense LA 55 45 B ) B AR

3 458 995

Total compensation paid to key ENFEZETEABHMH
management personnel B 8,813 10,221

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure and strives to maintain a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’
equity.

43. BRERBRER

AEEEAEENTIZABERRELARE
FEKENREN THEBRENEALL
Ko DBRERRREHERRSE S
NG

AEEBGETEHRIREBEEERNER
WO HEFRFBEOEARNMRR - I FE ELEN
MHESERIEREENRRSEAERER
EE - AEBXTEERARIEEE AL
BATHR AR IFRARERLERE - REE
202543 A31H K2024F3A31H IEFE -
AEEBTEEANBRE BEXEFHE

AEENEABRERRERNMERD °
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 43. EXEIGER (&
The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this EXTHRNEREE NRIK &5
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks SERECKRAREZEERNIEBENER
associated with class of capital. Based on recommendations of the o BIBEFMNEZR  ANEEGEETH
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through BARBTHEHERREFER T EER
a new share issue as well as issue of new debts or repayment of B R4 - M2025F3A31H &2024%3A
existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios as at 31 March 2025 BEMEBFREEERLENT
and 31 March 2024 were as follows:
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Total debts B4R
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,563 9,257
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AFRRTRAMEBEER 232,799 152,234
Bonds (CE2 — 37,761
Amount due to related parties JE 15 BA Bt U5 SR IE 206,460 164,891
Less: cash and cash equivalents HIBRERBEEEY (115,170) (37,321)
Net debts B 558 327,652 326,822
Equity attributable to owners of the Company (ER AR A #E AK
& 319,767 399,251
Net debts-to-equity ratio B R R = 102.47% 81.86%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

AR B oA B A RV R S A 5D R

1 I #) B AN 42 T IR 1) o
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44. FREHEI S EMT A
é%ﬂﬁ@&é%ﬂ%ﬁ‘zﬂiﬁﬁﬁmﬁgﬁé
i/mgﬁfﬁ MB‘]@J}EE&ZKEEE °

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models

based on discounted cash flow analysis. The Directors consider that EEZRE HREVBRRPABEKERA
the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities FemEERTHABENREERAR

recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements FEEE
approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEPR SEESRITANEESEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: S 8
2025 20255

EHEE

Financial assets

Financial assets

at amortised cost

RIS AT R B

SHEE

HK$'000

FHET

Trade and retention receivables B o RUGRIE R EYRE € 180,503

Receivables under service concession arrangements FET A REZ BE T MY E R IE 58,510

Contract assets under service concession arrangements SR E LT THENEE 40,249
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables &t A% & K b & Ik X TE ) & &b

BE 56,681

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBASEFEEY 115,170

Loan receivables & W B 5K 9,703

460,816

Financial liabilities

EHER

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

REHER AT R

oA =K

HK$’'000

FHET

Trade and retention payables BE2RNREREMNRE 2 195,493
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals =+ A £ {th f& < 2078 & fE =1 & B B

TREE 172,033

Amounts due to related parties JE 15 B Bt 5 3RIH 206,460

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFERITREMBEE 232,799

Lease liabilities HEBE 3,563

810,348
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)
2024
Financial assets

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

20245
PREE

44. ZEHESHEMIR (&)

Financial assets
at amortised cots

U 7% $R R MY o

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

243

LKA 2R

TREE

HK$'000

FHBT

Trade and retention receivables B2 REWRIERERRE & 121,982

Receivables under service concession arrangements FFET RS RE 2 BE T A FE IR IE 61,296

Contract assets under service concession arrangements B AF& S L THA N EE 40,329
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables &t A3% 4 K E b & Ug 3 I8 £y

TRIEE 178,381

Cash and cash equivalents HekIReEEY 37,321

Loan receivables & W B 5% 39,115

478,424

Financial liabilities

EHERE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cots

R ARG 28

A &

HK$'000

F& T

Trade and retention payables BoRNAENREMRES 159,786
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals &+ A E i &+ 208 & fE 51 & F &Y

TREE 75,518

Amounts due to related parties JE 1F BA Bt 5 3R IE 164,891

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ARRITREMEER 152,234

Bonds (EE2 37,761

Lease liabilities HEBE 9,257

599,447
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and retention receivables,
contract assets, loan receivables and receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements, financial assets included in
deposits and other receivables. Financial liabilities included in trade
and retention payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities,
amounts due to related parties, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, bonds and liability component of convertible bond,
which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees on the policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest-rate risk mainly arises from loan receivables,
amounts due to related parties, other payables, interest-bearing
other borrowings and bonds as disclosed in Notes 26, 27, 30, 31
and 32.

Amounts due to related parties, interest-bearing other borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and bonds were issued at
fixed rates which expose the Group to interest-rate risk. The Group
has no cash flow interest-rate risk as there are no borrowings which
bear floating interest rates. The Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates. The
Group mitigates this risk by closely monitoring the movements in
interest rates and reviewing its available credit facilities and their
utilisation regularly.

45. R EGEEBEBEHERBEK

AEENFESMTIAGTETARIN B
BRE LR EFEMN R BRITREAM
EE - ZEeRIANIZRENRAE
BEEEE AEBAZHEEMERMEE
REE BB 5 e A KRS
T ARNEE BREFRARBIFELHE
RHERMKERANEE SHARENRE
EKABENEREE SBRABFAR
ZENFBRENRES EMENRIE
REGER MEARE BB X
BRTRRTREMEE BEFRAURK
BErcBERY  TEAAKEZEER
EE-

AEESRITAMELN T 2ER /MK
Rk - SNERR  EERRNMREE SR
ReEERRIMBDEFFEEZSAR
RBER - BB N o

2= 3l B
AEENFERARTIERBREER &
T BAESE 77 IR - A RIR - B EAM

BE RES  WtsE26 - 27 ~ 30 « 31 %32
Fri# & -

FEfTRAESE T 5RIE - st R EMER - AR
BrcBERD REFABE S E#HT
EARKREAZMNERR AKELERS
mENEREE  FAYEES LT EFE -
7N ER B3 R (] & B T R E B ER
KRg  AEBTYERNEES I FE
M EUREERERESRBER B
HAEBERR -
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. iR EGESBEEERBE (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the interest rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit (loss) before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings and equity).

HEAR (%)
TERBIENA RS BBH TR ER
T AKEZ BB, (BR)GERT
BEERMEIYE)HRETRER
ABBE Y HEE -

Increase
(decrease) in
Increase profit (loss)
(decrease) in before tax and
percentage equity
B Bt mi s # (B548)
Bt RAELE TN
(iB4) (BD)
HK$’000
FAET
As at 31 March 2025 7202543 A31H 0.5% (1,729)
(0.5%) 1,729
As at 31 March 2024 M202493A31H 0.5% (1,303)
(0.5%) 1,303
Foreign currency risk Ib 8 L b

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HK$ and Renminbi
(“RMB"), which are the functional currencies of respective group
companies. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk primarily
arises from certain financial instruments which are denominated in
United States dollars (“US$"), which are currencies other than the
functional currency.

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because the Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the assets and
liabilities denominated in United States dollars is considered to be
minimal. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge against its foreign currency risk. The Group mitigates this risk
by closely monitoring the movements in foreign exchange rates.

AEBIEREARTELLER  BX
BORZAHBEERRNEERET
RARETARBDHAELREE A& H
mEE eI ERBREZRBAET(ET])
(AThee B AN ER) FTENE TSR T
B

MR ETTEE LA  BLAK TR ENE
ERBEEHNIINERRBERSMAR
B BAKRELEERNINERR - NEE
WA BT AR T AR IMNE R o A
SEEBEYERIIEEREE HRESF
7 L B
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45,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with creditworthy third parties.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
financial assets included in cash and cash equivalents, arises from
default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 58% (2024: 54%) and 80% (2024:
92%) of the Group’s trade and retention receivables were due from
the Group’s largest debtor and the 5 largest debtors, respectively.

A detail analysis on the Group’s credit policy, and credit risk arising
from trade and retention receivables, deposits and other receivables,
loan receivables, contract assets, receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements are set out in Notes 24, 25,

26, 23(a), 18(b) and 18(c) respectively.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is
mainly based on past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and vyear-end staging
classification as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

45. M EMEEEHERKE (&)

EE
AEBTIBRHREFEBAENE=ZTETR
Z o BT Iﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁziflﬁ%%'ﬁﬁ

AEBEMEENERRARIY TEKX -

AEEEMEREE(BRAARERR
%%E%E’J%%ﬂ’é%)ﬁ’ﬂéﬁﬂ o =
FHEYD BREARENRZETANKE
TR e

R EHR AR A S E #58% (2024
F 54%)&80%(2024¢ 192% )& 5 &

WHRERERRES DR AREAEEN
E*j(&ﬁjiﬁﬂ‘k}\ EM*EJ—L 28— EH
SPRE-

FRAAKENEERRRE 5 ERFIEAR

EWRE e MEMERFR - B
EX ANEE BHRERLTERYR

HEAHNEEEENEERROFEMAD T
2 Bl & 7 M 5E24 - 25~ 26 ~ 23(a) * 18(b)
K 18(c) °

B K B B B SE R PE B

TRHENBEAEBEERR ZEEER
MEERBZEZARKR(EEXZREAT
AN (BRIFEBEMEFTBZRARIG
N ENAIE S 8 E R B E) R R202543 A4
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 March 2025

45. BEEEEEBERBE (£Z)
BEXEMBREEREE(Z)
F2025F3H31H

Lifetime ECLs

2YANEEBE

Simplified
approach

LR p7 “5t

Stage 1 Total
SE1PEER
HK$'000

F#&T

Stage 2
SB2PE B
HK$'000

FERT

Stage 3
SE3PE B
HK$'000

T#ET

HK$’'000
FET

HK$°000
FERT

Trade and retention E 5 fE W I8 K e R

receivables* IRE & * — — — 189,264 189,264
Receivables under service R S T HE R

concession arrangements* KRIE* — — — 61,344 61,344
Contract assets under service AFFFELELHE L

concession arrangements* BE* — — — 42,573 42,573
Financial assets included in ST AR S K H fih fE I

deposits and other RERESHEE

receivables
— Normal** — EEF** 56,681 — — — 56,681
— Doubtful** — AlRE — — 2,161 — 2,161
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEFEY
— Not yet past due — 18 K #80 Bf 115,170 — — — 115,170
Loan receivables FE U & R
— Not yet past due — 18 K #0 Bf 9,211 — 29,081 — 38,292

181,062 — 31,242 293,181 505,485
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

45. HHRGEEBERBIRK (&

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RXERRERKEE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 ¥22024%#3H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
121& A
BHEE
&5 18 > HITEHAEEEIE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FEER FMER FIEER B AE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FA T FAT FAT FA T
Trade and retention B 5 FE W I8 K FE
receivables* IRE & * — — — 125,618 125,618
Receivables under service R S T HE e
concession arrangements* I * — — — 62,822 62,822
Contract assets* EHEE — — — 55,253 55,253
Contract assets under service AFFFAELELTHE L
concession arrangements* BE* — — 42,703 42,703
Financial assets included in T AR S K H fih FEIL
deposits and other RERSHEE
receivables
— Normal** — I[EE** 176,512 — — — 176,512
— Doubtful** — AR — 2,182 — — 2,182
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY
— Not yet past due — 18K #0 Bf 37,321 — — — 37,321
Loan receivables FEUR B 3R
— Not yet past due — R E 39,967 — — — 39,967
253,800 2,182 — 286,396 542,378

* %

For trade and retention receivables, contract assets and receivables and
contract assets under service concession arrangements to which the Group
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in Notes 24, 23(a), 18(b) and 18(c), to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality
of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

* %

RAEEERABEETRETIENE S
BURRERERRES AHNEE  URE
TRERTEERBERBEBRENEEMS
ERBHEEENERD ARG E T BRE
Bt 5£24 - 23(a) ~ 18(b) R 18(c) % & °

ARAREREMERFIANSBMEESR
BHEEENBTRSREERS NI RERIMN
REERBRBEZN AEFEEREA
[EF] -BRE eMEENEEEARHER
[F]&E] ©



2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in
meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's
exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its
risk of a shortage of funds by considering the maturities of both its
financial liabilities and financial assets.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents to meet its liquidity requirements. The maturity profile of
the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as follows:

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025%3H31H I F/&

45.

MHEEREREERBE ()

& £ E BE
nBELRREAEERE D RERMNNE
THBEEREHRENRR AEEH
nBETRBREIRRECREERARE
EHREL - ARBEEEFAFEZETRHA
EREREENEENR ERHESRE
BRE R o

AEBWNEEEEBEARTREME
E O ARESTERAMEBEEL AN T
B ARBEEERBRARSRRSEFE
MAmEERBESR R RBSHK
AEENSRABERNE HRBRMNRE
EEHARSAMT :

2025

No fixed terms

of repayment/

Total on demand/
Carrying undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1year 1to5 years 5 years
RE=E
By
*ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ}lu ﬁ%*//
RES# BHEHE 1R 1ZE5%F WBIASE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHERT FTHER FERT FTHERT FTHER
Trade and retention payables EORNRERERGRES 195,493 195,493 173,582 21,911 -
Financial liabilities included in other FFAE b FE 5 308 K FE &t
payables and accruals ERMemAaRE 172,033 172,033 172,033 - -
Amounts due to related parties JE < B Bk 5 3R OE 206,460 210,223 - 210,223
Interest-bearing bank and other FERATREMEE
borrowings (note) (B &%) 232,799 256,615 97,376 127,566 31,673
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,563 3,715 3,715 — —
810,348 838,079 446,706 359,700 31,673
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AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

45. M ERERERERBR (£)

nEBELEME (&)

2024

No fixed terms

of repayment/

Total on demand/
Carrying  undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 years
EEE
BRm/
REBRE S RER/
RHEHE mERARE 1E R 1E5% B B5F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FET
Trade and retention payables EORNRERENRES 159,786 159,786 147,532 12,254 —
Financial liabilities included in other St A E i FE < R IE R B R
payables and accruals ERMeAR 75,518 75,518 75,518 — —
Amounts due to related parties FE A< B B 5 OB 164,891 170,535 — 170,535 —
Interest-bearing bank and other TERIT REAM
borrowings (note) & & (Bt 5%) 152,234 168,430 59,364 109,066 —
Bonds &% 37,761 38,535 38,535 — —
Lease liabilities HEEE 9,257 9,961 5,957 4,004 —
599,447 622,765 326,906 295,859
Note: Bt 5
Notwithstanding the above clause, the Directors did not believe that the loans A LMIEX  HEERA EZ%E*” ERFEE

would be called in their entirety within 12 months from the end of the reporting

period, and they considered that the loans would be repaid in accordance with the

maturity dates as set out in the loan agreements.

This evaluation was made

considering: the consolidated financial position of the Group at the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements; the lack of events of default;
and the fact that the Group had made all previously scheduled repayments on

time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contained a repayment on
demand clause, the maturity profile of those loans as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Xfﬁﬂflﬁﬁﬂ&%%{ﬁ%& B3R

TR 150 5 BT B (8 B HAER o EE%HEE%F IS
%%%mﬁﬂﬁ%#&i’%ﬁtﬁ BEERA MBI - B
FEENEHNRASEBEEEXNMAAIHE

=
A °

RAEE SRR

RBEHR ZRBAFREREEGXOERKE

| iy
R EZE

W

Within 1 year or

ERERALARBBENROEERR A

on demand 1 to 5 years Total

—ERFREKR —EhE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FHET

As at 31 March 2025 202543 A31H 34,690 20,006 54,696
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H 9,500 — 9,500




THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered
Name of company business share capital
MR BRTEE
AT & s R g B HEMiRE
New Twins Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1
Hong Kong
New Twins Enterprises Limited HBELZEHE &S (Ev
New Concepts Foundation Hong Kong HK$60,510,000
Limited
BIEMEFRAR &8 60,510,000/ 7T
Dynamic Premier Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$50,000
Hong Kong
Dynamic Premier Limited KBRZES /BB 50,0003 7T
Ultra Premier Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$50,000
Hong Kong
Ultra Premier Limited KBRS /B 50,0003 7T
Hefei Plant® PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000
AEEB M hE B A 30,000,000% 7T
Tianjin Yisheng” PRC/Mainland China RMB208,347,000
REEHAO B B A ARE

Xuancheng Plant®
EMERO

Yixing Plant”

BRIEAO

Dunhua Plant®
FLBEE®

Guoyang Plant®

RBEBY

PRC/Mainland China
B B A

PRC/Mainland China

BB A

PRC/Mainland China
B B A

PRC/Mainland China
B B A

208,347,0007T

RMB60,000,000
A E%60,000,0007C

US$30,000,000

30,000,000 7T

US$7,720,000
7,720,0003 7T

RMB11,000,000
AE#11,000,0007T

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 46. A AT T EM B AT TS

WIS RN BARFEMT -

Percentage of equity
attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

EBRAATH
BaESH TEEH
2025 2024
% %
100 100 Investment holding
REZER
100 100  Provision of foundation works
and general building work
REMETER—REFIRE
100 100 Investment holding
REER
100 100 Investment holding
REER
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
ZENREE
100 100 Provision of environmental
improvement solutions
RERBHEIR
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
ZENREE
100 100 Development and management
of environment protection
industrial park
EREEERRIER
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
ZENREE
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment

B R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 46. A AT T EM B AT TS

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Issued ordinary/

registration and registered
Name of company business share capital

23113730974 BETEE
AT EH R g B HMEEE
Shenzhen Huamingsheng PRC/Mainland China RMB68,600,000
RN B 5O RERER  ARE68,600,0007T
Hanzhong Plant® PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000
EHIEAO RERERN  AR%40,000,0007T
Hancheng Plant™ PRC/Mainland China RMB11,760,000
BWIEBO H Bl B i AR¥11,760,0007T
Prime World Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
HABRAE N 10,0007 7T
United Swift Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
United Swift Limited B 10,0007 7T
Shanxi Plant(® PRC/Mainland China RMB1,100,000
WEEE BB A AR H#1,100,0007T

Notes:

(1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under
PRC law.

(2) The Group acquired the remaining shares from a non-controlling shareholder;
thus, the partly owned subsidiary becomes wholly-owned subsidiary during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

Except for New Twins Enterprises Limited and Ultra Premier Limited,
the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

(&)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company Principal activities
BEERAATH
EZESHl ETEEH
2025 2024

% %

51 51  Production and sales of
graphite-based related anode
materials

SERHEEABEEBEEM
#
80 80  Kitchen waste treatment
BRI IR
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
BRNRER
100 100  Group administrative functions
SETHBE
100 100  Group administrative functions
SETTH A
100 —  Diseased livestock and poultry
treatment
100 — RAEBRRE
B 5

EHMBARRETEZEZEMANED

) AEE B — B ZERBRRAE R R KA
E bt - R & E2024F3A8318 IEFE - HH
BEMBARER2EHAMBRRF -

BrNew Twins Enterprises Limited & Ultra
Premier Limitedsh - Eiltfi @B A Bl AA
AR °

E=ZRB LRAINARAFAMBARE
AFEBFRNREIBRARBEFEENT
20 EERAR/REHEMCHBRFNF
B @8 ENITE-

BMEMNBRARRFERBTEMNEBIES -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. AASMNBHBEIK AT

COMPANY
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FE T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHEE AR MKRE 390 390
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFRIE - 1RE KA fth e
W k18 191 197
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI 418,267 418,831
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEY 108 2,479
418,566 421,507
Current liabilities HENE (&
Other payables and accruals HibERNREREER 58,074 3,539
Amounts due to subsidiaries RTINS 65,989 66,844
Bonds BH — 37,761
124,063 108,144
Net current assets RBEEFE 294,503 313,363
NET ASSETS FEE 294,893 313,753
EQUITY B
Share capital fi& 7 160,613 160,613
Reserves (note) R A EED) 134,280 153,140
TOTAL EQUITY i 294,893 313,753

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025

and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhu Yongjun
KREE

Chairman and Executive Director

IFERATES

Pan Yimin

EBHR

Executive Director

HITES

KA A B AR R E = E 2 R2025F6 8
30R#ERIRETE  WRETHEEREK

BE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # ZE2025%3H31H i F/Z

N

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

=

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

47. KATWMBRRAR (&)

Note: Bt &
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: KARFEEREEWNT :
Share Share  Convention
premium Merger option option  Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses Total
% 53 it {6 EHtEE  EREMRE BRREHE L5 ] @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
At 1 April 2023 202348108 717,955 13,995 7,068 624 (591,758) 147,884
Loss for the year and total FRNEERFANEE
comprehensive expense HX 4
for the year — — — — (41,870) (41,870)
Issue of shares BITRG 24,512 — — — — 24,512
Issue of equity-settled BITABRAEEE
share options fE ik = = 9,988 = = 9,988
Lapse of share options AR R — — (368) — 368 —
Equity component of FRNEETARRES
convertible bonds issued Eolr Eat=ia)
during the year — — — 18,386 — 18,386
Redemption of convertible fE 5] A] 32 % (B 5
bonds — — — (9,193) — (9,193)
Debt conversion rights IEERERE
exercised 9,912 — — (9,817) — 95
Issue of share upon exercise  {T{F B RAER AT
of shares options B 1 5,519 — (2,181) — — 3,338
At 31 March 2024 and M202453A318 Kk
1 April 2024 2024%F4A1H 757,898 13,995 14,507 — (633,260) 153,140
Loss for the year and total FREBERFAZER
comprehensive expense X 4E%E
for the year — — — — (21,628) (21,628)
Lapse of share options S IR 4 2k — — (4,408) — 4,408 —
Forfeited of share options 8 U AR — — (5,530) — 5,530 —
Recognition of equity-settled  HER A 2 &5 E MR 15
share based payment BEBROMNRAX
expenses — — 2,768 — — 2,768
At 31 March 2025 12025437318 757,898 13,995 7,337 — (644,950) 134,280

48. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

48. TEFHERX 5

B E2024F3A31B IEFE - AR A #E T
—HUEREMIERLERESATIFEE
MEZIFRERH - HiHE  BEERAE
IR & W25 e A A R #48,179,0007T (HHE R
52,946,000/ 7T) + 7F 15 8 5 BE X7 (i) ©

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there is a major non-cash
transaction which is the contribution of patented technologies to an
associate as capital contribution. After the elimination, the non-cash
gain recognised should be RMB48,179,000 (equivalent to
HK$52,946,000), details of which are set out in Note 7(ii).



49.

50.

2025 FH AIEKEBE(ER)ERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, for enhancing the relevance
of the presentation of the consolidated financial statements,
reclassification have been made to certain comparative figures
presented in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the
prior year to achieve comparability with the current vyear’s
presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

AR e MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025%F3H31H 1F F/Z

49.

50.

P& 8=

RE E2025F3A31BLFER BiRm
REMBREREINMABIE  EHEEY
BHREZINETHREFELRHETET
ENOB UEEAAFEMNZY] 5N ET
LE#R o

it B RS ER IR
FEAMBHMRN2025F6 30 KEEE S
HEfE T iR RE T B o
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T FEHBERE

Year ended 31 March
wE E3A31B tFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#&x F& T F& T FET FET

RESULTS ES

Revenue WA 929,235 628,236 545,189 654,851 591,523

(Loss) profit before tax BE AT (B518) i Fl (92,710) 31,784 (14,706) 29,169 (66,845)

Income tax credit (expense)  FT1EH K % (5 %) 2,875 277 (4,016) (12,084) 3,240

(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)mF (89,835) 32,061 (18,722) 17,085 (63,605)

(Loss) profit for the year FRN(EER)=A S

attributable to: B :

— Owners of the Company — AAQAREA A (80,707) 2,863 (20,797) 5,504 (54,998)

— Non-controlling interests  — JE#ZE B #E 25 (9,128) 29,198 2,075 11,581 (8,607)
(89,835) 32,061 (18,722) 17,085 (63,605)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets BERBE 1,211,588 1,104,069 1,032,996 812,604 1,083,365

Total liabilities BERTE (833,933) (637,590) (626,992) (573,159) (947,700)

Net assets BEFE 377,655 466,479 406,004 239,445 135,665

Equity attributable to: EmFmER

— Owners of the Company — ARQAHEAE A 319,767 399,251 359,377 191,040 100,477

— Non-controlling interests — — FEZAR 4 &5 57,888 67,228 46,627 48,405 35,188
377,655 466,479 406,004 239,445 135,665
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